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CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT
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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of China New City Commercial Development Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Group”), |
am pleased to present the results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016 (“the year under review”).

REVIEW OF RESULTS

For the year under review, revenue of the Group was approximately
RMB858,371,000, representing an increase of approximately 70.3%
from the year of 2015. Gross profit was approximately RMB324,991,000,
representing an increase of approximately 81.1% as compared to the
year of 2015. Gross profit margin was 37.9%, representing an increase
of 2.3 percentage points as compared to that in 2015. Profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company was approximately RMB147,042,000,
representing a decrease of 80.1% when compared with the year of
2015, while earnings per share amounted to approximately RMB8 cents,
decreased by 81.4% over the year of 2015. The board (“Board”) of
directors (“Directors”) of the Company does not recommend the payment
of final dividend for the year under review (2015: nil).
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MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2016, the real estate market of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
ushered a sharp rise due to the situation of destocking. The robust
atmosphere spanned from the first-tier cities to the second-tier and even
reached part of the third-tier cities. The picking up of real estate market
drove up the land prices vigorously, including those domestic real estate
data such as commodity housing sales area and sales amounts with
record peaks. Since the fourth quarter, with the promulgation of regulatory
policies, the real estate market in China was cooling down gradually.

The Group is a commercial property developer and operator committed
to developing integrated commercial complexes in sub-city centers
of second-tier cities in the Yangtze River Delta region. It anticipates
expanding its business into the land development sector in different towns
and counties in PRC in future as well as the respective new urbanization
services. The Group follows the integrated business model of selling and
leasing property, strategically decentralizing its income source and return

period.

1. Property Sales

The serviced apartments of the International Office Center (“IOC”) (Plot
A3) created successive satisfactory sales results and continued to be the
major driver to drive up the property sales income significantly. The project
is adjacent to the venue of 2016 Group of Twenty (G20) Summit and the
stadium of Hangzhou Olympic and International Expo Center, in which
the latter will host the 2020 Asian Games, with Qianjiang New Town,
the political and cultural center in Hangzhou, just across the river. Thus,
it is warmly welcomed by the market due to its favorable geographical
location. The Company intends to develop Plot A2 this year to assure the
steady development of property sales income.
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2. Property Leasing

Currently, the principal property leasing income of the Group is derived
from Highlong Plaza, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou. In order to consolidate
its local influence, the shopping mall portion of the project commenced its
assets optimisation programs and commercial portfolio restructuring since
April 2016. The occupancy rate of Highlong Plaza reached over 97% after
its renovation. It also increased more shop merchant ratio for children,
catering and living services with differentiation and experience. The
Company expects the Zhong An Yin Tai Cheng project, located in Yuyao,
Ningbo, will also be launched in the second half year and is expected
contribute revenue to property leasing segment.

3. Hotel Operations

The hotel Holiday Inn Hangzhou Xiaoshan operated well during the year
under review. Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel and Huaibei Bright Hotel
will also open one after another in the first half of this year, and will be
managed and operated under our self-owned brand “Bright”. The two
high-end hotel projects can provide approximately 500 leasable guest
rooms in total. It is expected that the Group will benefit from the obvious
growth in terms of the number of leasable hotel rooms.

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK AND
DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES

Looking ahead into 2017, we believe the government will continue
to introduce different policies in different cities. It is expected that
government of the first-tier and second-tier cities will further increase their
regulations in real estate market to restrict investments and speculative
demand; while third-tier and fourth-tier cities will endeavor destocking.
The main development segment of the Group is at the Yangtze River Delta
region that has strong economic fundamentals and benefited from the
continuous population and resources inflow for a long period of time. After
over a year of destocking, currently, the stock-to-sales ratio in core cities
has hit a record low. It is believed that the real estate market will maintain
a stable upward trend in the coming year.

Upon its listing of shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
the Group is at its construction stage due to its main projects. In 2017,
the Company will be in its harvest period due to the completion of more
properties. The launch of several main projects such as Zhong An Times
Square, Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel and Huaibei Bright
Hotel will significantly increase our leasable area and the number of
leasable guest rooms of the entire property portfolio, providing stable cash
flow support to the Group in the long run.
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The International Office Center project is still the major development
project of the Group. Benefiting from favorable policies, Qianjiang
Century City where the project located is under fast construction and
development. Hangzhou Olympic Sports Stadium, adjacent to the 10C
project, will host international major sports events such as the 2020 Asian
Games in future. Benefiting from its strategic layout and cheap cost of
land that the Group had acquired in early years, the I0C project enjoys
absolute geographical advantage and development potential in this
segment. The Company intends to develop Plot A2 of IOC this year to
create sustainable impetus to property sales.

The Group plans to start the development of Jiangcun Plot this year.
Jiangcun Plot is located in Xihu District, Hangzhou, and is in close
proximity to Xixi Wetland. The project is scheduled to construct an
integrated commercial complex comprising serviced apartments, office
puildings and shops. The Group plans to explore more lands with low
price but high potential in 2017 through mergers and acquisitions.

For new businesses, the Group will continue to explore and gradually
achieve the development strategy of transforming into the asset
management and operation-based, actively facing the development
opportunities brought by the urbanization in the PRC, promoting
and deepening industry internetization, and developing diversified
new property projects. While controlling the stable development of
the existing investment size of commercial complexes effectively, the
Group will actively develop emerging industries such as leisure tourism,
healthcare services, cultural and entertainment and modern agriculture.
The Company will also adhere firmly to its prudent financial strategies,
enhance corporate governance transparency, seek satisfactory and
continuous returns for the shareholders of the Company.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

At last, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to the continuing support and trust of the shareholders of the Company
and business partners as well as the dedicated efforts of all the staff of the
Group.

Shi Kancheng
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 27 March 2017
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

SSCYES

As at 31 December 2016 72016512 A31H

Percentage
of interest
Existing use at GFA attributable to Lease term
Address 31 December 2016 (sq. m.) the Group of land
20165 EEEE rEBEENG
3 12A31BMHREAZ (£75XK) BENEIL THRMBEIHR
1. Basement 1 to Level 15, Guomao Building, Shops and portion 12,225 81% Medium (Note)
No. 93 Shixin Road, Chengxiang Town, of it is vacant,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, and serviced
Zhejiang Province, the PRC apartments
R BT A& L T R LU & 3 R R T 0 BR 935 BTN EE R HE (PR EE)
HEREIBE1EEE15E RBARE
2. A retail shop unit on L1, Shanghai La Vie, Shop 341 90% Medium
No. 433 Chang Le Road, Xuhui District,
Shanghai, the PRC
H B TR B & R 443K 4335% B &
FERLTEIEM1EEH
3. Portion of Level 1, Shops and portion of 5,913 90% Medium
the whole of Level 2 to Level 4, it is vacant
Integrated Service Center,
East Xiaoran Road and Jinjiagiao Road,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
FEMIEMNTRLUERAREREREE HENDHE &
FARBROEIBHANE2EELE
4. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 5 Shops and portion of 60,014 90% Medium
in Block 2 to Block 5 of Highlong Plaza, it is vacant
Shanyin Road and Gongren Road,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
REGT AN TR LR LR T AR R H Ef
BERSEREERZE1ZFOBNHR
5. Office units in Block 2 of Highlong Plaza, Office and portion of 24,491 90% Medium
Shanyin Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, it is vacant
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
BT A N T R LU L R B MREMLHEE i H

Bl B FE2R 2 M RNBEN
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

BEWE

As at 31 December 2016 72016512 A31H

Percentage
of interest
Existing use at GFA attributable to Lease term
Address 31 December 2016 (sq. m.) the Group of land
20165 BEHE rEBEENG
e 3 12A31BMREAE (£5XK) BENEIL THMBELIHR
6. Serviced apartment units Serviced apartments 21,094 90% Medium
in Block 3 and 4 of Highlong Plaza,
Shanyin Road and Gongren Road,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
BT T A N T AR L [ L R R A A BR REALE i H
EfEBHEMRRFIR 2 RBEALE
7. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Shops and portion of 10,154 90% Medium
Level 2 (Phase 1) and the whole block of it is vacant
No.43 commercial building (Phase 2),
Landscape Garden, Shushan Road and
Panshui Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
BT T A& N T ER L [ & L BE R K BR [EE R &
KB E1REN1EE2E I &
FOH IR AZ
8. Retail shop units of Hidden Dragon Bay, Shops and portion of 24,211 92.5% Medium
Wenxing Village, Wenyan Town Xiaoshan it is vacant
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
FENIARMT R LR EHNBOEE i H
BB AR E R EEEE
9. Blocks 1, 2, 3, 4, and 6 of Serviced apartments, 148,956 100% Medium
Hangzhou International Office Centre, shops and portion of
Ningwei Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, it is vacant
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
FEANI AN TR LR MRBA RS BHA i Ef
EEEMMBEBREHAHFOT 23 4R61K iz E
Total &5+ 307,399

Note:

Medium is defined as the term of land use rights granted remaining unexpired at

the end of the financial year is less than 50 years but not less than 10 years.

Bist: HHIEE RN U BFERE  BH T T AR E
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R AR TR

R
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MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND/OR SALE
PRl e I sl B i R

% of interest

Actual/Expected completion attributable to
Project City/District Location Project Type dates the Group
EREES
HEER i,/ B L EHEH MERUME BB/ RIRIAS BENEIL
Zhejiang Province
MIE
1 Hidden Dragon Bay Xiaoshan, Hangzhou Centre of new district in Tier 2 city Retail/office April 2013 92.5%
e /& ZigA A O B/ g 2013547
2 Phase A, International Office  Xiaoshan, Hangzhou Tier 2 city with high growth potential Commercial Plot A3 was completed in 2015 100%
Centre Plots A1 and A2 to be determined
A AR OAS M/ Eil “ERER EES ASEIR2015%5 % T
AR AR
3 Phase B & C, International Xiaoshan, Hangzhou Tier 2 city with high growth potential Commercial To be determined 100%
Office Centre
BB A 0BCE M/l —RRER BE fE
4 Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Qiandao Lake, Hangzhou  Tier 2 city with high growth potential Hotel Early 2017 100%
Bright Resort Hotel
IMTEREHREEREE N/ T&H —REER BIE 201754)
5 Chaoyang Yinzuo Xiaoshan, Hangzhou Town centre of Tier 2 city Retail End of 2017 90%
HERE M/l —REER O EE] 2017FE
6 Jiangeun Westlake District, Town centre of Tier 2 city Office/commercial To be determined 100%
Hangzhou
Eanpiibe MR E ZHEERD nrgmE fE

Subtotal for Hangzhou
BN

China New City Commercial Development Limited

2016 Annual Report



MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND/OR SALE

Y (B9 Y Y R R R LY S

Land Bank (sq. m.)

LB (FK)
Development Phases
REMER
Site Area Project Total GFA* Under Held for future
(sq. m.) GFA* Address (sq. m.) Completed development @ development ©
BEEE B HEEEE
(F7*K) BEREER ik (FHK) ®I pE e HERRARO
89,173 241,695 Wenxing Road, Wenyan Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, 132,545 132,545
Zhejiang Province
T TN T 38 1L 2 ) A S L
92,610 798,795 Qianjiang Century Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, 725,933 255,134 470,799
Zhejiang Province
HOTATMN LRSI 25
207,390 1,098,065 Qianjiang Century Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, 1,098,065 1,098,065
Zhejiang Province
HOT BN T LR BTt 45
119,398 46,691  Southwest of Qiandaohu Town, Chunan, Hangzhou, 46,691 46,691
Zhejiang Province
IBEMMNTEZ TR ERER
10,641 53,033 Shushan Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, 53,033 53,033
Zhejiang Province
IAMMTELES L EE
39,703 59,565  Jiangeun unit, Westlake District, Hangzhou, Hangzhou, 59,565 59,555
Zhejiang Province
T AN AR E BN
2,297,834 2,115,822 387,679 99,724 1,628,419

*ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%%@ﬁﬁ’ﬁ



12

MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND/OR SALE
FRAR R S S B Y B R

% of interest

Actual/Expected completion attributable to
Project City/District Location Project Type dates the Group
AEEES
HEER Wi/ B LELR MERUME BB/ RIRIAS BENEIL
Zhong An Times Square Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier 2 city Commercial/hotel 2017 90%
(Phase I)
FREERES—H B Rk ZHEEER O BE/BE 2017
Zhong An Times Square Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier 2 city Office/hotel June 2016 93%
(Phase Il)
RLHRES 8 B/ Rk ZHEHERD WAg/BE 201656
Cixi Ningbo Land Cixi, Ningbo Tier 2 city with high growth potential Office/commercial To be determined 90%
TRREMR B/ #Z —EEER EUN: V4 H #E
Subtotal for Ningbo
RO
Subtotal for Zhejiang
WL
Anhui Province
Bright Hotel Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new district in Tier 3 city Hotel 2017 100.0%
RSB E ZH/ L ZHAHA D BB 2017

Subtotal for Anhui
RE DG

including those with land use right and contractual interests

including those with construction being completed but not sold and delivered
Total GFA = (1) + (2) + (3)

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report
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MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND/OR SALE
FEAR R S SR B Y B R

Land Bank (sq. m.)

iR (FEXK)
Development Phases
BB R
Site Area Project Total GFA* Under Held for future
(sg. m.) GFA* Address (sq. m.) Completed development @ development @
BEEE HH BEREEE
(F5XK) AREEE it (FHK) BT pE e HERRERO
65,159 305,473  Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 305,473 305,473
HOT A Rk I
71,519 322,912 Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 255,950 255,950
L& R R R 05
49,804 159,510 Longshan New Town, Binghai District, Cidong, Cixi, 159,510 159,510
Zhejiang Province
I B RERRBERE LI
787,895 720,933 255,950 305,473 159,510
3,085,729 2,836,755 643,629 405,197 1,787,929
60,768 67,061 Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 67,061 67,061
ZHEELTRUEARE
67,061 67,061 67,061
3,152,790* 2,903,816 643,629* 472,258 1,787,929

¢ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%§@ﬁm’ﬁ
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B B i B2 A

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2016, the property sector policies in the People’s Republic of China
were eased in the beginning of year and gradually tightened throughout
the year. Under the guidance policy of destocking unsold homes, property
prices and land values went up quickly in popular cities, and market
transactions for the whole year also hit record high. With the regulating
policies issued by local governments in the fourth quarter, market trends
gradually stabilized.

Looking ahead into 2017, the regulating policies in popular cities will
further tightened, while under current situation of low inventory, property
price is expected to remain stable. By benefiting from different cities
introducing different policies, the supply and demand in third-tier and
forth-tier cities will further improve.

DEVELOPMENT OF MAJOR PROJECTS
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province

Highlong Plaza

It is a large-scale integrated commercial complex located in Shanyin
Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, comprising a hotel, shopping malls
and offices, and is the flagship project of the Company. The total site
area of the project is 30,933 sg. m. and total GFA is 171,071 sg. m. The
project was completed in January 2009.

International Office Center

IOC is a large-scale integrated commercial complex located in Qianjiang
Century City (8Tt 433% ) , Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, comprising
serviced apartments, shopping malls, a hotel and offices. The total site
area of Plot A is 92,610 sg. m. and planned total GFA is 798,795 sqg. m..
The project is in three phases, consists of Plots A1, A2 and A3. Among
which, Plot A3 was completed in 2015, comprising serviced apartments,
shops and underground car parking spaces with a total GFA of
approximately 327,996 sqg. m.. It is expected that Plot A2 will commence
in 2017.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Jiangcun Parcel

It is located in Jiangcun Unit, Xihu District, Hangzhou and is in proximity to
Xixi Wetland. The total site area of the project is 39,703 sqg. m. and total
GFA is 59,555 sg. m. The project is expected to commence construction
in 2017, which will become an integrated commercial complex comprising
offices, serviced apartments and shops.

Chaoyang Ginza

It is the commercial portion of the Chaoyang community parcel, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou with a total site area of 10,541 sg. m. and total GFA
of 53,033 sg. m. The project mainly includes serviced apartments and
shops, and pre-sale was commenced in 2016. It is expected to complete
by the end of 2017.

B P i B 43 A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B g B4 A

Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel

It is a hotel project located in the southwest of Qiandaohu Town ( T &
S##8 ) , Chunan County, Hangzhou, with total GFA of 46,691 sg. m. The
hotel is built adjacent to Thousand-Islet Lake Passengers Port which
enjoys a beautiful lake view and natural habitat. This project is expected to
commence business in the first half of 2017.

-MDAOHU g

Yuyao, Zhejiang province
Zhong An Times Square

It is a large-scale integrated commercial project located in Yuyao,
Zhejiang province with estimated total GFA of 628,385 sg. m.. The
development of project is completed by two phases, comprising a hotel,
shops, residences, serviced apartments, shopping malls and offices.
The construction of phase Il of this project was completed in 2016, and
phase | is expected to complete in 2017. All net economic benefits arising
from the pre-sale or sale of the residential apartments in Phase Il (“Times
Square Residential Portion”) shall belong to a connected person (as
defined under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)) of the Group according to the Cooperation
Agreement entered into between such connected person and the Group
(through its indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary) on 16 March 2014.
Details of the Cooperation Agreement were disclosed in the prospectus
(“Prospectus”) of the Company dated 17 June 2014 under the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transaction”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Huaibei, Anhui Province

Bright Hotel

It is a hotel project in Huaibei, Anhui province, with a site area of 60,768
sg. m.. and total GFA of 67,061 sg. m.. This project is expected to
complete and commence business in 2017.

Sales Review

For the year under review, the recognized sales of properties (sold and
delivered) was approximately RMB769,893,000 (2015: approximately
RMB397,637,000). The recognized sales area of properties was
approximately 52,612 sg. m. and the recognized average sales price was
approximately RMB14,633 per sg. m..

B P i B 43 A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o B B3 A

2016 Contracted sales

For the year under review, the contracted sales area of the Group was
approximately 87,225 sq. m. (2015: approximately 68,759 sg. m.),
contracted sales revenue was approximately RMB1,187,000,000 (2015:
approximately RMB746,000,000), details of the contracted sales of the

2016 FEMERHE

REBEFEN AEENERBEERN A
87,225 5 2K (20154 : 49 568,759F /K) - &
B $8 & W A 49 & A R #1,187,000,0007T (2015
& ARB746,000,0000T) - EB2IBE A FH

major projects are as below: EFBENT:
Contracted Contracted
sales area sales revenue
EREBEEE ERBEEKRA
(sg. m.) (RMB million)
(F7K) (AR®BE&T)

Zhejiang Province WTE

Hidden Dragon Bay PEaEE 183 3
Jia Run Mansion E VN 57,192 813
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square RUBLHRES 24,849 242
Chaoyang Yinzuo 55 0 i 5176 52
Serviced apartment units of Highlong Plaza BREES-BEXAE 5,826 76
Total st 87,225 1,187
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It is expected that the GFA available of major projects for sale or lease or
operation in 2017 is approximately 635,906 sqg. m., with details as below:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B e B0 A

JEETR201 7 At N E S &E 2 F EIHE
EEAEE L) A635,906F kK BT

GFA available
for sale/lease/
operation Usage
AftHE
HE &8
B SR S AE
(sa. m.)
(FFK)
Hangzhou, Zhejiang province International Office 139,681 For sale/leasing
Center Plot A3
AL TN B B 4 8 FR D ABHE BB HE e
Hidden Dragon Bay 121,169 For sale/leasing
B HE HE
Highlong Plaza 99,773 For sale/leasing
BEE%S HEHE
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake 46,691 For operation
Run Zhou Resort Hotel
MNFERERBE g8
Chaoyang Yinzuo 47,857 For sale
ARG IR He
Yuyao, Zhejiang province Yuyao Zhong An Times Square 113,674 For sale
LB R RIRLHRES &
Huaibei, Anhui province Bright Hotel 67,061 For operation
AT BI RS m
Total 425t 635,906

Eiﬂl%ﬁf/njzmﬁ%?*l:ﬁ A

RRAA]
—E-AEFER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B e B3 A

Hotel Operation

Holiday Inn Hangzhou Xiaoshan of the Group is adjacent to Highlong
Plaza in Xiaoshan district, Hangzhou, Zhejiang province. The
hotel operation of the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
RMB46,749,000 (2015: approximately RMB48,107,000) during the year
under review and the hotel occupancy rate was approximately 58%
(2015: approximately 55%).

Leasing Business

The current leasing income of the Group mainly comes from Highlong
Plaza. The plaza comprises offices, a shopping mall, three hotels,
serviced apartments and underground parking spaces. The total revenue
from leasing business for the year under review was approximately
RMB58,087,000, representing a decrease of about 34.0% from
approximately RMB88,018,000 recorded in the year of 2015. The average
occupancy rate of leasing properties was approximately 79% (2015:
approximately 75%).

Land Reserve

As at 31 December 2016, the property development projects owned
by the Group included 7 completed projects and units in 2 completed
buildings, 4 projects under development, 4 projects held for future
development and 2 projects contracted to be acquired. The total GFA of
land reserves of the Group was approximately 2,900,000 sqg. m..

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
Revenue

Consolidated revenue of the Group was approximately RMB858,371,000
for the year under review, representing an increase of 70.3% as compared
to the revenue of approximately RMB503,986,000 for the year of
2015. This was mainly due to the increase in the revenue from sales of
properties.

For the year under review, the revenue from sales of properties amounted
to approximately RMB769,893,000, representing an increase of 93.6%
from approximately RMB397,637,000 for the year of 2015. The increase
was primarily due to the increase in the recognition of sales of properties
delivered during the year under review, which was mainly revenue from
sale of properties from the Jia Run Mansion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The revenue from property leasing recorded a decrease of 34.0% to
approximately RMB58,087,000 during the year under review (2015:
approximately RMB88,018,000). The revenue from hotel operation was
approximately RMB46,749,000 during the year under review, representing
a decrease of approximately 2.8% as compared to previous year of
approximately RMB48,107,000. Such decrease was due to the periodic
tenants and trade adjustments carried out by the Group during the year
under review.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit of the Group for the year under review amounted
to approximately RMB324,991,000, representing an increase of
approximately 81.1% when compared to approximately RMB179,444,000
for the year of 2015. This was mainly due to the increase in revenue from
sales of properties.

Gross profit margin for the year under review was approximately 37.86%
(2015: approximately 35.60%). The increase was mainly due to the
improvement in gross profit margin from the sales of properties.

Other Income and Gains

During the year under review, other income and gains amounted to
approximately RMB16,832,000 (2015: approximately RMB:256,899,000),
lower as compared with last year. This was mainly due to other interest
income of approximately RMB115,633,000 from interest-bearing loans to
a joint venture and the gain on disposal of the interest in a joint venture of
approximately RMB125,954,000 which contributed one-off net gain for
2015 result.

Selling and Distribution Costs

For the year under review, selling and distribution expenses amounted to
approximately RMB80,142,000 (2015: approximately RMB55,176,000),
representing an increase of 45.3% as compared to that from last year.
Such increase was principally due to an increase in advertising and
promotional expenses of the Jia Run Mansion during the year under
review.

B i B0 A

REBEFEN  MERERARD34.0%ELA
R #58,087,0007T (20154 : 49 A R #88,018,000
) REBEFERNBEEERANRARE
46,749,0007T - B XK F B 41 & A K #48,107,000
fuﬁd\z 8% ° WA TR AN EBEEBEFE A
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REBREBBEFEANENHAARE
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TCIEINAI81.1% T E RN EHE WAL -

[0l B8 F & N B B F K 49 /337.86% (201565 - K945
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
o B B3 A

Administrative Expenses

For the year under review, administrative expenses amounted to
approximately RMB107,503,000 (2015: approximately RMB109,165,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 1.5% from last year.

Finance Costs

For the year under review, finance costs was approximately
RMB2,218,000 (2015: approximately RMB19,602,000), representing
a decrease of approximately 88.7% from last year, due the reduce of
borrowings for the year under review, which arising from the interest on
bank loans and other borrowings for completed properties held for sale
which could no longer be capitalized.

Earnings

For the year under review, the profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company amounted to approximately RMB147,042,000
(2015: approximately RMB740,337,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 80.1% compared to last year. The decrease in profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year under review
was primarily attributable to the fact that (i) other interest income of
approximately RMB115,633,000 from interest-bearing loans to a joint
venture in last year; (i) the gain on disposal of 50% of the entire equity
interest in a joint venture for approximately RMB125,954,000 in last
year; and (jii) fair value gain upon transfer to investment properties of
approximately RMB796,581,000 in last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the year under review, there was no material acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

Cash Position and Fund Available

As at 31 December 2016, the total cash and bank balances of the
Group were approximately RMB462,797,000 (2015: approximately
RMB1,088,532,000), comprising cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB298,308,000 (2015: approximately RMB947,638,000)
and restricted cash of approximately RMB164,489,000 (2015:
approximately RMB140,894,000).

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s available financial resources
amounted to approximately RMB15.6 billion and the undrawn borrowing
facilities were approximately RMB12.2 billion.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s bank and other borrowings
amounted to approximately RMB3,300,609,000 (2015: approximately
RMB3,759,134,000), comprising bank loans of approximately
RMB3,000,609,000 (2015: approximately RMB2,465,134,000) and
other loans of approximately RMB300,000,000 (2015: approximately
RMB1,294,000,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o B B3 A

The maturity profile of borrowings were as follows:

BRERIHBEREHRIIMT

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2016 2015

H20164 20154

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT T

Within 1 year or on demand —FARIZERK 1,104,000 707,472
Over 1 year but within 2 years ZR—FEIRME 989,609 1,438,245
Over 2 years but within 5 years ZRMEERLIRAESE 757,000 1,133,417
Over 5 years AFELE 450,000 480,000
3,300,609 3,759,134

For bank and other borrowings, except for certain short term bank
and other borrowings amounting to RMB770,000,000 (2015:
RMB1,664,000,000) that bear interest at fixed rates, all bank loans bear
interest at floating rates . The Group’s bank and other borrowings bear
effective interest at rates ranging from 2.11% to 12.00% per annum as at
31 December 2016 (2015: 2.02% to 12.00% per annum). The Group’s
objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and
flexibility through the use of bank and other borrowings.

Pledge of Assets
"As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s bank borrowings of approximately

RMB3,250,609,000 (2015: approximately RMB3,709,134,000) were
secured by the Group’s pledge of assets as follows:

MIBTERRHEMET BETRETHERAS
Z R HSRITE S E A A R 770,000,000
7t (20154 : AR #51,664,000,0007T) * FTERTT
BRI F B R B - AEEN2016F12A31H
HIRTEREEMEREN F2.11%212.00%
(20154 : 2.02%E12.00% ) (N ER FF| K5+ 8 -
REFHEEZLERRITERREMEZUORER
BB EMEEEE ZHN T

EEEHA
R2016F12A31H  AEBIETERDAEA

R #3,250,609,0007T (2015F : 9 & AR ¥
3,709,134,0007T) A AN R E A N EEHEEA -

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2016 2015

120165 20154

12A831H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARET T

Investment properties REME 2,355,739 3,692,270

Properties under development FAEE Y 1,673,772 1,037,399

Completed properties held for sale BEHEE B I 893,109 421,466

Property, plant and equipment W WE k&G 128,816 139,339

Restricted cash HREIRE 117,231 90,040
100% equity interest in a subsidiary AEBEZET—HFRAEIZ

of the Group 100%% # - 6,000

5,168,667 5,386,514
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Net Current Assets and Current Ratio

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s net current assets amounted to
approximately RMB250,528,000 (2015: approximately RMB776,906,000).
As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s current ratio, calculated as current
assets divided by current liabilities, was approximately 1.09 (2015:
approximately 1.37).

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s gearing ratio (as measured by net
debt to total equity) was 53.1% (2015: 51.2%). Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings less cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash.

Cost of borrowings

For the year under review, the total cost of borrowings of the Group was
approximately RMB253,749,000 (2015: approximately RMB320,546,000),
representing a decrease of approximately RMB66,797,000 (20.8%) when
compared with the year of 2015. In addition, for the year under review,
interests with an amount of approximately RMB251,531,000 (2015:
approximately RMB300,944,000) were capitalized. The decrease was
mainly attributable to lower average balance of borrowings.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group principally operates in PRC and the revenue, operating cost
and borrowings were mainly denominated in RMB. As a result, the Group
has minimal exposure to exchange rate fluctuation. The interest rates for
the Group’s borrowings were floating and fixed. Upward fluctuations in
interest rates will increase the cost of borrowings.

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. Cash is generally placed in short-term deposits mostly
denominated in RMB. The Group does not use any financial instruments
for hedging purpose for the year under review.

GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s contingent liabilities was
approximately RMB314,227,000 (2015: approximately RMB230,071,000),
which were mainly the guarantees provided by the Group in favour
of certain banks for the grant of mortgage loans to purchasers of the
Group’s properties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
o B B3 A

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s commitments for property
development expenditures amounted to approximately RMB478,185,000
(2015: approximately RMB803,335,000). It is expected that the Group will
finance such commitments from its own funds and loans.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2016, the Group employed 793 staff (2015: 678).
For the year under review, the staff costs of the Group was approximately
RMB64,442,000 (2015: approximately RMB53,130,000), representing an
increase of 21.3%, mainly due to the increased headcounts and average
salary during the year under review.

The employees’ remuneration policy was determined by reference to
factors such as remuneration information in respect of the local market,
the overall remuneration standard in the industry, inflation level, corporate
operating efficiency and performance of the employees. The Group
conducts performance appraisal once every year for its employees,
the results of which are applied in annual salary review and promotion
assessment. The Group’s employees are considered for the entitlement of
annual bonus according to certain performance conditions and appraisal
results. The Group also provides continuous learning and training
programmes to its employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so
as to maintain and enhance their competitiveness.

STRATEGIES

Looking forward, the management had drawn up short term goals for the
year of 2017 as follows:

° increase the operating cash inflow to reduce current debt ratio; and

° seize the opportunity of the rapid increase of homestay passengers
in PRC, especially in southern regions such as Zhejiang Province,
thereby promoting the development of homestay industry of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

To pursuit the abovementioned goals, the management will take a
proactive approach in facing the following identified challenges:

o the economy in Zhejiang Province will most likely mirror the
trend of the key macroeconomic indicators of the country and
go downwards and this may affect local demand for commercial
properties;

° tourism consumption activities may further slow down as the PRC
continues to face economic headwinds and Renminbi depreciation.

The management has developed sound strategies to overcome the
abovementioned challenges, which will address the uncertainties facing
the Group. Apart from formulating effective marketing strategy plan
and improving our products and services quality to consolidate our
brand, the Group will put effort in formulating new policies, guidelines,
systems and processes to facilitate effectively cost management, risk
management, internal control and sustainable environmental management
to enhance company management standards and corporate governance
standards. For growth strategy, the Group will focus on identifying
possible acquisitions with future development prospects and profitability
to improve the returns on assets. The Group will further emphasize
on investor relations management, and continue to convey clearly the
operation vision, business updates and future development strategies
of the Group and other information to various stakeholders through
press conferences, roadshows, media delegation visits and one-on-one
analyst or investor interview and otherwise to strive for the recognition
and support from various stakeholders and obtain more resources for
business development purpose and maximize shareholders’ value.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees, customers and suppliers are the key stakeholders who
affected the sustainability of our business. Engaging with those
stakeholders will not only help us understand the possible risks and
opportunities to our business, but also help us to mitigate risk and seize
the opportunities in the real market situation.
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The Group believes that our people are critical factors to the Group’s
success and competitiveness in the market. As such, we had adopted
a share option scheme in 20 May 2015 for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contributed to the
success of the Group’s operations.

Customer satisfaction with our services and products has profound
effects on our profitability. Our dedicated team of sales people constantly
communicate with our customers and potential customers to uncover and
create customer needs and help customers make informed decisions.
To grasp the market trend is critical for the Group to timely adjust our
operating strategies to fit the market requirement.

Collaborative and mutual beneficial business relationship with our
strategic suppliers and contractors is of importance to achieve higher
levels of efficiency and competitive advantage. The Group evaluates the
capabilities of our suppliers and contractors to determine if they are able
to meet the requirements and needs of the Group from time to time.

Developing and maintaining good relationship with various commercial
banks and financial institutions is always our main task because our
capital-intensive projects require on-going funding to maintain continuous
growth.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company’s policies and practices highlight the importance of
compliance with all relevant local laws, rules, regulations and standard.
This in return, facilitate the continuous granting of specific licenses and
permissions.

The Group will seek professional legal advice from legal advisers, where
necessary, to ensure transactions and business to be performed by the
Group are in compliance with the applicable laws and regulation.

No material accidents related to serious injuries or death or property
damage and no environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or administrative
sanctions were reported to our management during the year under
review and as at the date of this annual report. The management is of the
view that the Group were in compliance with all relevant PRC laws and
regulations in all material respects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to protecting
the environment in the areas where we operate and ensuring that
environmental standards set by the government are consistently met.

We have closely monitored our projects at different stages to ensure that
construction process is in compliance with environment protection and
safety laws and regulations. The Group endeavors to manage its project
operations by working with suppliers and contractors to ensure that
they understand the importance of environmental protection, pollution
prevention and waste reduction. We also encourage all our employees to
be more environmentally conscious.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“AGM”)

The AGM of the Company will be held on Thursday, 8 June 2017.
Notice of AGM will be published on the websites of the Company (www.
chinanewcity.com.cn) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk),
and will be despatched to the shareholders of the Company within the
prescribed time and in such manner as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) and
adopted the terms of reference which complied with the code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules (“CG Code”). The Audit Committee was set up for the
purposes of reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process
and internal control procedures of the Group and regulating the financial
reporting procedures, internal controls and risk management system
of the Group. It is responsible for making recommendations to the
Board for the appointment, reappointment or removal of the external
auditor; reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity, as well as reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of
the audit process to make sure that the same is in full compliance with
applicable standards.
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The Chairperson of the Audit Committee is Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry. The
other members are Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung. The Audit
Committee is comprised of all of the three independent non-executive
Directors.

The results for the year ended 31 December 2016 have been audited in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing, issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”), by Ernst &
Young whose unmodified auditor’s report is included in the annual report
to be sent to shareholders.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year under review, and reviewed with
the management of the Group regarding the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, and discussed with them the internal
controls and financial reporting matters.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code for the year under review and up to the date of this
report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the knowledge of the directors, they confirm that the Company has
maintained at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital held
by the public for the year under review and as at the date of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board has adopted the code provisions of the CG Code. The Board
has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices and is
satisfied that the Company has complied with the code provisions set out
in the CG Code for the year under review and up to the date of this report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determination of the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
transfer books and register of members will be closed from Monday, 5
June 2017 to Thursday, 8 June 2017 (both days inclusive) during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfers accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited
at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 2 June 2017.

The Board is committed to maintaining good corporate governance
in safeguarding the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) and enhancing Shareholders’ value. The Board reviews
its corporate governance practices periodically in order to meet the rising
expectations of stakeholders, and to comply with increasingly stringent
regulatory requirements as well as fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

e Sleri

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company has complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE

The Board will review the corporate governance structure of the Group
from time to time and will adopt appropriate measures as may be
desirable for future development of the operating activities or business of
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises three executive directors, namely Mr. Dong
Shuixiao, Ms. Jin Ni and Ms. Tang Yiyan, one non-executive director,
namely Mr. Shi Kancheng and three independent non-executive directors,
namely, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung.

The details of the Directors and (where applicable) their family
relationships are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 64 to 68 in this annual
report. There are no relationships (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board. A list
of the Directors identifying their roles and functions are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Board meets regularly to discuss the
overall strategy, the operational and financial performance of the Group.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other electronic
means of communication in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company (the “Articles”).
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During the year under review, a total of 5 Board meetings and one general
meeting were held. The individual attendance of the Directors is tabulated

REBEFER BT HREFEITENL KK
RARG - ZEEWERHFERNT

as follows:
Number of Number of
attendance/ attendance/
Number Number
of Board of general
meetings meetings
HEESE
BEXE HE
EEg RRAGRE
=P8 BREAERH
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Shi Kancheng FEATRK %5 4 5/5 1/1
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Dong Shuixiao BRI E 5/5 1/1
Ms. Jin Ni &Lt 5/5 11
Mr. Li Chu (resigned on 20 January 2016)  Z=ff % 4 (52201641 208 BT ) —/- —/-
Ms. Tang Yiyan Eleiazt 5/5 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BIAKHTES
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RITLEE 5/5 1/1
Mr. Xu Chengfa AR E 5/5 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung B R 5o 55 A 5/5 1/

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the chairperson and chief executive officer are separate and
are not performed by the same individual as this ensures better checks
and balances and hence better corporate governance. During the year
under review and as at the date of this report, the role of the chairperson
was performed by Mr. Shi Kancheng, while Mr. Dong Shuixiao was chief
executive officer of the Group.

The chairperson had held a meeting with all independent non-executive
Directors in the absence of executive Directors. No specific or other
issues had been raised or discussed as it had been concluded that all
issues which would be discussed had been properly dealt with in the
meetings of the Board.
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Non-Executive Director and Independent
Non-Executive Directors

The non-executive Director, Mr. Shi Kancheng, has been appointed for a
term of 3 years commencing on 31 May 2014.

The independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu
Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung, have been appointed for a term of 3
years commencing on 31 May 2014.

All non-executive Director and independent non-executive directors
possess extensive academic, professional and/or industry expertise and
management experience and have provided their professional advice to
the Board.

Power of and Delegation by the Board

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with
the Articles. The Board focuses on overall corporate strategies and
policies with emphasis on the business growth, financial performance
and corporate governance standard of the Group. It also decides on
matters such as annual and interim results, major transactions, director
appointments or re-appointments, investment policy, dividend and
accounting policies and responsible for developing, reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices on corporate governance and legal
and regulatory compliance of the Group. In addition, the Board has also
specifically resolved that all transactions/contracts/other matters of the
Group that are subject to the disclosure requirement in accordance with
the Listing Rules should be approved by the Board in advance.

The Board has delegated to the senior management to deal with day-
to-day operations and reviewed those arrangements on a periodic basis.
The senior management frequently reports back to the Board and obtains
prior approval from the Board before making decisions for key matters or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional member of the Board
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
members of Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.

In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM, one third of the Directors
for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election. The Company may, at any general
meetings convened and held in accordance with the Articles, remove
a Director by ordinary resolution at any time before the expiration of his
period of office notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any
agreement between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary
resolution elect another person in his/her stead.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees and has delegated various
responsibilities to the committees, including the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”), the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
and the corporate governance committee (the “Corporate Governance
Committee”) of the Company. All the Board committees perform their
distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms of reference which
are available for inspection by the Shareholders on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board Committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of three members,

being one executive Director, Ms. Tang Yiyan, and two independent

non-executive Directors, Mr. Xu Chengfa (chairperson of the

Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Yim Chun Leung.

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for

the Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the

Remuneration Committee of the Company include the following:

(@)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board on the

remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

to review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that such compensation
is otherwise fair and not excessive;
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(e) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating e W E#ERESRTAKE MRED
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure REBEBEESMYROBEELTEE
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with BRZELHRBEAENIERETE
relevant contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and EAREIREBBENGRIETE BHEE
appropriate; BIAEGREE

()  to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is H  EREMESKETABEATER
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and HEFIREEFNEHM: &

(@ to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time @ ZEERBQARINWNFHI BN
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions A R E - A RSB A E AR A
elsewhere in the Group. B AR

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the REEFEANFMEEGRITT —Rg&E-

year under review. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the FTNEESEEM TESTSNHIEFR K

policies of remuneration packages of the Board of Directors. The 5o BRK B MR B IR T

individual attendance of the members was tabulated as follows:

Number attendance/
Number of meetings

HERE, EERH
Mr. Xu Chengfa AKX 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BiRZE S E 1/1
Ms. Tang Yiyan ElaMit 11

(ii) Nomination Committee (i) REZES

The Nomination Committee comprises a total of three members, RELECHAER=-FKE (BI—R2#H1TE
being one executive Director, Ms. Jin Ni, and two independent non- EeRALRMBEIIEMITEFANE
executive Directors, Mr. Xu Chengfa (chairperson of the Nomination E(REBZESER) RER=SAE)A
Committee) and Mr. Yim Chun Leung. B °
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The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the

Nomination Committee. The role and function of the Nomination

Committee are as follows:

(@)

to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorship;

to review the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity Palicy,
and to make disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company’s annual report;

to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors (in
particular, the chairperson and the chief executive officer of
the Company);

to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to
Directors and such like in the discharge of the Nomination
Committee’s duties;
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(@  in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered
into by any members of the Group with its director or
proposed director, which require the prior approval of the
Shareholders at general meeting under Rule 13.68 of the
Listing Rules, to review and provide recommmendations to
the Shareholders (other than shareholders who are directors
with a material interest in the relevant service contracts and
their respective associates) as to whether the terms of the
service contracts are fair and reasonable and whether such
service contracts are in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole, and to advise Shareholders on how
to vote;

(h)  to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

(i) to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon their
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure; and

() to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

The Board has set the following measurable objectives
implementing the Board Diversity Policy:

o when identifying suitably qualified candidates to become
Board members, it should be based on a series of diverse
aspects, including Board members with different background,
skills, regional and industry experience, race, gender and
other qualities, that are in balanced and complementary
with each other, creating synergy, and enabling the Board to
function effectively as a whole.
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The nomination procedures are as follow:

° candidates for directorship are selected by the Nomination
Committee subject to the review and approval of the Board in
accordance with the Articles.

° when reviewing the composition of the Board and
considering the nomination of new Directors, the Nomination
Committee will take into account the skills, regional and
industry experience, background, race, gender and other
qualities of potential candidates and also business needs of
the Company.

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major
criteria for diversity was summarized as follows:
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Based on the review by the Nomination Committee, the Nomination
Committee considers that the Company has achieved the
measurable objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity
Policy for the year under review.

Two meetings of the Nomination Committee were held during the
year under review. The Nomination Committee had reviewed the
structure and the diversification policy of the Board of Directors and
had revised and restated the Board Diversity Policy.

Education Professional
Background Experience
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The individual attendance of the members of the Nomination
Committee was tabulated as follows:

R
o
I
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]
i3

439
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Number of attendance/
Number of meetings

EREgERE
Mr. Xu Chengfa AR E 2/2
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BiRSe S 2/2
Ms. Jin Ni iR+ 2/2

(iii) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises a total of three members, being
three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen
Mr. Xu Chengfa
and Mr. Yim Chun Leung. Mr. Yim Chun Leung possess the

Terry (chairperson of the Audit Committee),

appropriate professional qualification, and accounting and financial
management expertise.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@  to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and
other terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

(b)  to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process
in accordance with applicable standards. The Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

(¢) to discuss with the auditors the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations and ensure co-ordination
where more than one audit firm is engaged before the audit
commences;
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to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
“external auditor” includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm
or any entity that a reasonable and informed third party
knowing all relevant information would reasonably conclude
to be part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The
Committee should report to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed;

Review of the Company’s financial information

)

to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, interim report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review

significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

in reviewing these reports (the Company’s annual report
and accounts, interim report and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly report) before submission to the Board, the
Committee should focus particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii) major judgmental areas;

(i) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv)  the going concern assumption and any qualifications;

(v)  compliance with accounting standards;

(v compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

(vi)  the fairness and reasonableness of any connected
transaction and the impact of such transaction
on the profitability of the Group and whether such
connected transactions, if any, have been carried out in
accordance with the terms of the agreement governing
such transactions;

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

R

FhONS 12 B A R L IF AR BUR TS 51 E X
Fo AT AT B IREM = - 40
IS R R EREN ARG
RE— =6 MAEEKEEEZT
S S — B8 IEMEMBER
MERNE=77 EREBL TS
E%%%%%EE&%%QE%$i

BIBR RIS — 20 AT E - &
L AARBITH RN ENE

WELIREES

/\E

ﬁﬁé

ERAATNMBEER

©)

ERRNRANUBERRARFERS
RiRE - hHIsRE R (BHT#E) TR
WENTEN  UEHRRLREMR
HEMYBRHNEAER

ERESERIAB (ARANFE
HERKE « PHITRE & (HHTIE)
ZERE)BREEBREA - ZTEQR
BRIt T 5 BB N AZE B
() EIFBREMEFNTMER:
iy HREBHEHOMS
iy FEZEmERNERFE

vy FHELENBRERETARBE
=

v) REESTEHER:

V) REETHEBEMBRERNH LD
MR FORRRTE :

(i) BIERZILHEESBRATERE
R AEBERNNZE MRS
MERS (F) 2ERRE
BAZZ 5 ) E 1 B 1R SR T S

173

PR A EEREMR AR
—E-XEER



46

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

P REE R,

(il

whether all relevant items have been adequately
disclosed in the Group’s financial statements and
whether the disclosures give a fair view of the Group’s
financial conditions;

any significant or unusual items that are, or may need
to be, reflected in such reports and accounts; and

the cash flow position of the Group;

and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board;

(9 inregard to (e) and (f) above:

U

(i)

members of the Committee should liaise with the
Board and senior management of the Group and the
Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the
Company'’s auditors; and

the Committee should consider any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the reports and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
auditors;

(h)  to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim

and final audits, and any matters the auditors may wish to

discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);
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Overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk

management and internal control systems

)

to review the Company’s financial controls and, unless
expressly addressed by a separate Board risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors, and to
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor's management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;
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(p) to conduct exit interviews with any Director, manager,
financial controller or internal credit control manager upon
their resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his
departure;

() to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to
prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;

n to consider the appointment of any person to be a
Committee member, auditors and accounting staff either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Committee member,
auditors and accounting staff or dismissal of any of them;

(s)  toreport to the Board on the matters set out above;

1) to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Committee should ensure that proper arrangements are in
place for fair and independent investigation of these matters
and for appropriate follow-up action;

(U  to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
issuer’s relations with the external auditor; and

(v)  to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

A total of two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during
the year under review. The work performed by the Audit Committee
during the year under review included the following:

- reviewed the annual report and results announcement of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2015;

- reviewed the interim report and interim results
announcements of the Company for the six months ended
30 June 2016;

- reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and other financial reporting matters;
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(iv)

reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with
external auditors on any significant findings and audit issues;

reviewed the internal control reports and had discussion
with internal control consultant on any significant findings
and internal control issues for the first half of the year under
review;

reviewed the internal control reports and had discussion
with internal auditors on any significant findings and internal
control issues for the second half of the year under review;

discussed with the external auditors before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
respective relevant issues; and

considered and approved the service contract of the auditors
for the year under review.

The individual attendance of the members of the Audit Committee

was tabulated as follows:
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Number of attendance/
Number of meetings

HERE, BN
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RETEE 2/2
Mr. Xu Chengfa AP 2/2
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BIRR SEHE 2/2
Corporate Governance Committee (ivi EXERZES
The Corporate Governance Committee comprises a total of three TEBREZEEHEHR=FKE (BI—EH
members, being one executive Director, Ms. Jin Ni (chairperson TEESRLZL (ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%@‘lfﬁf ) &
of the Corporate Governance Committee), and two independent MEBBIIERTEFR TR E KBRS
non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen Terry and Mr. Yim Chun o) HHAK o
Leung.
The role and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee TEERZESNACKEBRENT :

include the following:

(@

to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;
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()  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code and the disclosures in the
Corporate Governance Report.

Two meetings of the Corporate Governance Committee were
held during the year under review. The Corporate Governance
Committee had discussed and reviewed the Board’s and the
Group’s compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code
and the prevailing Listing Rules during the year under review. The
Corporate Governance Committee had also reviewed the internal
control reports and had discussion with internal control consultant
on any significant findings and internal control issues for the first
half of the year under review and had revised and restated Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors and Employees and Inside
Information Policy;

The individual attendance of the members of the Governance
Committee was tabulated as follows:
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Ms. Jin Ni LT 2/2
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RETEE 2/2
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BRiRSe S 2/2

Further details of the terms of reference of Board committees are
available on websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEM

The Group recognizes that good risk management is essential for the
long-term and sustainable growth of a business. The Board puts particular
emphasis on determining the risk-tolerance levels in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives and is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The management also
learns from other outstanding companies and takes into consideration
of the Company’s unique business and operating environment in
formulating the risk management and control framework. All employees
are committed to continually enhancing the risk management framework,
linking to our corporate strategies as well as integrating it into day-to-day
operation.

Objective of the Risk Management and Internal
Control

The objectives of the risk management and internal control framework of
the Group include:

o to strengthen the Company’s risk management and internal control
in compliance with the Listing Rules requirement;

. to establish and constantly improve the risk management and
internal control system;

. to implement a top-down and companywide risk management
system that covers every aspect of the business; and

° to keep baseline risks within the acceptable range.
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Main Features of Risk Management System -
Three-tier Risk Management Approach

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to
identify, assess, mitigate and handle significant risks. At the first line of
defense, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and
monitoring risks associated with each business or deal. The management,
as the second line of defense, defines rule sets and models, provide
technical support, develops new systems and oversees portfolio
management. It ensures risks are within the acceptable range and that
the first line of defense is effective. As the final line of defense, the internal
audit department ensures that the first and second lines of defense are

effective through constant inspection and monitoring.

First Line of
Defense
E—hR
|dentify, assess and
monitor risks
associating with
each business and
deal
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Main Features of Internal Control System

Our internal control systems are developed with reference to the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

principles which involved five elements as internal environment, risk

assessment, control activities,

information and communication and

internal supervision. The aim of internal control is to reasonably guarantee

the compliance of its operation and management with regulations and

laws, assets security, and authenticity and integrity of financial report and

related information, improve the efficiency and effect of operating activities

and promote the realization of development strategy of the Group.
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1.  Market risks 1. ™WEERR

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from customers from PRC.
The Group is exposed to the risks associated with the PRC market
which include the risks of policy change, interest rate change,
demand-supply imbalance and the overall economic conditions.
The market risks may pose an adverse impact on the Group’s
business, financial condition or results of operations.

The project team will carefully scrutinize each project for
related risks and returns. These include assessment of relevant
government policies, market demand and conditions and economic
data. The management is responsible for supervision, conducting
regular operation reviews and keeping the Board fully informed
through regular reports, and prompt decisions can therefore be
made if changes are required.
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Business and operational risks

Distinctive risks factors in property related businesses such as
default of buyers, tenants and strategic business partners, and
inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and systems
may have different levels of negative impact on the results of the
Group’s operation. Industrial accidents may happen although
precautionary measures is established, which may damage the
Company’s reputation or cause financial loss to the Group.

The internal audit team will reviews key activities of the Group and
ensures all material controls, including financial and operational, are
functioning effectively. Precautionary and contingency measures are
also set up to ensure the Group is protected against major potential
loss, damage or impact to our operations. Insurance coverage
against accidental losses and/or other hazards is used in protecting
our assets and reputation against any potential liabilities.

Financial risks

The investment and business operation are exposed to risks from
exchange rates, interest rates and liquidity. Amid global financial
uncertainties, the financial risks encountered by the Group had
increased accordingly.

The Group closely monitors the financial risks and when appropriate
will adopt measures to manage and hedge corresponding risks by
using of derivatives such as interest rate and currency swaps. The
Group’s cash and financing are centrally managed and controlled
at the corporate level to achieve a better borrowing terms and
coherent financial risk management. To meet our obligations as and
when needed, the Group maintains sufficient facilities with various
banks and financial institutions. The maturity of deposits and loans
is carefully planned and managed to reduce liquidity risk.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report

EBRREERR

MERBXBZ2BERAREAZ MER-H
FREBUEBMEBH LY UARATR
BABRESTRIRM A iAs
BREREERTREE 2P E &
ERIIEMGEE DR B ETEER
WMAIREBREARB 2 BEHERAEH
EEMBEEE-

AMBZEF SRAAEE 2 258
HRMAERER (BREUMBREEERE)
BRGEE - REE RS HIE AR Mg AT
NERASE 2 EEREERNEBEER
BEYAVE AEESHYEIERR X
Hip e ERBRE  HARBARE 2 EE
LBEBRZEMNBEEETZFE -

5 35 B

BRENMEHEERRES -MERRBES
ZEB - ERREBETARZIBERT K
& B R 2 B S LR AR e o

N6 B ) B4R B S LR - S O E B
RERESEIE  BRERITETA (WHEE
W) UEE RE T EERR - AEE
RAehkBETDRARERASTEEREE
NEHBEEZEBEGRIEER—B2HH
RBRER BETAKRBEZATEME A%
BERZRRTELEREBERTARRER
o AEEFEFENERFRRERZE
HAARERBE SRR -



4. Talent risks

Talent shortage and high employee turnover will have a negative
impact on the Group’s present and future performance. We believe
that human resources are of critical importance for the success of
the Company.

To attract, motivate and retain talented employees, the Group
evaluate our employee remuneration packages and monitor them
against market trends. We provide on-the-job training for new staff
and offer career advancement opportunities for suitable staff to
develop their full potential at various stages of their career. We also
encourage communication with all levels of staff to gather feedback
and suggestions for future improvement.

Review of Internal Control System

The internal audit department of the Company (“Internal Audit
Department”) in the year under review responsible for the internal control
functions. The Internal Audit Department is required to provide internal
control assessment reports to the Audit Committee and the Board on a
regular or ad hoc basis.

The Board recognized its responsibility to ensure the Group maintains a
sound and effective risk management and internal control system. The
Directors had conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control of the Group during the Year. Such review had covered
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions. No major issue but areas for
improvement have been identified. The Board and the Audit Committee
considered that the key areas of the Group’s internal control systems are

reasonably implemented.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Future Commission in June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of confidential or
inside information;

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so that
only the executive Directors of the Company, company secretary
and investor relations officers are authorized to communicate with
parties outside the Group; and

° employees or Directors possessing inside information should
report the same to an executive Director, who will then report to
the Board. The Board will then discuss and handle the relevant
disclosures or dissemination of inside information accordingly.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chiu Ngam, Chris (“Mr. Chiu”), the company secretary of the
Company, is a full time employee of the Group, appointed by the
Board and responsible for the Board. He also serves as the secretary
of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. Chiu is
responsible for advising the Board through the chairperson and/or the
chief executive officer on governance matters and assisting the Board
in discharging its obligations to Shareholders pursuant to the Listing
Rules. He is also responsible for ensuring that the activities of the Board
conducted efficiently and effectively, and procedures and all applicable
laws and regulations complied with, and facilitating induction and
professional developments of the Directors. During the year under review,
the company secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the preparation
of accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group. The Company
has selected appropriate accounting policies and has applied them
consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates.

During the year under review, all Directors have been given on a quarterly
basis the latest information report about the financial position and
business development of the Group. The Directors endeavor to ensure
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s position
and prospects in annual reports, interim reports, inside information
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules

and other statutory requirements.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.

OPERATION OF MEETING AND SUPPLY
OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Notice of at least 14 days should be given of a regular board meeting to
give all directors an opportunity to attend. For all other board meetings,
reasonable notice should be given.

Full Board or committee papers will be sent to all Directors at least three
days before the intended date of a Board meeting or a Board committee
meeting.

Management has supplied the Board and its committees with adequate
information and explanations so as to enable them to make an informed
assessment of the information put before the Board and its Board
committees for approval. Management is also invited to join the Board or
Board committee meetings where appropriate.

Draft and final version of minutes of the meetings should be sent to all
Board and Board committee members for their comment and records.
Minutes of the meetings are kept by our Company Secretary, and the
Board and Board committee members may inspect the documents and
minutes of the Board and the Board committees at any time.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The audit fee of the Group in respect of audit services provided by the
independent auditors, Emst & Young, for the Year was RMB950,000
(2015: RMB950,000).

During the year under review, the independent auditors was also engaged
to review the interim results of the Company at a fee of RMB250,000
(2015: RMB250,000) and no other non-audit services took place (2015:
Nil).

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

In respect of the compliance with the provisions of the Non-compete
Undertakings by the Controlling Shareholders, please refer to the section
headed “Non-compete Undertakings” in the Directors Report of this
report.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’
INSURANCE

The Company had arranged liability insurance for Directors and senior
management officers of the Company with appropriate coverage in
respect of legal action against them arising from their duties performed.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time
and time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of training
received by Directors during the year under review is as follows:

Name of Directors

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SRR

RESFRENDE REBFERN EFME
EHEIIBENT

Type of continuous
professional development

EENSR BEEXZRRER

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Dong Shuixiao ERREE B

Ms. Jin Ni ezt B

Ms. Tang Yiyan Elafit B

Non-executive Director FHITES

Mr. Shi Kancheng BEALAK %2 B

Independent Non-executive Directors BIYKBITES

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RETEE A/B

Mr. Xu Chengfa AN E A/B

Mr. Yim Chun Leung S 8irpias A/B

Notes: Htat -

A attending briefing sessions and/or seminars relating to matters in financial, legal ~ A:  HEBBB B EERCEEATENENE R
and corporate governance S E

B: reading seminar materials and updates relating to the latest development of the  B:  B#EAR MBI REMEREERERNEREZ

Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements

MECHANISM FOR THE PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENT ON MIXED-USE LANDS

In relation to the mechanism for the property development on Mixed-
use Lands (as defined in the Prospectus), each of Zhong An Real Estate
Limited (“Zhong An”, and its subsidiaries, the “Zhong An Group”) and
the Company has undertaken to each other that it must, in respect of
each of its financial year ending after the Listing, instruct its auditors or
independent financial advisers to review such documents as the auditors
or independent financial advisers may require and confirm to its board of
directors that the mechanism set out the section headed “Relationship
with our Controlling Shareholders — Joint property development on mixed
commercial-residential use land projects” in the Prospectus had been
complied with during such financial year. During the year under review,
the Directors confirm that there has not been any occasion where an
opportunity aroused for an acquisition and development of land for
property development project on mixed commercial-residential use land
projects in which the remaining Zhong An Group (i.e. Zhong An Group,
excluding the Group) (the “Remaining Zhong An Group”) has invited
the Group to participate in the Joint Development (as defined in the
Prospectus).
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the Company’s code of conduct during the year under review.

Senior management who, because of their office in the Group, are likely
to be in possession of inside information, have also been requested
to comply with the provisions of the Model Code when dealing in the
Company’s shares.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

The following procedures are subject to the Articles, the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised from time to time) of
the Cayman Islands and the applicable legislation and regulation.

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2012
Revision). Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any two or more Shareholders
made to Directors or the Secretary specifying the objects of the meeting,
provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition shall not hold less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a
further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves may convene the general
meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Procedures for Proposing a Person for Election
as a Director

If a shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the relevant
general meeting, wishes to nominate a person (not being the nominating
shareholder) to stand for election as a Director, he or she should give to
the company secretary of the Company notice in writing of the intention
to propose a person for election as a Director and notice in writing by
that person of his or her willingness to be so elected, no earlier than the 7
clear days after the dispatch of the notice of the relevant general meeting
and no later than 7 clear days prior to the date appointed for the relevant
general meeting.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director are available on the Company’s website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS/WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
COMMUNICATION

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote greater
understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders. The means of
access includes the release by the Company of the various corporate
communication of the Company via the website of the Stock Exchange
and the website of the Company (http://www.chinanewcity.com.
cn). Shareholders are encouraged by the Company to attend general
meetings of the Company where the chairperson of the Company and
other members of the Board and (if appropriate) the auditors of the
Company, are available to answer questions.

In addition, our chairperson, Directors and senior management actively
participated in various investor relations activities to reach and establish
a good long-term interactive relationship with shareholders and potential
investors. We introduced our current operating conditions and future
development strategies and at the same time also received advices
from investors regarding the Company’s development, from which we
understand more about investors’ expectations of the Company. Thereby,
we can continue improving the operation management of the Company
and establish effective mutual communication channels.
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Enquiries and Proposals to the Board

Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the Company for any
enquiries in relation to the affairs of the Group. Shareholders may contact
the Company in writing to the Company’s head office in the PRC or the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail to
cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn or direct any enquiries to the Company’s
investor relations representative, Capital Markets Department, whose
contact details are set out in the annual report of which this report forms
part.

Annual Results Conference

During the year under review, the Company convened the 2015 annual
results conference and gave full elaboration on its operating conditions for
the Year. The Directors and senior management attended the conference
and communicated actively with the investors, securities analysts and
media attending the conference to enable them to understand fully the
operating conditions and development strategies of the Company, and
actively strived for the understanding and recognition from the market
regarding the Company’s profit growth and sustainability.

Annual General Meeting

The 2015 annual general meeting was held on 18 May 2016 at
Conference Room No. 5, 4th Floor, Holiday Inn Hangzhou Xiaoshan, No.
688 Shanyin Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC. The Directors and senior management together with the external
independent auditors attended the annual general meeting to answer
enquiries from shareholders and investors attending the meeting. All
ordinary resolutions proposed in the meeting were duly passed by way of
poll.

Regular Meetings with Investors

During the year under review, the Directors, senior management and
investor relations team have meetings with investors, fund managers and
financial analysts from time to time, introducing the operating conditions
and development strategies of the Company and answered the questions
raised. The Company provides the investors and analysts with clear
and timely compliance information to enable them to make reasonable
investment decisions with sufficient information.
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Media Reverse Roadshow

During the year under review, the Company organized a Hong Kong
media team to conduct reverse roadshow. The Directors and senior
management attended the reverse roadshow and answered the questions
raised by the media. This enabled investors to understand more about the
development conditions and strategic directions of the new business.

Investor Relations Plan

In 2017, we will continue to enhance communication with investors in
accordance to the main needs and concerned issues from investors
and analysts. It is expected that multiple activities for investors will be
conducted in 2017 through field trip, non-deal roadshow and one-to-
one meeting and publishing voluntary disclosure announcement to mass
investors in order to enhance their understanding of the Group.

Should investors have any inquiries and/or suggestions, please contact us
at cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company’s constitutional documents was adopted on 31 May 2014.
There was no change in the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company during the year under review.

For and on behalf of the Board
China New City Commercial Development Limited

Shi Kancheng
Chairperson
The Hong Kong, 27 March 2017
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

o o R AR P R

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shuixiao (EK&R5%4£), aged 51, has been appointed as
the executive Director and chief executive officer of the Group on 16
June 2015 and is responsible for leading the business of the Group. He
has over 19 years of experience in property operation and management.
He was the vice president and director of certain subsidiaries of Zhong
An (stock code: 672), a company which shares are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, since 2012 and was responsible for
assisting the chief executive officer of Zhong An on the administration
and general project management of the Zhong An Group until July 2014
and thereafter continue to serve as such positions for the Remaining
Zhong An Group until June 2015. He joined the Zhong An Group since
1997 and had served as deputy general manager and general manager
for various subsidiaries of Zhong An during the period from 1997 to
July 2014 and thereafter continue to serve as deputy general manager
and general manager for various members of the Remaining Zhong
An Group until June 2015. He has extensive professional and senior
managerial experiences in real estate industry, particularly in the field of
project administration and management, on-site technology supervision,
construction cost control and financial operation. Prior to joining the
Zhong An Group, he held managerial positions as accountant, deputy
finance manager, operational management manager, deputy general
manager and general manager in the PRC companies including Xiaoshan
Material Bureau (1985-1989), Changzheng Material Company Limited
(1989-1993) and Hangzhou Xiaoshan Hongsen Material Company Limited
(1994-1996). Mr. Dong graduated from Wuhan University of Technology
with a civil engineering degree and the China University of Geosciences
with a business administration diploma. Mr. Dong has resigned from all his
managerial positions in the Remaining Zhong An Group before joining the
Group. He is also a director of certain members of the Group.

Ms. Jin Ni (£ & X)), aged 41, is the executive Director, vice
chairperson of Board and vice president of the Group, and is responsible
for formulating and implementing strategies and business plans for the
development of the Group’s property sales, property leasing and property
management businesses. She was appointed as an executive Director
on 30 September 2013. Ms. Jin has over 18 years of experience in
sales, and operation and management of commercial projects. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Jin held directorial and/or executive roles of certain
members of the Remaining Zhong An Group. She obtained a bachelor
degree in administrative management from the Zhejiang University of
Technology (W)L T K2 in July 2003 and obtained a diploma in
financial accounting from the Oriental Institute of the Zhejiang University*
(HIAZE R ) (currently known as Oriental Institute of Finance
and Economics* (/T BT 48 RE R 75287 ) ) in July 1997. She is also a
director of certain members of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Tang Yiyan (E1a# Z £ ), aged 46, is the executive Director
and vice president of the Group, and is responsible for overall property
management of our Group. She was appointed as an executive Director
on 30 September 2013. Ms. Tang has over 14 years of experience in
operations and management. Prior to joining the Group, she held various
positions including assistant to general manager of Jiaging Jiahe Beijing
City Shopping Center Company Limited (FE K1t BB WESE
R &]), and manager of sales department, project supervisor, deputy
general manager and vice general manager in general affairs of Zhejiang
Lai Yin Da Commercial Development Company Ltd. ( ¥7/L 3 & 3=
HEBRABMRAF). Ms. Tang obtained a diploma in economics and
management from the Zhejiang Province Mechanic and Politics University
CGHL A B TBUA AZ) (currently known as Zhejiang University of
Economics and Management (7T 4L EZE I AZ) ) in July 1994,

Non-executive Director

Mr. Shi Kancheng ( HE{TL B 5t 4 ) (alias Shi Zhongan (7 %) ), aged
54, is a non-executive Director and chairperson of the Board. He was
appointed as a Director on 2 July 2013 and re-designated as non-
executive Director on 30 September 2013. He is responsible for assisting
the Board in the strategic planning of the Group, leading the Board
to ensure that it will perform its roles and carry out its responsibilities
effectively, and ensuring proper corporate governance practices and
procedures are implemented within the Group. However, he does not
participate in the day-to-day management of the business operations of
the Group.

Mr. Shi has over 20 years of experience in property development and
property investment. Mr. Shi currently also serves as the executive
director, chairman and the chief executive officer of Zhong An (stock
code: 672). Mr. Shi served as a tax officer in the finance and revenue
bureau of Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou (formerly known as Xiaoshan
City) and the general manager of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Mikyway Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd. Mr. Shi completed an Executive Master of
Business Administration Program (Finance Track) organized by Shanghai
National Accounting Institute and obtained a CFO Qualifying Training
Certificate in June 2007. From 2005 to 2006, Mr. Shi completed a
program for executive officers, focusing on globalization and real estate
developers, co-organized by Harvard University, Tsinghua University. The
University of Hong Kong and the United States Military Academy and a
program for presidents of real estate companies organized by Zhejiang
University in July 2006. Mr. Shi is a director of certain members of the
Remaining Zhong An Group and the Group. Mr. Shi is the sole director
and the sole shareholder of Whole Good Management Limited, which is
the controlling shareholder of the Company.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry (Rt T %4), aged 57, is the independent
non-executive Director and vice chairperson of the Board. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 31 May 2014.
He has over 27 years of experience in operations and management.
Since October 2014, Mr. Ng has been the chief executive officer and
an executive director of L’AVENUE International Holdings Limited, a
private company in Hong Kong, and his leadership responsibilities
include strategic planning, financial investments, management of property
development and investment portfolio, both in Hong Kong and overseas.
Since January 2012, Mr. Ng has been the founding member and a
director of Terry Ng & Associates Limited in which he manages his own
investment portfolio including real estate, equity market and private
equity. Mr. Ng was an executive director of Hang Lung Group Limited
(stock code: 010) and Hang Lung Properties Limited (stock code: 101),
companies which shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, respectively and was mainly responsible for such groups’
strategic and corporate planning, financial investments, and relations
with the investment community. He was also an executive director of
Giordano International Limited (stock code: 709), a company which
shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ng has
over 8 years of work experience with Giordano International Limited and
its affiliated companies, and held other various positions including senior
vice president of international business and assistant director of business
development. He also worked at the Stock Exchange and held various
positions including senior manager of listing division, department head
of finance division and manager of finance division. Mr. Ng is a fellow
member of CPA Australia. He obtained a master’s degree in business
administration from Asia International Open University (Macau) (currently
known as City University of Macau) in November 1995 and a bachelor
degree in commerce majoring in accounting and finance systems from the
University of New South Wales in April 1985.

Mr. Xu Chengfa (B % % 4£), aged 64, is the independent non-
executive Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 May 2014. Mr. Xu has over 20 years of experience
in banking operations and management. He worked in the Bank of
Communications Co., Ltd. (stock code: 3328) Hong Kong Branch,
a company which shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange and held various positions including senior manager of
investment banking department, senior manager of corporate services
department, assistant general manager, deputy general manager, deputy
chief executive officer and consultant.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yim Chun Leung (BIR= %5 4£) , aged 55, is the independent non-
executive Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 May 2014. Mr. Yim has over 32 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and finance fields. Mr. Yim is the independent non-
executive Director who has the qualifications and experience to meet the
requirements under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Yim is a non-practicing member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. He also possesses a master’s degree in business
administration.

Mr. Yim is also an executive director of Jacobson Pharma Corporation
Limited (a company which shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2633) which, together with its group
companies, are principally engaged in manufacturing and trading of
generic drugs and proprietary medicines. Mr. Yim had served in numerous
companies listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
which included an executive director and chief executive officer of LVGEM
(China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited (stock code: 95) since
December 2004 and July 2014 respectively until he resigned in March
2016, the financial controller of Soundwill Holdings Limited (stock code:
878) from May 2002 to June 2004, the chief financial officer of Sinolink
Worldwide Holdings Limited (stock code: 1168) from December 2000
to February 2002, an executive director of N P H International Holdings
Limited (currently known as Concord New Energy Group Limited, stock
code: 182) from January 1998 to April 1999 and the finance director
of Tysan Holdings Limited (currently known as Hong Kong International
Construction Investment Management Group Co., Limited, stock code:
687) from January 1994 to January 1998.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shi Nanlu (MR %4 ) is the vice-president of the Group, and
is responsible for healthy business sector. He joined the Group in June
2015. He held various positions in Zhong An Group Limited including
asset management manager, fund management manager and vice
president in the financial center from June 2010 to June 2015. Mr. Shi
has over 7 years of experience in financial and investment management.
Mr. Shi holds a Bachelor of Financial and Accounting from University of
Manitoba.
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Mr. Fang Bin (F#%4) is the vice-president of the Group, and is
responsible for operations and film and television culture business sector
of our Group. He joined the Group in July 2016. Mr. Fang has over 5
years of experience in financial and investment management. Prior to
joining the Group, he worked in Huaxia Bank for investment sector. Mr.
Fang holds a Master Degree in financial and economic from The University
of Warwick and a Bachelor of Financial and Statistic in University College
London.

Mr. Liu Bo (25 %&£ %) is the vice-president of the Group, and is
responsible for financial management of our Group. He joined the Group
in July 2016. Mr. Liu has over 5 years of experience in financial and
investment management. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in Wan
Xiang Trust for institutional and trust business department. Mr. Liu holds
a Master Degree in Actuarial Science from the Boston University and a
Bachelor of Mathematics from University of Waterloo.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chiu Ngam, Chris (# % 5t 4 ) is the chief financial officer and
company secretary of the Company. He joined the Group in February
2017. Mr. Chiu holds a Bachelor of Business Administration from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. He is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member
of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chiu has
over 10 years of experience in accounting, financial management, merge
and acquisition, capital market financing and listing compliance. He is also
a director of certain members of the Group.

Mr. Chiu had served in numerous companies listed on the main board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange which included the financial controller
and company secretary of China Sandi Holdings Limited (stock code:
910), the financial controller and company secretary of Century Ginwa
Retail Holdings Limited (stock code: 162), the vice president of Genting
Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 678), the chief financial officer of China
Oriental Group Company Limited (stock code: 581) and the group chief
financial officer of Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (stock
code: 126).
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THE REPORT OF DIRECTORS

The board (‘Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China New City
Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”) are pleased to present
their annual report to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
and the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2016 (“the year under review”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in commercial property development, leasing and hotel
operations. The nature of the principal activities has not changed during

the year under review.

BUSINESS REVIEW, KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

A discussion on the business review of the Group and an analysis of the
performance of the Group based on certain financial key performance
indicators for the year under review are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year under review and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group at 31 December 2016 are set out in the financial
statements on pages 105 to 111.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil).

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements and the
Prospectus, is set out on page 248. This summary does not form part of
the audited financial statements.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment, and investment
properties of the Group during the year under review are set out in notes
12 and 13 to the financial statements respectively. Further details of the
Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 189 and 190.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are set out under the
paragraph headed “Principal Risks and Key Controls” in the section

headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

An account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers are set out in the paragraph headed
“Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers” under the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance is
set out in the paragraph headed “Environment Policies and Performance”
under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
under review are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Scheme as disclosed in the section headed “The Report
of Directors — Share Option Scheme” of this annual report and note 29 to
the financial statements respectively, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Company during the year under review or subsisted at
the end of the year under review.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report

MEREWREEYME

WilEA@EEifWEW/J%& SHERIGSEYER
FHIFD RIBE NIRRT 7FE128%13 - REEH
&éf%%a’w&*iﬁﬂ%zﬁé%sg&woﬁo

FERARERFARERR

AEEZTZRBETHRERNZTEINAFHR
[EEERWE ] —#Rz [T 2R LR
—Be

FERME

AREEEER FPRHUEAZIEMERS
BRAFRZ [EEENREON] —HETZ
(RS TR RHERBHE] -

IR R IR

ERARBRRBERRBA ZAHBBERAFRZ
[EEENmEON] —EETZ [BREBEER
B —B&e

B &

AABREBEFERNRANE B FEHNI R
FMI5E28 ©

B% R #3913 i

BRTEAFR [(EE2g®mS —BRESE] —
T TSR M 52290 R R BB Z 5H 8IS0 AR T/x
BREHBABHRNEEFEART RN AR ES
ERDFHE -



RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and note 30 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2016, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to approximately RMB45,972,000 and the Company’s share premium
amounted to RMB426,019,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the
Company, dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium
account or any other fund or account which can be authorized for this
purpose in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The details of the share option scheme (the “Scheme”) approved by the
Shareholders on 20 May 2015 (the “Adoption Date”) are disclosed below
pursuant to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Rules (the “Listing
Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”):

1. Purposes of the scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. The Directors consider the Scheme, with
its broadened basis of participation, will enable the Group to reward
the employees, the Directors and other selected participants for
their contributions to the Group. Given that the Directors are entitled
to determine any performance targets to be achieved as well as the
minimum period that an option must be held before an option can
be exercised on a case by case basis, and that the exercise price of
an option cannot in any event fall below the price stipulated in the
Listing Rules or such higher price as may be fixed by the Directors,
it is expected that grantees of an option will make an effort to
contribute to the development of the Group so as to bring about an
increased market price of the Shares in order to capitalise on the
benefits of the options granted.
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Participants of the Scheme

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite any person

belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take up

options to subscribe for Shares:

(@)

any employee (whether full-time or part-time including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director)
of the Company, any of the Company’s subsidiaries or any
entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any member of the Group
holds an equity interest;

any non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) of the Company, any of the Company’s
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group;

and, for the purposes of the Scheme, the offer for the grant of

option may be made to any company wholly owned by one or more

persons belonging to any of the above classes of participants.

For avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by the Company

for the subscription of Shares or other securities of the Group to

any person who falls within any of the above classes of participants

shall not, by itself, unless the Board otherwise determine, be

construed as a grant of option under the Scheme.
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The eligibility of any of the above class of participants to an offer for
the grant of any option shall be determined by the Board from time
to time on the basis of the Board’s opinion as to his contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of the Shares available
for Subscription

(@  The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company
in issue from time to time.

(b)  The total number of the Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all options (excluding, for this
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group) to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the Scheme (“General Scheme Limit”).

(c)  Subject to (a) above but without prejudice to (d) below, the
Company may seek approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided that
the total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group must not
exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the refreshed limit and, for the purpose
of calculating the refreshed limit, options (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group) previously granted under the Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group will not be counted.
The circular sent by the Company to the Shareholders shall
contain, among other information, the information required
under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer
required under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.
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(d)  Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (c) above,
the Company may seek separate Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting to grant options beyond the General
Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the refreshed limit referred
to in (c) above to participants specifically identified by the
Company before such approval is sought. In such event,
the Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
containing a generic description of the specified participants,
the number and terms of options to be granted, the purpose
of granting options to the specified participants with an
explanation as to how the terms of the options serve such
purpose and such other information required under Rule
17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer required
under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group (including both
exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue for
the time being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of such further grant must be separately
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting of the Company
with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if
the grantee is a connected person of the Company) abstaining
from voting. The number and terms (including the exercise price)
of options to be granted must be fixed before the approval of the
Shareholders and the date of the Board meeting for proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the
Listing Rules.
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5. Grant of options to the Directors, chief

executive or substantial shareholders
of the Company or their respective
associates

(@  Any grant of options under the Scheme to a Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates must be approved by
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent
non-executive Director who or whose associates is the
proposed grantee of the options).

(b)  Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director or any of their
respective associates would result in the Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the Shares at the date of each offer for the grant, in
excess of HK$5 million;

such further grant of options must be approved by Shareholders
in general meeting. The Company must send a circular to the
Shareholders. The grantee, his associates and all core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting in favour at
such general meeting, except that any connected person may vote
against the relevant resolution at the general meeting provided
that his intention to do so has been stated in the circular. Any vote
taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such options must be
taken on a poll. Any change in the terms of options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director
or any of their respective associates must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting.
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Minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised and the
exercise period of the option:

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the Board to each grantee, which period may
commence from the date of the offer for the grant of options is
made, but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the option subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Board and
stated in the offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no
minimum period required under the Scheme for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of the
option and the period within which
payment must be made:

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of an option and options may be accepted by a participant
within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

Basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price for the Shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Board, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer for the grant, which
must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the
grant; and (i) the nominal value of a Share.

Remaining life of the Scheme:

The Scheme became effective on 20 May 2015 and unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for a period of
10 years from that date.
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OUTSTANDING OPTIONS

In 2016, no option was granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company
or had lapsed under the Scheme. There was no outstanding option under
the Scheme as at 31 December 2016 as no option was granted during
the relevant period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 3.0% of the Group’s consolidated revenue
for the year under review.

The purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for about 50.9% of the Group’s consolidated purchases for
the year under review.

The largest supplier of the Group accounted for about 19.8% of the
Group’s consolidated purchases for the year under review.

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any Shareholders (who or which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has
any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shuixiao

Ms. Jin Ni

Ms. Tang Yiyan

Mr. Li Chu (resigned on 20 January 2016)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry

Mr. Xu Chengfa

Mr. Yim Chun Leung
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In accordance with articles 105(A) and 105(B) of the Articles, Mr. Shi
Kancheng, Ms. Jin Ni and Ms. Tang Yiyan will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (the “AGM”).

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the transactions as disclosed in notes 2 and 31 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” of the Prospectus and the supplemental
prospectus dated 30 June 2014 (“Supplemental Prospectus”), there was
no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries or its
holding company was a party and in which a Director is or was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of
the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 64 to 68 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Ms. Jin Ni, and Ms. Tang Yiyan, all being executive Directors, has
entered into a service contract with the Company pursuant to which she
agreed to act as the executive Director for a term of three years with effect
from 31 May 2014.

Mr. Dong Shuixiao, being the executive Director, has entered into a service
contract with the Company pursuant to which he agreed to act as the
executive Director for a term of three years with effect from 16 June 2015.

Mr. Shi Kancheng, being non-executive Director, has been appointed for
an initial term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014.

Each of Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung,
all being independent non-executive Directors, has been appointed for an
initial term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014.
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No Director (including the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the
AGM) has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. Details of the Directors’ remuneration during the year under review
is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the directors and chief
executive or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
as compensation for loss of office.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in
the future years as of 31 December 2016.

The band of the remuneration of senior management personal and related
number of members of senior management personnel are as follows:
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Number of Number of

Remuneration band (RMB) FEAAR (ARE) individuals Individuals
AE AEL

Nil to 500,000 = £500,000 3 3
500,001 to 1,000,000 500,00121,000,000 1 1

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of the Company, the Company had a permitted
indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance) in force for the benefit of the Directors throughout the year
under review and as at the date of approval of this report of the Directors,
pursuant to which the Company shall indemnify any Director against any
liability, loss suffered and expenses incurred by the Director in connection
with any legal proceedings in which he is involved by reason of being
a Director, except in any case where the matter in respect of which
indemnification is sought was caused by the fraud or dishonesty of the
Directors. The Company has maintained insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors
arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed
on an annual basis. During the year under review, no claims were made
against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:
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Name of Approximate

Group member/ percentage of

Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/nature of interest Number of share(s) held shareholding

AEEREAR/

EEp BREEER 28 +-1:3:1 RO EE REBNED
(Note 1)
(Hist 1)

Mr. Shi Kancheng The Company Interest of controlled corporations 1,301,303,594 shares of 74.95%
(Nofe 2 HK$0.10 each (L)
MR E AN EHEER S (Hi22) 1,301,308,594% 5 Az &
010 TRIA(L)

Zhong An Interest of controlled corporation 1,628,760,000 shares of 69.35%
(Note 3) HK$0.10 each (L)
RL RELVEENES (#53) 1,628,760,0008% % % [ &

Beneficial owner (Note 4)

Eu#EA (Hitd)

Whole Good Beneficial owner
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8 O China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report

010 TTRH (L)

5,183,720 shares 0.22%
of HK$0.10 each (L)
5,183, 720/ BIRE(E
0108 TR A (L)

1 share of US$1.00 (L) 100%
1R EE1.00ETRA (L)



Name of Director

Name of
Group member/
associated corporation

Capacity/nature of interest
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of share(s) held shareholding

I B3/ HERHY FsRGEE REBABD L
(Note 1)
(Hizt1)

Ms. Jin Ni Zhong An Beneficial owner (Note 5) 1,861,240 shares of 0.08%
HK$0.10 each (L)
SlRLT RL BRBEFA(Hits) 1,861,240 B IR E E
0.10% T2 (L)

Mr. Dong Shuixiao Zhong An Beneficial owner (Note 6) 1,861,240 shares of 0.08%
HK$0.10 each (L)
BREE RL BERBEFA(Hit6) 1,861,240 IR E A
010 TRIA(L)

Ms. Tang Yiyan Zhong An Beneficial owner (Note 7) 300,000 shares of 0.01%
HK$0.10 each (L)
Blafat BE BERBEEAN(ME7) 300,000 Bk &
0.10B TR (L)

Notes: et -

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares and underlying 1. FHILIARRZALRAARSNE BB EEERD
shares of the Company or the relevant associated corporation. RABBRGOITE -

2. Among these 1,301,303,594 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company 2. P S R A 8)1,301,303,594% & B {E0.1078 7T 2
(“Shares”), 1,270,000,000 Shares are held by Ideal World Investments Limited AT ([R% () A E#1,270,000,0000% % {5 B
(“Ideal World”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An. The entire issued shares ZH) 2 &K JE A R]ldeal World Investments Limited
of Zhong An are owned as to about 69.35% by Whole Good Management (Tdeal World ] ) %578 - REE 2R EHITRHO B 2L
Limited (217 &2 B R A 7)) (‘Whole Good”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Shi BEAERARA([247]) (BEMRKEEL2EER)
Kancheng. In addition, 31,303,594 Shares are held by Whole Good. By virtue of 5 #969.35% © It 5+ 31,303,5040% 1% 19 fh & 47 4%
the SFO, Mr. Shi Kancheng is taken to be interested in the Shares in which each o RIEEF LSRN MR L AR AR deal
of Ideal World and Whole Good is interested. World &% 247 & B B B m RGO B R -

3. These shares are held by Whole Good. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Shi Kancheng 3. I ERGBHE R  RIEFHFRBEEM - MK
is deemed to be interested in the shares of Zhong An in which Whole Good is EEHEARBUMBENRZRD P EE -
interested.

4. These shares represent the underlying shares in Zhong An comprised in the 4. I ER M ENRZ MBS (BIENIREN200945
options granted to and held by Mr. Shi Kancheng pursuant to its share option R158 ERA K g A A 5 & 13 BE AT K 45 AR 3% 1 S FR B
scheme adopted on 15 May 2009. FEFRBOERE) -

5. These shares represent the underlying shares in Zhong An comprised in the 5. R BN R L RBEIRD (B IR REN2009%E5

options granted to and held by Ms. Jin Ni pursuant to its share option scheme
adopted on 15 May 2009.
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6. These shares represent the underlying shares in Zhong An comprised in the
options granted to and held by Mr. Dong Shuixiao pursuant to its share option
scheme adopted on 15 May 2009.

7. These shares represent the underlying shares in Zhong An comprised in the
options granted to and held by Ms. Tang Yiyan pursuant to its share option

scheme adopted on 15 May 2009.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had or were deemed under the SFO
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Supplemental Prospectus and
the transactions as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, no controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries has any
contract of significance with the Company or its subsidiaries during the
year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, Supplemental Prospectus and
in this annual report, no contracts of significance concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during the
year under review.

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

The Company has received the written confirmation from Ideal
World, Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr. Shi Kancheng (collectively,
the “Controlling Shareholders”) in respect of the compliance with
the provisions of the non-compete undertakings (“Non-compete
Undertakings”), entered into between the Controling Shareholders and
the Company as set out in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders — Non-compete Undertakings” of the Prospectus
during the year under review.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed and confirmed
that the Controlling Shareholders have complied with the Non-compete
Undertakings and the Non-compete Undertakings has been enforced by
the Company in accordance with its terms during the year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”, at no time
during the period under review were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2016, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than a Director or the chief executive of the
Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying
Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

Name of shareholder Capacity/nature of interest Number of Shares held capital

HERARBE#IT

RERE B B1ip M E FERGEE BRAEB DL
(Note 1)
(Htzt 1)

|deal World Beneficial owner 1,270,000,000 Shares (L) 73.15%
E@EAA 1,270,000,000 A% %17 (L)

Zhong An Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,270,000,000 Shares (L) 73.15%
& REEE e ER (fiE2) 1,270,000,000 A& A% 17 (L)

Whole Good Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,270,000,000 Shares (L) 73.15%
2 4f ZEsEEEER (f772) 1,270,000,000 A% %17 (L)

Beneficial owner 31,303,594 Shares (L) 1.80%
EmlEAA 31,308,594 BE R 15 (L)

FESB A EERERAAF

—E-AEEFER
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Notes:
1. The Letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. These Shares are held by Ideal World, the wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An.
The entire issued shares of Zhong An are owned as to about 69.35% by Whole
Good, which is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Kancheng. By virtue of the SFO, each
of Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr. Shi Kancheng is taken to be interested in the

Shares in which Ideal World is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, other than the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company whose interests are set
out in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” above, no person had interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were required
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 31 to the financial statements.

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 31 to the financial
statements also constituted continuing connected transactions. During
the year under reviewed, the Group has conducted the following
continuing connected transaction which was required to be disclosed
pursuant to Chapter 14A and Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules:
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As disclosed in the Prospectus under the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions”, pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement
(as defined in the Prospectus) dated 16 March 2014 and entered into
between Yuyao Zhong’an Property Co., Ltd.* (R R BEBR A7)
(“Yuyao Zhong’an Property”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of Zhong An, and Yuyao Zhongan Times Square Property Co., Ltd.* (5
BRLZRRESEEAGRAA) (“Yuyao Times Square Property”), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Yuyao Zhong’an
Property was appointed as the exclusive project manager for the overall
management and supervision of the ongoing construction, development
and sales of the Times Square Residential Portion. For other major terms
and conditions of the Cooperation Agreement, please refer to the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions — Cooperation Agreement”
in the Prospectus and Supplemental Prospectus for details. Pursuant the
Cooperation Agreement, i) unsold apartments under the Times Square
Residential Portion as of 30 June 2016 (“‘Unsold Apartments”); and ii)
the net sales proceeds under the Cooperation Agreement should be
transferred or paid by the Group to Yuyao Zhong'an Property on 30 June
2016.

Due to the temporary suspension of the property construction works prior
to the 2016 G20 Hanzhou Summit and other reasons, there was a delay
in completion of the development of the Times Square Residential Portion.
Prior to the completion of development of the Times Square Residential
Portion, building ownership certificates could not be issued for such
residential apartments, hence could not be transferred to Yuyao Zhong’an
Property. A waiver dated 1 July 2016 from Yuyao Zhong'an Property
has been received by the Group, pursuant to which Yuyao Zhong'an
Property has agreed to waive its rights under the Cooperation Agreement
in light of the breach of Cooperation Agreement by the Group, subject
to the completion of transfer of i) Unsold Apartments; and ii) unpaid net
proceeds under the Cooperation Agreement as of 30 June 2016 by the
Group to Yuyao Zhong’an Property on or before 31 December 2017. As
at the date of this report, no proceeds was paid by the Group to Yuyao
Zhong'an Property.
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Confirmation of independent non-executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Cooperation
Agreement and confirmed that the transaction has been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(8)  according to the Cooperation Agreement on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation of auditors of the Company

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Cooperation Agreement in accordance with Practice Note 740
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ernst & Young has issued its unqualified letter containing
their findings and conclusions in respect of the Cooperation Agreement in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions required to
be disclosed as non-exempt connected transactions or non-exempt
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules
during the year under review. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Reasons for entering into contractual arrangements

According to the Regulations on the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises promulgated by the State Council of
the People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) (‘PRC State Council”) on 11
December 2001, which were subsequently amended on 10 September
2008, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50% equity
interests of a foreign-invested company that operates value-added
telecommunications business, including internet content provision
services. In addition, a foreign investor who invests in the value-added
telecommunications business of a foreign enterprise must possess prior
experience in operating value-added telecommunications businesses and
has proven track record of business operations overseas (“Qualification
Requirement”). As the Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability, all the member companies of the Group controlled
by the Company through holding a majority of the interests or equity
interests are deemed to be foreign-invested enterprises and cannot apply
for telecommunications and information service operation licence (“ICP
Licence”).

With the above restrictions, through Run Zhou (Zhejiang) Hotel
Management Company Limited CEM CHT)B/EE R AR A F) (‘Run
Zhou Zhejiang”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a series of agreements with Hangzhou Teng Ce Information
Technology Company Limited (#/1 igE5K & EHE B R A R]) (“Teng Ce”),
Hangzhou Ming Sheng Enterprise Management Company Limited ( it/
ZRLEERARAT) ("Ming Sheng”), Mr. Xu Pengsheng (“Mr. Xu”)
and Mr. Li Xiaolong (“Mr. Li”), pursuant to which, the Company obtained
the actual controlling interests of Teng Ce and all the economic benefits
arising from all the existing operating businesses of Teng Ce (“Contractual
Arrangements”). The Contractual Arrangements allow the financial results
of Teng Ce to be consolidated in the financial statements of the Group, as
if it is a wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

Business overview under Contractual Arrangements and the
importance of relevant business to the Group

Teng Ce holds the ICP Licence that is required for operating an
e-commerce platform and is permitted to operate information service
business in value-added telecommunications business (only to the extent
of internet information service). The validity period of the ICP Licence is
up to 30 August 2020. Zhong An Homestay Travel Web launched under
the Group is running its operation by relying on the ICP Licence held by
Teng Ce and will obtain economic benefits therein through the Contractual
Arrangements.
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Information of Teng Ce

Teng Ce is a company established in the PRC with limited liability. As at
the date of the report, Ming Sheng is the sole shareholder of Teng Ce,
holding 100% equity interests, and Mr. Xu and Mr. Li in turn hold 90% and
10% equity interests respectively in Ming Sheng. Neither Mr. Xu nor Mr. Li
is the shareholder, director or other connected person of any members of
the Group.

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Company and as
confirmed by Mr. Xu and Mr. Li, other than the operation and provision of
services contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements, for the year
ended 31 December 2016 and as at the date of the report, Teng Ce has
no significant business operation nor purchased any material assets. The
online services of the Group have not yet generated any revenue.

Principal terms of the relevant agreements under Contractual
Arrangements

As at the date of the report, the agreements entered into under the
Contractual Arrangements include:

1. Entrusted Management and Technical Service Agreement

On 25 June 2015, Run Zhou Zhejiang, Teng Ce, Ming Sheng, Mr.
Xu and Mr. Li signed the Entrusted Management and Technical
Service Agreement, pursuant to which, Ming Sheng, Mr. Xu and
Mr. Li agreed to pass Teng Ce to Run Zhou Zhejiang to manage
on an exclusive basis and allow Run Zhou Zhejiang to provide the
technology support and technical services to Teng Ce to operate its
business.

The validity period of the agreement will be valid indefinitely from the
date of signing, unless (1) Run Zhou Zhejiang has discharged the
agreement in advance unilaterally, or (2) on the day that Run Zhou
Zhejiang has acquired all the equity interests or assets of Teng Ce
completely according to the Exclusive Option Agreement, or (3)
Teng Ce has declared bankrupt or dissolved according to the PRC
law and regulations. Unless otherwise required by the PRC law and
regulations, Teng Ce, Ming Sheng, Mr. Xu and Mr. Li have no right
to terminate or discharge the agreement unilaterally.
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During the term of the agreement, the entrusted management
fee shall be calculated subject to the financial position of Teng
Ce. Under the premise of complying with the then PRC laws
and regulations, the relevant service fees shall be calculated
according to the PRC accounting standards, which will be the
surplus after deducting the prior year losses, necessary operating
costs, expenditures and taxation. Teng Ce shall pay the entrusted
management fee for the month before the 20th day of next month.
The aforesaid monthly entrusted management fee shall be adjusted
once after the end of each quarter but before filing the tax return
(quarterly adjustment) to allow the profit after tax of Teng Ce for
the quarter to become zero. Furthermore, the aforesaid monthly
entrusted management fee shall be adjusted after the end of each
accounting year but before the filing of tax return for the year (yearly
adjustment) to allow the profit after tax of Teng Ce for the year to
become zero.

Shareholder Proxy Agreement

On 25 June 2015, Run Zhou Zhejiang and Ming Sheng signed the
Shareholder Proxy Agreement, pursuant to which, Ming Sheng
agreed to designate and authorize Run Zhou Zhejiang (and persons
delegated by Run Zhou Zhejiang) unconditionally and irrevocably to
exercise exclusively all the shareholder rights in Teng Ce in which
it is entitled to enjoy according to the PRC laws and regulations.
The agreement shall not be terminated before the completion of the
acquisition of all the shareholder interests or assets of Teng Ce by
Run Zhou Zhejiang.

In the event that Ming Sheng is in dissolution or the occurrence of
other conditions that may affect Ming Sheng in exercising the equity
interests rights in Teng Ce that are being held or controlled by it,
its successor or succeeding entity will be deemed to be a party to
the agreement, who will succeed and undertake all the rights and
obligations under the agreement.

Exclusive Option Agreement

On 25 June 2015, Run Zhou Zhejiang, Ming Sheng, Teng Ce, Mr.
Xu and Mr. Li signed the Exclusive Option Agreement, pursuant
to which, Ming Sheng and Mr. Xu and Mr. Li undertake that Run
Zhou Zhejiang has the irrevocable sole and exclusive call option,
and Run Zhou Zhejiang has the right to purchase all or part of the
equity interests of Teng Ce held by Ming Sheng or purchase all or
part of the assets of Teng Ce at any time at RMB10,000,000 or
the minimum price permitted by PRC laws and regulations when
exercising the right.
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The agreement will continue indefinitely after the parties to the
agreement have signed the same and become valid, unless Run
Zhou Zhejiang has notified other parties 30 days in advance to
terminate the agreement.

Intellectual Properties Licence Agreement

On 25 June 2015, Run Zhou Zhejiang and Teng Ce signed the
Intellectual Properties Licence Agreement, pursuant to which, Run
Zhou Zhejiang agreed to permit Teng Ce to use the intellectual
properties like website names and trademarks.

The licence fee under the agreement shall be at a certain
percentage of all the business revenue of the licensee (the specific
percentage will be determined subject to the negotiation between
the parties thereto according to the development and contribution
of the intellectual properties to the licensee’s business), such fee
shall be calculated on a quarterly basis and shall be paid by the
licensee to the licensor within 15 days after the end of each quarter.
If the licensor considers it necessary for the purpose of business
development of the licensee, the licensor has the right to decide to
reduce or waive all or part of licence fees payable by the licensee.

The agreement will continue to be valid indefinitely after becoming
effective, unless the licensor has notified the licensee 30 days in
advance to terminate the agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreement

On 25 June 2015, Run Zhou Zhejiang, Ming Sheng, Mr. Xu and
Mr. Li signed the Equity Pledge Agreement, pursuant to which,
Ming Sheng, Mr. Xu and Mr. Li agreed that they will pledge the
100% equity interests of Teng Ce owned by them to Run Zhou
Zhejiang as the pledge security for Ming Sheng, Mr. Xu and Mr. Li
to fully perform their respective obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements.

Unless otherwise have obtained the prior written consent from
Run Zhou Zhejiang, this agreement can only be discharged after
Ming Sheng, Mr. Xu, Mr. Li and Teng Ce have performed all their
obligations and contractual responsibilities under those Contractual
Arrangements and Ming Sheng, Mr. Xu, Mr. Li and Teng Ce have
paid the outstanding debts in full under those agreements and
obtained the written approval from Run Zhou Zhejiang.
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Online Information Publication Agreement

On 25 June 2015, Run Zhou Zhejiang and Teng Ce signed the
Online Information Publication Agreement, pursuant to which,
Run Zhou Zhejiang has entrusted Teng Ce to publish all kinds of
relevant business information regarding “Another Village”( X —¥F )
homestay that is being collected, compiled and produced by Run
Zhou Zhejiang at the Zhong Jia Le Homestay Travel Website ( F23X
LRERPEN) (http://www.zjlchina.com) operated by Teng Ce.

Run Zhou Zhejiang shall pay the information publication fees
of RMB240,000 in first year. From second year onwards, the
information publication fees can be adjusted but the adjustment
shall not be more than 5% of the fee in the previous year.

The agreement will continue indefinitely after the parties to the
agreement have signed the same and become effective, unless Run
Zhou Zhejiang has given notice 30 days in advance to terminate the
agreement.

Letter of Consent

On 25 June 2015, the successors of Mr. Xu and Mr. Li signed the
Letter of Consent respectively, pursuant to which, it is agreed that
Mr. Xu/Mr. Li to sign and perform all the agreements under the
Contractual Arrangements, and consented that in the event that
Mr. Xu/Mr. Li is declared missing, passed away, or declared passed
away, lost of civil capacity, discharge of marriage relationship or the
occurrence of other similar circumstances which render them to
be entitled to succeed, divide or escrow the rights and interests of
Mr. Xu/Mr. Li in Ming Sheng, then he will be subject to the terms of
those agreements and shall comply with those terms and procure
Ming Sheng and Teng Ce to completely and timely perform all
the obligations under those agreements, and agreed that under
the circumstances permitted by the PRC laws and regulations, in
the event that Run Zhou Zhejiang has requested Ming Sheng to
transfer the shareholder interests or assets in Teng Ce held by Ming
Sheng to Run Zhou Zhejiang or its designated entity or individual,
he will procure Ming Sheng to transfer the shareholder interests
or assets in Teng Ce held by Ming Sheng to Run Zhou Zhejiang
or its designated entity or individual at RMB10,000,000 or at the
minimum, price permitted by the PRC laws and regulations and
refund to the Company any consideration received as a result of the
transfer of those shareholder interests or assets.

6.
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8. Letter of Undertaking

On 26 October 2015, Ming Sheng, Mr. Xu and Mr. Li signed the
Letter of Undertaking, pursuant to which, if in the future, as a result
of the changes in PRC laws and regulations or policies which
rendered the agreements under the Contractual Arrangements
becomes invalid, being terminated/discharged or unable to perform,
then Mr. Xu, Mr. Li and Ming Sheng undertake that they shall
transfer the maximum percentage of the equity interest in Teng
Ce to Run Zhou Zhejiang that is permitted under PRC laws and
regulations at that time to be held by foreign investment in value-
added telecommunications businesses (internet information service
business) and the transfer price shall be determined based on
the minimum price permitted by PRC laws and regulations at that
time. If the occurrence of the above circumstances have resulted
that Run Zhou Zhejiang is unable to obtain the 100% of economic
interests of Teng Ce, then Mr. Xu, Mr. Li and Ming Sheng undertake
that they will compensate Run Zhou Zhejiang for all the economic
losses so caused.

Any party signing the agreement will be entitled to submit any disputes
that arise from the agreements to China International Economic and Trade
Arbitration Commission. The location of arbitration is in Shanghai, the
PRC. The verdict of the arbitration shall be final and has binding effects
on all parties. Each party also agreed that, prior to the formation of the
arbitration court or under suitable circumstances, Hong Kong Court,
Cayman lIslands Court, PRC Court and other courts with competent
jurisdiction where the Company and Teng Ce are located shall have the
competency to issue interim measures to support the arbitration.

During the reporting period, there is no material change regarding the
Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances adopted thereunder.
As there is no cancellation of the structural contract or the restriction
thereunder adopted under the Contractual Arrangements, none of the
above structural contracts are being discharged.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report

8. CEGE KD

20155F10 26 B &R IR HE - FTREEE
T GEFEK) - AR AR E R BE R AR SR
RESHERANTH T 2 Ml g
SRR AT REE FTRENER
A RN AT T8 5 fE i P BUA AR
REFINEREBEEEES (EBEEMR
TSR AL BIM M SR ROk i - 858 (E S
ZIE R P BRI E T AT REE S E
TE AN B AR A S BRI T R
ERHE 58 100% M4 BRI Z - 1Ro04E - AR
HRAERHEGRBEMNINT 2B E AL E R
BAEIB K

AT TN — T B R R M E £ R T
MFRREIGTEBREEESTHREZE G - F
B ETE LG - REREZRKERATE
FERBHRN T IRRAE 1 E AR A AT
FEEENBFNT  BRER HEREER F
BOERE - AR A DB R ERAE R EERR
AT 78 1 i 5 B DA ST RS R BBV HE 7T o

RBmERE A ORHR /R BEEERH 2R
MRESAED AN EEBRAAORHET
ZEBERQHBERIES K 2 RHIRMIER - B
B DR AR IS QWRER -



Risks and countermeasures relevant to Contractual Arrangements

1.

Legal risk

There exist significant uncertainties and restrictions in the
interpretation and application of the PRC laws and regulations that
regulate the operation of value-added telecommunications services.
The PRC Government can determine regulations that are not
applicable for the Contractual Arrangements adopted by the Group,
or those regulations or their interpretation may change in the future,
then the Group may be exposed to penalties, including shutting
down of its website or being compelled to give up the businesses
interests.

All the agreements under Contractual Arrangements have been
reviewed by PRC legal adviser and legal opinions are issued,
confirming that the Contractual Arrangements have fully complied
with suitable PRC laws and regulations, and they are not under
the circumstance of “concealing illegal intentions in a lawful form”
as stated in Article 52 under the Contract Law (“Contract Law”)
of PRC, nor there exists other circumstance that may result the
agreements become invalid as stated in Article 52 under Contract
Law. As for the Foreign Investment Law of the People’s Republic
of China (Draft for Comments) (“Foreign Investment Law Draft For
Comments”) promulgated by Ministry of Commerce of the PRC
(“MOFCOM”) on 19 January 2015, the PRC legal adviser is of the
view that, prior and subsequent to the official promulgation and
implementation of Foreign Investment Law Draft For Comments, it
will not result any adverse effect to the Contractual Arrangements.

The Company will pay close attention regarding the development
and changes of the relevant PRC laws and regulations during the
subsisting period of the Contractual Arrangements, seek PRC legal
adviser opinion regularly and take positive response to the adverse
impacts caused by the PRC laws and regulations.

Control risk

The operational control under Contractual Arrangements may not
as effective as those interests that are directly-owned. If Teng Ce
and its shareholders are unable to perform the obligations under the
Contractual Arrangements and actions of default have occurred,
the Group shall seek for remedies according to the PRC laws and
regulations, and these remedies may result significant litigation
costs and distract the time and manpower and material resources
of the management of the Group in managing its ordinary business.
Furthermore, the Group is yet in the position to determine whether
the remedies to the contract are effective and sufficient to carry out
its interests.

1.
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As permitted under PRC laws and regulations, the Company
will utilize the rights granted to the Group under Contractual
Arrangements to acquire the equity interests of Teng Ce, discharge
Contractual Arrangements, hold Teng Ce through direct interests
and apply for continuing the operation of the value-added
telecommunications services. In the event that PRC laws and
regulations may not allow the Company to continue the value-
added telecommunications services, the Company may engage
other entities that hold ICP licences to continue the operation of the
online business, such move may increase the operation costs but
will not exert significant financial burden to the Group.

Compliance risk

If Teng Ce is unable to obtain and maintain the necessary
assets, licences and approvals as required under the regulatory
environment for internet content provider business in the PRC, the
homestay business of the Group may be significantly and adversely
affected.

According to the currently applicable PRC laws and regulations,
in providing its existing service, Teng Ce must obtain and maintain
certain assets relevant to its business and obtain appropriate
licences and approvals from the relevant regulatory authorities.
Those assets and licences are extremely important for operating
the internet content provider business, which in general is subject
to annual review (“Annual Review”) by the relevant government
authorities. If Teng Ce is unable to pass the Annual Review, it will
be subject to various penalties, including but not limited to fine,
termination and restriction of business operation, in which it will
directly affect the business development, financial position and
operating results of the Group.

Run Zhou Zhejiang will actively perform the contents of the
“Entrusted Management and Technical Service Agreement”, provide
technology support and technical service in relation to its business
operation, strengthen asset custody and maintenance and strive to
drive the operation management of Teng Ce to meet the standards
required by relevant government agencies.
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Qualification Requirement

It is the intention of the Group to unwind the Contractual Arrangements
and obtain all the necessary and relevant licences for its business
operation as soon as possible after it is allowed to operate the business
under the relevant PRC laws and regulations without Contractual
Arrangements. Currently, there is no applicable PRC law, regulation or rule
that provides clear guidance regarding Qualification Requirement. Despite
the lack of clear guidance and interpretation on Qualification Requirement,
through Run Zhou Zhejiang, the Group is directly involved in the operation
management of e-commerce business under Teng Ce’s name, with
experience accumulating gradually for the purposes of being qualified and
eligible as and when appropriate. The Group can unwind the Contractual
Arrangements and acquire all the equity interests of Teng Ce when PRC
laws and regulations permit foreign investors to invest in the value-added
telecommunications enterprises in the PRC.

Opinion of the Independent Non-executive
Directors

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that, for the year ended 31 December 2016,
(1) the transactions conducted in that year were entered into according to
the relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements; (2) no dividends
or other distributions have been paid which will not be otherwise assigned
or transferred to the Group thereafter.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
organized by the PRC municipal and provincial government authorities
for the Group’s eligible employees in the PRC, and operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of
these retirement plans are set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year under review, the Group had no charitable contribution
expenses (2015: approximately RMB100,000).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year under review, the Company repurchased on the Stock
Exchange a total of 1,880,000 shares pursuant to the general mandate
granted by the shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 20
May 2015. Details of share repurchase were as follows:—

BERAm

REBEFERN AEBEZRZERI L (20154
#95 AR ¥100,0007T) °

R HEXREFLFAE
TEF

REBEFEAN ANRQRIRER2015F5520H 82
TZBRRAFAE ERER T —AIRE R
R FTA FLEE[611,880,0008% i1 - BREFEBEHHI0
T~

Number of

shares Highest Lowest Total
repurchased price paid price paid paid

Month/year BB E BB E BRER BRER
of repurchase B/ &% BHEE (&S) (BRIK) REHAEE
HKD HKD HKD
BT BT AT
May/2016 58 /20164 1,880,000 4.32 412 7,929,282
Total #Et 1,880,000 7,929,282

All shares repurchased were cancelled and accordingly the Company’s
issued share capital was reduced by the nominal value of these shares.
The repurchases were effected for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole by enhancing the value of the net assets and
earnings per share of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR UNDER
REVIEW

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 11
January 2017. On 11 January 2017, Zhejiang Zhongan Shenglong
Commercial Co., Ltd. (“Zhong An Shenglong”), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a memorandum of
understanding (“MOU”) with Hangzhou Oriental Culture Tourism Group
Co., Ltd (“Hangzhou Oriental”) in relation to the proposed acquisition by
Zhong An Shenglong of 42.5% of the entire equity interests in Zhejiang
Xinnongdou Industrial Co., Ltd (“Zhejiang Xinnongdou”) from Hangzhou
Oriental (“Proposed Acquisition”). The proposed consideration for the
Proposed Acquisition is expected to be about RMB700 million, which
will be settled partly by cash and partly by the issue of new shares in the
Company. The consideration for the Proposed Acquisition will be further
negotiated, which is to be determined by reference to the net asset value
of Zhejiang Xinnongdou as shown in its audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 and adjusted by
the parties based on the results of the due diligence review. Under the
MOU, Zhong An Shenglong has paid a refundable earnest deposit in the
amount of RMB127 million to Hangzhou Oriental. The principal activities
of Zhejiang Xinnongdou and its subsidiaries are the development,
construction and management of logistics center for agricultural
products. The entering into of the MOU allows the Group to capture the
business and development opportunities arising from the demand for
modern logistics platform for agricultural products due to the continued
urbanisation, economic growth and improvement in living standards of
the residents in the Yangtze River Delta region and thereby may boost the
revenue of the Group.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retired and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

On Behalf of the Board of
China New City Commercial Development Limited

Shi Kancheng
Chairperson

The Hong Kong, 27 March 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
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To the shareholders of China New City Commercial Development
Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New City
Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 99 to 238, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

HMEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ESMAERARENER

Classification and valuation of investment properties

REYESERIGE

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s investment properties
amounted to RMB5,368 million which represents 47.5% of
the Group’s total assets. Management is required to exercise
significant judgement in determining the classification and
valuation of investment properties as disclosed in note 3 to the
consolidation financial statements.

M2016F12A31H SEREMERARY
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For the valuation of investment properties, our audit
procedures included verifying those signed rental contracts,
comparing the unit price of adjacent similar properties that
was benchmarked in the valuation process, assessing
assumptions related to future market rents, the discount
rates and future maintenance costs applied based on
historical experiences with the involvement of our internal
valuation specialists, who focused on term yield, reversionary
yield and market unit rent. We also assessed the adequacy
of the disclosures of the assumptions to which the outcome
of the valuation result is most sensitive in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Key audit matter

HMEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ESTMARRARENER

The Group determines whether completed properties held for
sale and properties under development should be transferred
to investment properties based on various criteria, such as
the business plan to hold the properties for rental income and
appreciation, the Group’s resources to hold and manage the
investment properties and the approval from the Board of
Directors for the change of use. No completed properties held
for sales or properties under development were transferred
to investment properties in the current year. The Group
engaged an external valuation expert to perform the valuation
of investment properties. The valuation methods applied
included the direct comparison approach and income approach
which involved various assumptions, such as estimated
rental revenues, discount rates, occupancy rates, historical
transactions and market knowledge.
ERBETREHECE R MERAERMERTEES
REMEENSIAGRE  NFH Z S AMEE © WA K&
ENEBE BESEEREREEREMENERNRESR
ReEERSIE - HESIFHE ZE BN ENBREPYE
ERAFEANEBREREYX . BXBECEFIDEEER
NETIREVMEME - RAZHEREEFEEHLERS R
ZIRHB WAL BIEMGFTHSUA FrEE  HEE B
25 R T % FH o

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.
MR ESH N B mEM T3R8 -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ESMABRARENER

Net realisable value of completed properties held for sale and properties under development

FHERHEZ EEHMER ZEREPYEZ A EHFE

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s properties under
development and completed properties held for sale amounted
to RMB3,555 million which represents 31% of the Group’s total
assets. These properties were stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The net realisable value was estimated by
management based on expected selling prices, the cost of
completion of properties under development, and the costs to
be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
condition. The estimation of the net realisable value involved a
significant of judgment.
M20165F12A31H - &HEHE
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The related disclosures are included in notes 3, 14 and note 20
to the consolidated financial statements.
HEEBERHNGRE T HHMERNES - 14 XM 5F20 -

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN

THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
in doing so,

our responsibility is to read the other information and,

We reviewed the Group’s net realisable value estimation,
checked the expected selling prices to the Group’s similar
properties presold recently or the prices of adjacent
properties sold For cost of completion of properties
under development and the cost to be incurred in selling
the properties, we evaluated management’s estimation
methodology, which has been updated to reflect the latest
historical information and the refined construction and selling
costs budget process.
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consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE
DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
T8 S A B

ERBEEEEENETENNBRES  BIE
BT EEHAE RS TERIREREE BT

o RRIMFHEARRFFRERMEBREY
Wiﬁ%«%?&éﬁf MBS AR - BREH R
TTEFRA ARG LR  ARERT R
MEEWBETRE (FARMELNER-
MREREFA RS B R RE ERER
FERERA - OB AERES 2 £ iR
AE B IR R HRFF T B By B AR AR B A9 L
RENAREEREAERMNERAERER

BR L O L2 o

o TEREZRIHBNANEES  URFHEED
B2 BEMIAEY BERERERES
MAEMIEERER

o FEEEMRASHERENREMEREL
GAHAETAMEREREN S -

s HEERAHELESHERNNREMIE
HEw REFMENNESRE BERS
FHEEFEEKBEREBHNERTHEEME
M ERY BEEREMNFELERD
EEBREE - MRLFIRB/FEEANTE
m& AV ERERBMBETIRFEAE

BERAVBRTOERKE - REEREN
E%TE AIMEEERIFEREE
PSR E RN R BEN RS B LIS
HYZERT/RAE - AT RRFHKIF N AL E
B ERETHERELE-

. FHEBARE ISR ERMERREYIHR A - A
NA BREEE URGETERERESST
BRMRZSHFEE-

qﬂl%ﬁﬁmﬁ%gfﬁéé% 103



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
P8 A B

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Philip Leung, Wai Lap.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
27 March 2017

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report

© B ERERNERSEBIDOHBER
ERER % HBHRE AEYEAY

BHREABERER -BMBEE BEREEIN
FA - EEMBIT - HMAEFBRAER
FIERE

BREMEREIN RPEBAZESERTEN
EiTEE BERH EARMERS  BREEM
FERET R R H A AR ) B (2 ] E R ERBA

BMEMEFZESRIBH SHARMESTE
BRBEIMEMARERBEBRESR YROFER
BRESEIEA RS ERMBILIENAER
FEMEMER UREERNERT B0
HHEHE

ftRFEFZESBANFET RABTHLS
BHARG SV BHREANEARRER  AME
PR AT F IR - B R BB R P e a E L
R BIFERERTIAFARKEELER
FEBBERNBERAT  MREEFARERIIR
ERABRFHRAKNNAARRBBELENAR
M BIPRETNEEREPBBZER

AR AZ SRS MBS IE B A % A ZPhilp
LEUNG, Wai Lap °

RKEET RIS
X

"B
201743 A27H



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AT H AR AR

Year ended 31 December 2016 #Z2016F12831H IEFE

2016 2015
20164 20154
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Byt AR®BT R ARBTT
Revenue PN 5 858,371 503,986
Cost of sales SHE AR (533,380) (324,542)
Gross profit EF 324,991 179,444
Other income and gains H AU A R Was 5 16,832 256,899
Selling and distribution expenses SHE MR X (80,142) (55,176)
Administrative expenses THAX (107,503) (109,165)
Other expenses Hips (11,232) (752)
Fair value gain upon transfer to HBEEREMEDN
investment properties N EERZ 13 - 796,581
Changes in fair value of HEMEHRABEE
investment properties 13 124,994 29,414
Finance costs % E A 7 (2,218) (19,602)
Share of profits and losses of: Db M g 1R
Joint venture —EEE DA 17 (15) (2,208)
Profit before tax RRBE AT A 6 265,707 1,075,435
Income tax expense g > 10 (128,642) (324,265)
Profit for the year FERARHE 137,065 751,170
Attributable to: AT BEAL
Owners of the parent UNEIE Y =D\ 147,042 740,337
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR R = (9,977) 10,833
137,065 751,170
Earnings per share attributable AREEERERERA
to ordinary equity holders EHERAER
of the parent 11
Basic AR ARH¥8S AR #4359
Diluted g ARH¥8S AR #4355
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CON SOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

»W ] _gﬁ\ﬁq&ﬁﬁi%

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 12831 H IEFE

2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERARHE 137,065 751,170
Other comprehensive income Hith 2wk =
Other comprehensive income to be REMEFEN S EEEZED
reclassified to profit or loss Hfth 2 s
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation DG INETFRIIE K AR
of foreign operations (8,185) 11,248
Net other comprehensive income REMBEEFTHIEZEEN
to be reclassified to profit or loss HEfh 2wk F5E
in subsequent periods (8,185) 11,248
Total comprehensive income FRE2ENHLEHE
for the year 128,880 762,418
Attributable to: DT EEAL
Owners of the parent NEER A 138,857 751,585
Non-controlling interests JEVERER (9,977) 10,833
128,880 762,418

China New City Commercial Development Limited

2016 Annual Report




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A o B B AR DL AR

31 December 2016 2016512H31H

31 December 31 December
2016 2015
20164 20164
12H31H 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 ARBT T ARBEF T
Non-current assets FnBEE
Property and equipment L EYEL 12 1,340,238 161,563
Investment properties "EYE 13 5,129,937 5,244,100
Properties under development FEERYE 14 1,332,915 2,909,524
Available-for-sale investments AIEHERE 15 28,300 3,300
Long term prepayments RHEITER 16 311,265 15,360
Investments in a joint venture R—HEEERTIMNIEE 17 759 774
Deferred tax assets RIETHIEE E 18 11,089 19,289
Restricted cash SR HIIR % 23 118,231 90,100
Total non-current assets RIEREEE 8,272,734 8,444,010
Current assets REBEE
Completed properties held for sale BIEHEER I 20 1,232,200 1,361,490
Properties under development R 14 990,130 312,676
Inventories BrE 9,439 4,358
Trade receivables FEWE 5 R 21 19,642 15,321
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables¥a < 5 E’&i&
H A e H R 22 102,354 90,343
Amount due from a related company & U — 5] 8 Hﬁﬁ“/} RIE 31 80,067 66,534
Restricted cash EREIRE 23 46,258 50,794
Cash and cash equivalents RekBAEZEEY 23 208,308 947,638
Investment properties classified DERFEHEEZ
as held for sale "HEYE 13 237,813 -
Total current assets BRENEE 3,016,211 2,849,154
Current liabilities REERE
Trade payables FERTE SRR 24 726,999 823,192
Other payables and accruals HMERNFKIBERESER 25 115,816 158,838
Advances from customers BEMENMNK 26 308,120 160,852
Amounts due to related companies JFEIS A B ”D\ IR 31 268,200 1,200
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t B 8R1TE & H 4 &3 27 1,104,000 707,472
Tax payable JERT R IE 10 242,548 220,694
Total current liabilities BRBEE 2,765,683 2,072,248
Net current assets RBEEFHE 250,528 776,906
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBAE 8,523,262 9,220,916

PR A EERER AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ER A B IR DL

31 December 2016 20165 12831H

31 December 31 December
2016 2015
20164 20164
12H31H 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt ARETR ARBTT
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t B R1TE R N H &3 27 2,196,609 3,051,662
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFTE B (& 18 984,594 949,412
Total non-current liabilities WIEREEE 3,181,203 4,001,074
Net assets REE 5,342,059 5,219,842
Equity xR
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &R & HA AE(RERS
Share capital & A 28 138,034 138,183
Reserves & 30 5,033,619 4,901,276
5,171,653 5,039,459
Non-controlling interests IR RER 170,406 180,383
Total equity R 5,342,059 5,219,842
On behalf of the Board RERESFS
Dong Shuixiao Jin Ni
AR &k
Director Director
EE EF

1 O 8 China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

BRRREARL
Attributable to owners of parent
Share Statutory Exchange Non-
Share premium Capital Other surplus  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity

4 EE Ed
& HER RAGRE Rt BERRRE RBGE REEN B FERER L 3
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETr  ARETR  AR®Tn  ARETR  ARETn  ARETn  ARETr  ARETn  ARETx
Note 28 Notes 28 & 30(a) Note 30(b) Note 29 Note 30(c)
K8 ik 281300 K 30p) HiE 29 s 300)

At 1 January 2015 201551518 138,183 432,533 1,281,751 5974 81,716 225,261 2,122,456 4,287,874 169,560 4457 424
Proft for the year FREH - - - - - - 740,337 740,387 10833 751,170
Other comprehensive income for the year: £ AE 12 EHE:
Exchange differences related REBNEREEL
to foreign operations EiZE - - - - - 11,248 - 11,248 - 11,248
Total comprehensive income for the year  R2EMEEE - - - - - 11248 740,337 751,586 10833 762418
At 31 December 2015 20155124318 138,183 432,633 1,281,751 5974 81,716 236,509 2,862,793 5,039,459 180,383 5,219,842
Proftfo e year ERER - - - - - - 147,002 147,042 09T 137,065
Other comprehensive income for the year. %795 {62 fE:
Exchange differences related BEBNERELL
to foreign operations EiZE - - - - - (8,185) - (8,185) - (8,185)
Total comprehensive income for the year A2 4% - - - - - (8,185) 147,042 138,857 (0977) 128,880
Repurchase of shares BERR (149) (6,514) - - - - - (6,663) - 6,663)
At 31 December 2016 R2016E12A318 138,034 426,019 1,281,751* 5,074* 81,716* 228,324 3,009,835 5,171,653 170,406 5,342,059
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * WEREREFREVBRRARANGEREBEARE
RMB5,034,961,000 (2015: RMB4,901,276,000) in the consolidated statement of 5,034,961,0007T (20154 : A R #4,901,276,000
financial position. T e

a3 %ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁﬁ/ &l
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A Bl iR R

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z=2016F12A31 8 ILF[E

2016 2015
20164 20154
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt ARMT T ARBTT
Cash flows from operating activites (EEEXBENELHE
Profit before tax R A5t A AR 265,707 1,075,435
Adjustments for: -
Depreciation e 12 13,090 12,523
Fair value gain upon transfer to HEBEREMEN
investment properties N BEERE 13 - (796,581)
Changes in fair value of BEMENDAEELE
investment properties 13 (124,994) (29,414)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEREMEIBE 2BE/
investment properties (Yz=) 7,221 (1,409)
Share of profits and losses of a joint PME—EEEREE &
venture B8 17 15 2,208
Gain on disposal of joint ventures HESEQARZWE 5 - (125,954)
Finance costs VK ER 7 2,218 19,602
Interest income from joint ventures AENE 2 HEWA 5 - (115,633)
163,257 40,777
Decrease in properties under development 51 %% /1 47 2 58 76,155 140,780
Decrease/(increase) in completed BIEHEERTITWERD
properties held for sale (3m) 129,290 (514,554)
Increase in trade receivables FEULE 5 BRFIE N (4,321) (2,360)
Increase in prepayments, AR Re R EAmER
deposits and other receivables FRIEIE N (12,011) (43,986)
(Increase)/decrease in long term REATEA R (38 h0) R
prepayments (295,905) 3,301
Increase in inventories FEEM (5,081) (788)
Increase in restricted cash T8 £ P15 308 X PR 51138 & 18 1
for pre-sales proceeds (28,352) (1,323)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FERTE SR CRd) /38 m (96,193) 259,160
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and B i 1<t 7008 & fE 5+ B B
accruals CR),/ & (43,815) 32,069
Increase in advances from customers B P TENFE N 5,968 31,379
Cash used in operations REEREANRS (111,008) (55,545)
Interest paid BEATF & (268,212) (309,751)
Income tax and land appreciation tax paid & FT8 % K& £ 18 {E i (63,406) (18,477)
Net cash flows used in REEBEANESRETFE
operating activities (442,626) (383,773)

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EOBlEmER

VYear ended 31 December 2016 # Z2016%F12831H L F/E

2016 2015
2016F 20154
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Byt ARET T ARBTT
Cash flows from investing activities REXRELENRESRE
Purchase of available for sale investment ~ B& & A it HH £ & (25,000) -
Investment in a new joint venture H—HEFEERRZ’E - (800)
Interest received from a joint venture W —E&a & RRZHE - 145,402
Repayment from a joint venture —MEERAZER - 420,931
Loans to a joint venture m—EAEAFREZER - (30,000)
Proceeds from disposal of joint ventures HEAE QR ZFSHIEA - 170,000
Purchases of items of property HEMENMEKEIES
and equipment (117,328) (7,203)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HE Y R HEIE B TS RIE
property and equipment 94 962
Increase in investment properties LAY (60,794) (30,329)
Received from related companies EEL NI G 253,467 47,025
Proceeds from disposal of HER B ERSHRIE
investment properties 196,217 3,252
Decrease in restricted cash PR IR R 4,757 187
Net cash flows generated from REXEBELENEHLSRERE
investing activities 251,413 719,427
Cash flows from financing activities METHELENRESRE
New interest-bearing bank and FEr BRITER R HEMER
other borrowings 1,152,191 1,962,417
Repayment of interest-bearing BEFTERITER R EMEK
bank and other borrowings (1,610,716) (2,081,812)
Repurchase of shares B [0 f% 1 (6,663) -
Net cash flows used in METBREANRERERE
financing activities (465,188) (119,395)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRBESZEEY (D)
cash equivalents 2 hnFEER (656,401) 216,259
Cash and cash equivalents FReNESEED
at beginning of year 947,638 723,909
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [E R & g)a) 5 & - JF4E 7,071 7,470
Cash and cash equivalents FRRERRSEEY
at end of year 298,308 947,638
Analysis of balances of cash and RERBSEEYEHRIWN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances e RIRITE S 23 208,308 947,638

PRI EEEREELY
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 5 g A B i

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 12831 H IEFE

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

China New City Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands on 2 July 2013 under the Companies Law
(revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) were members of Zhong
An Real Estate Limited (“Zhong An”) and its subsidiaries (‘“Zhong
An Group”). Zhong An, the shares of which have been listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) since November 2007, is the holding company of
Zhong An Group.

The Group is principally engaged in commercial property
development, leasing and hotel operations.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”),
the ultimate holding company of the Company is Whole Good
Management Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands on 3 May 2007.

The Company has separately listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”) with stock code
“1321” on 10 July 2014 and raised capital amounted to HK$608
million from the market.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Percentage of equity

LFEKEREH (])

fE A RE
ARRWEA R FEDT

attributable to the Company
Place and date of AATEEREE AL
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal
Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2016 2015  activities
EMAY, TR
RRAER EXWERAH BTLE/ERRE 20165 20155 TEEH
Zhejiang Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 81% 81%  Property leasing
Development Xiaoshan Co.,Ltd.* 3 April 1997
HIRREHERLREERARY  FE/ AR AR2,000,0007C NERE
199744 A3H
Hangzhou White Horse Property PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% 90%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 27 June 2002
MMNESEHEREERAR. O B/ E R AR H50,000,0007 NERR
2002664278
Chunan Minfu Property Co., Ltd. © PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 100% 100%  Property development
24 October 2003
ERRBRFEEERAAY B/ E R AR 6,000,007 NERR
2003107248
Shanghai Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Property leasing
Development Co., Ltd. 19 January 2004
LERREHEREERARY HE/ R E R AR H10,000,0007 NERE
2004417198
Zhejiang Huijun Real Estate Co., Ltd. @ PRC/Mainland China US$77,600,000 99.7% 99.7%  Property development
1 April 2005
MTESEXERRAD HE/ R E R 77,600,000% 70 NERR
20054718
Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong Commercial PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 90% 90%  Property management
Buildings Co., Ltd. “ 20 September 2005
MNBREREEERARY HE/ R E R AR2,000,0007C NEER
2005494208
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 92.5% 92.5%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 16 March 2006
MNEIEHEREERAAY HE/ R E R AR H50,000,0007 NERR
2006437168
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

MELARTER (&)

Percentage of equity

1. AFRKEREH (&)

attributable to the Company
Place and date of AATEEREE AL
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal
Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2016 2015  activities
HEMRYL/ EMR
DEEHR BEBURAH BRTEE/HRRE 20165 20155 IEEH
Henlly Enterprise Management PRC/Mainland China US$149,061,280 100% 100%  Property development
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. @ 4 December 2006
BHMEEE (MM ARAR B/ E R, 149,061,280% ¢ NERR
200651248
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhong An Holiday PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Hotel management
Inn Co., Ltd. @ 28 May 2007
MMBLRRERABERRARY B/ E R, AR #10,000,0007C HEER
2007454286
Hangzhou Dehong New Constructions PRC/Mainland China US$29,900,000 100% 100%  Manufacture of
Materials Management Co., Ltd. " 1 February 2008 construction materials
MMERALEHERA T B/ E R, 29,900,000 7 BEMHLE
2008%2A1H
Hangzhou Huihong Investment PRC/Mainland China US$49,990,000 100% 100%  Investment management
Management Co., Ltd. 19 February 2008
MHEZREEBRERAA B/ E R, 49,990,000% 7 REER
2008424198
Hefei Zhong An Holiday Inn Co., Ltd. @ PRC/Mainland China RMB350,000,000 100% 100%  Hotel management
18 March 2008
ARRZBAEEERATY B/ E R, AR 350,000,007 EEER
2008%3A18H
Huijun Construction Materials Trading PRC/Mainland China US$12,000,000 100% 100%  Material trading
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. 16 July 2008
ESEHNEES (MM ERAR. O SE/ RERY 12,000,000 7 NHES
2008%7A16H
Hangzhou Fukai Management Co., Ltd. ®  PRG/Mainland China RMB500,000 90% 90%  Property management
2 March 2011
MMNENEEERERARY B/ B, AR #500,0007C NEER
20114328

1 1 4 China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report



CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

LFEKEREH (])

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

MEARER (&)

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company
Place and date of AATEEREE AL
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal
Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2016 2015  activities
HEMRYL/ EMR
DEEH EXMERAH RITEE/HERRE 20165 20155 IEEH
Zhejiang Zhong An Commercial Investment PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90%  Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd. 1 August 2011
HIRREEREERERAAY /R E R, AR 10,000,000 RERR
20116818
Hangzhou Zhong An Changhong PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 91.2% 91.2%  Investment holding
Investment Management Co., Ltd. © 26 August 2011
MMBRREREERBRAT /R E R, AR #1,000,0007 RAEZR
201148268
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 90% 90%  Property management
Commercial Management Co., Ltd. ® 6 December 2011
AUBRBRESHEEBERARNY  FE/EKML AR #2,000,0007 nEER
201161268
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Property management
Development Co., Ltd. 5 August 2013
ARBRERESHEBRATY /R E R AR #100,000,00070 nEER
2013%8A5H
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square Property PRC/Mainland China US$16,000,000 93% 93%  Property management
Co., Ltd. @ 13 August 2013
RERRBRESEEERAA? /R E R 16,000,000% 7T NEER
2013%8A13H
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% 90%  Property management
Commercial Co., Ltd. ¥ 9 September 2013
HIRRREREERAAY /R E R AR H50,000,0007 NEER
2013%9A9H
Qirui Commercial (Hangzhou) PRC/Mainland China US$14,900,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd. 18 October 2013
EIREEER (M) AR2A0 /R E R 14,900,000% 7T RERR
20136107182
Cixi Znong An Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% 90%  Property management
6 December 2013
BERREEERAAY /R E R, AR H50,000,0007 NEER
20131268

EPI%WXWF‘J’%?*F% RAE]
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

LAFEKERH (])

MEARTER (&)

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company
Place and date of AATEEREE AL
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal
Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2016 2015  activities
HEMRYL/ EMR
DEEHR BEBURAH BRTEE/HRRE 20165 20155 IEEH
Zhejiang Zhong An City Construction PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd. ¥ 17 December 2013
FTERTHTRRREERRA B/ E R, AR #100,000,00070 RAER
2013%F12/8178
Tonglu Xiaoyuanshan Wellness Investment  PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 76.5% 76.5%  Property management
Development Co., Ltd. @@ 31 March 2014
AENRLEEREREERAR. 0O HE/RERKM AR #100,000,00070 NEER
201443A31H
Hangzhou Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90% 90%  Property management
Liyumen Property Co., Ltd. ¢ 21 April 2014
MMBREREEEFIBEEERATY A/ E R, AR #20,000,0007C NEER
20144 A218
Taoranshan Wellness Co., Ltd. ©@¢ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% 90%  Hotel management
19 August 2014
BARILEEEBRARY B/ E R, AR #50,000,000 NEER
2014687198
Runzhou (Zhejiang) Hotel Management PRC/Mainland China USD2,000,000 100% 100%  Hotel management
Limited 27 November 2014
BN ORI BEEREBRAR A/ E R, 2,000,000% 7T AEER
2014F11 74278
Yuyao Lubu Zhong An Small Towns PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 2% 72%  Property management
Developments Co., Ltd. ©@® 11 December 2014
ARTRERZ MIARRER A/ R E R, AR #100,000,0007C NEER
BRARO® 201491273118
Hangzhou Lin'an You Yi Cun Homestay ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Hotel management
Investment Management Co., Ltd. ©® 26 December 2014
MMEZX-—BREREER A/ R E R, AR #10,000,0007C HEER
BRARO® 2014127268
Zhong An Tiandi Co., Ltd. ©® PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Investment management
23 March 2015
BERMBRAFO B/ E R, AR H#100,000,0007C REE®
2015434230

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. AFIREESZFH (&)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEBARESR (&)

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company
Place and date of AATEEREE AL
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal
Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2016 2015  activities
HEMRYL/ EMR
DAER BEBURAH BRTEE/HRRE 20165 20155 IEEH
Zhong An Homestay Development PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Hotel management
Co., Ltd. @@ 26 October 2015
FRRBEXZRERAFO /R E R, AR 100,000,007 EEER
20156107268
Hangzhou Xixi Huijin Property Co., Ltd. " PRC/Mainland China US$50,000,000 100% 100%  Property development
18 November 2015
MNEEESEEERAA" /R E R, 50,000,000% 7 NERR
2015%11A18H
Zhongan Movie and TV Culture PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90%  Movie and TV
Development Co., Ltd. @4 15 December 2015 development
BEFRNEBRBRRAIY /R E R, AR 100,000,007 90% 0% FRER
2015%124150
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Zhongchuang ~ PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 100% 100%  Health development
Health Co., Ltd. @ 29 December 2015
MM TERREIREERARCO /R E R, 30,000,000% 7 100% 100% REER
2015%12429R
Huijun (International) Holdings Limited © Hong Kong HK$100,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
4 March 2005
[E S8 (BB R A A &k 100,000/ 7T 100% 100%  ®EZER
200543748
Zhong An International Shipping Hong Kong HK$780,000 99.7% 99.7%  Shipping
(Hong Kong) Limited 11 November 2011
RZEEHRE (FE)ARAAY Bk 780,000 7T 99.7% 99.7% Mg
201111 /118
Pannix Industrial (HongKong) Limited©®  Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
15 September 2014
BEX (BB)BRAAC Bk 10,0007 100% 100% REER
201449A158
Hong Kong Time Honour Property Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited @ 15 September 2014
BERBHERRAFOY B 10,0007 100% 100% REER
201449A158

PRI HEZRARA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 12831 H IEFE

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

MELARTER (&)

Percentage of equity

1. AFRKEREH (&)

attributable to the Company
Place and date of AATEEREE AL
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal
Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2016 2015  activities
HEMRYL/ EMR
DEEHR BEBURAH BRTEE/HRRE 20165 20155 IEEH
Grand Sail International Trading Hong Kong HK$100,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited @ 15 September 2014
ERERES (FE)ERAFCH Bk 100,000/ 7 100% 100% BRERR
2014497158
Chaoyang International Trading Hong Kong HK$100,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited © ) 15 September 2014
HABERES () BRAFON Bk 100,000/ 7 100% 100% BRERR
201497158
Runzhou (HongKong) Hotel Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Management Limited © 15 September 2014
BN (BB EEERERARCY e 10,0004 7T 100% 100% HEER
201497158
State Smart Developments Limited © ) British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
8 July 2014
HRERAERAAYE REEAREE 1%L 100% 100% BRERR
20144%7A8H
Hui Sheng Global Limited @ British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
11 July 2014
ERREAERAFIY REEAREE 1%L 100% 100% BRERR
201467 /118
Shengda Developments Limited © ) British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
31 July 2014
BERRERAFIY REEAREE 1%L 100% 100% BRERR
2014677318
Time Honour Global Limited ©© British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
11 July 2014
BERIZERAAYH REEAREE 1%L 100% 100% BRERR
201467 /118
First Achiever Holdings Limited © British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
13 August 2014
BEERERAFC G REEAREE 1%L 100% 100% HRERR
201448138

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

1. FRKEREH (&)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEBARER (&)

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company

Place and date of AATEEREE AL
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal

Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2016 2015  activities
HEMRYL/ EMR

DEER BEBUREH BRTEE/HRRE 20165 20155 IEEH

Zhongjiale Tourism Co., Ltd @) Japan JPY5,010,000 100% 100%  Tourism management
21 December 2015

BREBREREGHOO BA 5,010,0008 7. 100% 100%  REBER
2015F124218

Capital Yield Global Limited ©©© British Virgin Islands US$1 100% N/A Investment holding
1 April 2016

MERBBRRFE 0O RBRERRES 1T 100% Bl REER
2016418

Easy Success Investments Limited @@ British Virgin Islands US$1 100% N/A" Investment holding
11 April 2016

SBEREBRRROE RBRERRES 1T 100% Bl REER
2016647118

Zhejiang Bairuite Hotel Management PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% N/A~ Hotel management

Co. Ltd. @e 19 May 2016

HIEREEEERARA 00 /R E R AR H10,000,0007 90% TER  BEER
2016454198

Easy Rich Corporation Limited @ © Hong Kong HK$1 100% N/A" Investment holding
1 April 2016

IEEREBRAR OO Bk T 100% TER REEBR
2016418

KCJ International Co., Ltd, @1 Japan JPY10,000,000 90% N/A Property development
9 May 2016

KCJBIRR IR Eritan BA 10,000,0008 7T 90% TER WEER
201645490

Zhong An Health Development Co., PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% N/A" Health development

Ltd. @@ 3 May 2016

RERREXERERAF 00O /R E R AR #100,000,0007C 90% TER  BERER

201645430

HEFRTEEERERAT
—E-AFEH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.

LAFEKERH (]&)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

MEARER (&)

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company
Place and date of AATEEREE AL
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Principal
Name of company registration and business registered share capital 2016 2015  activities
MR/ EMR
NAER BEBURAH BRTEE/HRRE 20165 20155 EEH
Ultra Nice International Limited @ © Hong Kong HK$1 100% N/A~ Investment holding
7 October 2016
LEBRERARGO® EE AT 100% Bl REER
2016610778
Hangzhou Zhong An Landscape PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100% N/A~ Movie and TV
Cinema Co.,Ltd @@ 5 May 2016 development
MHBRZIWKZRBRAFC O B/ E R, AR #1,000,0007 100% TR  FRER
201645450
Zhangzhou Zhongjia Commercial PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% N/A~ Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd. @@ 18 November 2016
MMBEEEEERBRARA O B/ E R, AR H50,000,0007 100% TEA  REER
2016117188
Zhejiang Shenglong Equity Investment and  PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100% N/A" Investment holding
Fund Management Co., Ltd.? ¢ 23 May 2016
WIREREREESER B/ B, AR #50,000,0007C 100% Bl  REER
BRRREEOH 201655 323H

China New City Commercial Development Limited

2016 Annual Report



1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Notes:

N/A  Not yet incorporated/established/acquired or liquidated by the Group

(a) These subsidiaries were established by the Group in 2016.

(b) Types of legal entities:

Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise

M
2) Sino-foreign equity joint venture
©)) Limited liability company invested by foreign invested enterprise
(4) Limited liability company
(c) The capital of these subsidiaries has not been injected in 2016.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”), which comprise standards and interpretations
approved by the International Accounting Standards Board
(the “IASB”), and International Accounting Standards and
Standing Interpretations Committee interpretations approved
by the International Accounting Standards Committee that
remain in effect, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties which have been measured at fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2016. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in

assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BABEREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE (&)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. MERBERSTRE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (%)
(CONTINUED)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 22 SHBREHRIFE
disclosures
The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs REBERAFENBERE EIRERMN
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements. AT 75T RS FT R BR B i k45 2
Al
Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of BB ERE1  UFLEERERY
Interests in Joint Operations BETAR EHERLE
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative oA E1REITR  RESE
Amendments to IAS 16 and Clarification of Acceptable R &R E165E K WERBHTETY
IAS 38 Methodss of Depreciation and e B 385 EIEE
Amortisation BETR
Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to RSB ERERRBITA ARG KRLES
IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle 0126 00144
BHNFEE
Amendments to IFRS 10, Investment Entities: Applying AR RRLERE105 HETE EAGS
IFRS 12 and IAS 28 the Consoliaation B BR B TR R A @¢
Exception B3 RER R 2D
B THEHES
The adoption of the above new and revised IFRSs has had BN s R AR S 5T RIS B fS SR 5
no significant financial effect on these financial statements. YER S 2 S R I B A S

Y
=

o

I
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective
International Financial Reporting

Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4

IFRS 9
Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 15

IFRS 16
IFRIC 22

Amendments to IAS 7
Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 40
Amendments to IFRSs

Amendments to IFRS 12
included in Annual
Improvements 2014-2016
Cycle

Amendments to IFRS 1
included in Annual
Improvements 2014-2016
Cycle

Amendments to ISA 28
included in Annual
Improvements 2014-2016
Cycle

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions®

Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts?

Financial Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?

Leases®

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration?

Disclosure Initiative'

Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses’

Transfers of Investment Property?

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Standards 2014-2016 Cycle®

Disclosure of interests in Other

Entities’

First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards?

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures?®

=
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BEEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective 2.3 © ME#F1E & R 4 WA B BR B

il

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

or 1 January 2018, as appropriate.

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is as follows:

In September 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS
9, bringing together all phases of the financial instruments
project to replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9.
The standard introduces new requirements for classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting.
The Group expects to adopt IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018.
During 2016, the Group performed a high-level assessment
of the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9. This preliminary
assessment is based on currently available information
and may be subject to changes arising from further
detailed analyses or additional reasonable and supportable
information being made available to the Group in the future.
The expected impacts arising from the adoption of IFRS 9 are
summarised as follows:

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective
International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

(a)

(b)

Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of IFRS
9 will have a significant impact on the classification
and measurement of its financial assets. It expects
to continue measuring at fair value all financial
assets currently held at fair value. Equity investments
currently held as available for sale will be measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income
as the investments are intended to be held for the
foreseeable future and the Group expects to apply
the option to present fair value changes in other
comprehensive income. Gains and losses recorded in
other comprehensive income for the equity investments
cannot be recycled to profit or loss when the
investments are derecognised.

Impairment

IFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, lease receivables,
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts
that are not accounted for at fair value through profit
or loss under IFRS 9, to be recorded based on an
expected credit loss model either on a twelve-month
basis or a lifetime basis. The Group expects to apply
the simplified approach and record lifetime expected
losses that are estimated based on the present value
of all cash shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its
trade and other receivables. The Group will perform a
more detailed analysis which considers all reasonable
and supportable information, including forward-looking
elements, for estimation of expected credit losses on
its trade and other receivables upon the adoption of
IFRS 9.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BEEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective

il

2.3 M ME 1 R 4 R Y B R Bt

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available
for application now.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. BUEXRGHER
=
& 8 i B 15 AR 4 20 Y B B B

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective 2.3

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS
15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach
for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances between
periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard
will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements
under IFRSs. In April 2016, the IASB issued amendments to
IFRS 15 to address the implementation issues on identifying
performance obligations, application guidance on principal
versus agent and licences of intellectual property, and
transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure
a more consistent application when entities adopt IFRS
15 and decrease the cost and complexity of applying the
standard.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the potential impact of the application of IFRS 15 and it
is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the
effect of IFRS 15 until a detailed review is performed by the
Group. The impact to the Group is expected to include more
comprehensive disclosure as requested by the new standard.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 #; £2016%F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBHE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective 2.3 © MR#F1E & R 4 WA B BR B

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Amendments to IAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures
that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes
in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. The
amendments will result in additional disclosure to be provided
in the financial statements. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2017.

Amendments to IAS 12 were issued with the purpose
of addressing the recognition of deferred tax assets for
unrealised losses related to debt instruments measured at
fair value, although they also have a broader application
for other situations. The amendments clarify that an entity,
when assessing whether taxable profits will be available
against which it can utilise a deductible temporary difference,
needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources
of taxable profits against which it may make deductions
on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how
an entity should determine future taxable profits and explain
the circumstances in which taxable profit may include the
recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount.
The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1
January 2017.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IREBERGIRE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (%8)
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective 2.3 © MR#F1E & R 4 RHY B PR B

International Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and
requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for
lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term leases.
At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise
a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability)
and an asset representing the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The
right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses unless
the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property in IAS 40. The lease liability is subsequently
increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and
reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to
separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability
and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.
Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability
upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change in
the lease term and change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of
the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is
substantially unchanged from the accounting under IAS 17.
Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases. The Group expects to
adopt IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 and is currently assessing
the impact of IFRS 16 upon adoption.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z=2016F12A31 B ILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBHE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME

policies
Investments in joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of joint ventures is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity
of the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
the joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwiill
arising from the acquisition of joint ventures is included as
part of the Group’s investments in joint ventures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WEEHEGHKE

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

24 TEESGHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments in joint ventures (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. UEXRGHER

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit

retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z=2016F12A31 B ILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or
a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best

interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the

asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable

inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole:
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)
Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, completed
properties held for sale, properties under development,
investment properties and non-current assets/a disposal
group classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IREBERGITRE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 #; £2016%F 12831 H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

2 EHEERWHBE

=

24 FEESTHEBME (&)

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Cost may also
include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
property and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property
and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient
to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of
the deficit is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any
subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the statement
of profit or loss to the extent of the deficit previously charged.
An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to
retained profits is made for the difference between the
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an
asset and the depreciation based on the asset’s original
cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of
the asset revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous
valuations is transferred to retained profits as a movement in
reserves.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated
residual values and useful lives for this purpose are as

follows:

Useful lives Residual values
Buildings 20 years 5% to 10%
Hotel Properties 20 years 5% to 10%
Office equipment 5 years 5%
Motor vehicles 5 years 5%
Leasehold Shorter of the -

improvements lease terms

and 5 years

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on
a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual value, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WEEHEGHKE

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes;
or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Investment
properties comprise completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit
or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z=2016F12A31 B ILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBHE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or investment properties for disposal, the deemed
cost of a property for subsequent accounting is its fair
value at the date of change in use. If a property occupied
by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property, the Group accounts for such property
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property and
equipment and depreciation” up to the date of change in
use, and any difference at that date between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for
as a revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property and equipment and depreciation” above. For a
transfer from properties under development or completed
properties held for sale to investment properties, any
difference between the fair value of the property at that date
and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or
loss.

The Group determines whether completed properties held for
sales and properties under development would be transferred
to investment properties when, only when, there is a change
in use, evidenced by the following criteria: (a) the Group
has prepared a business plan that reflects the future rental
income generated by the property and this is supported
with evidence that there is demand for rental space; (b) the
Group can demonstrate that it has the resources, including
the necessary financing or capital, to hold and manage
an investment property; (c) the change in use is legally
permissible; (d) if the property must be further developed for
the change in use, the development has commenced and (e)
change in use is approved by the board.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WEEHEGHKE
L=
TESTHHRERBE (#)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 2.4

policies (continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value and comprise land costs,
construction costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and
other costs directly attributable to such properties incurred
during the development period.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed within 12 months
from the end of the reporting period are classified as current
assets.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed beyond 12 months
from the end of the reporting period are classified as non-
current assets.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value
takes into account the selling price, less estimated costs
to be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing
market conditions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z=2016F12A31 B ILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. WAEEREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

il

24 TEETHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included
in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the
operating leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to
the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings
as a finance lease in property and equipment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IREBERGITRE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, and available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs
that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z=2016F12A31 B ILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. WAEEREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

il

24 TEETHERBE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other
income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses
for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and
debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BABEREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income
in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until
the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in other income, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
to the statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses.
Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-
for-sale financial investments are reported as interest income
and dividend income, respectively, and are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to
sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z=2016F12A31 B ILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. WAEEREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)
policies (continued)

il

Investments and other financial assets (continued) REREMESMEE (F)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued) AN ESBRE (&)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for- ERESREAEATHEESRMEE
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of RENOER  BEZEEMRB T
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any fAlRET AR 2 W8 FEIRE
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised ZHRAERIZBERNEREIEEE
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of i o A HE S 2 AN 7N B B B R IE 2 A
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference ZERBIEEZAE 2 FHFRIEZR
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is ERAREE - WZEEERBRETER
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the B Rt \EnzeBAEHsEE
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined BmEe

to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets KIEBRASMEE

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial SREE (F (WEA) " HemEE

asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily Z—Hnsk—HRESREE &S

derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated D)ETINE R & 52 LR (Al

statement of financial position) when: BAEEGE M FRRAKRIER)

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have . WEZIBEEMSREREN
expired; or BEFBEER: 2K

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash . REEDEZHWNZIEEE
flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation FrSIREemEMNERN  RER
to pay the received cash flows in full without material B-BIEM] 2 BEFE
delay to a third party under a “pass-through” BB KHERRIB N T A5 P Y B3R,
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred EREBEINTFE=R K
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, (a)ﬂK%lEﬁTE%EiIEéEE@%ﬁ
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained KEBS B K [B1 3 - sk (b) AN £k
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but B EERNRBZIBEEN
has transferred control of the assets. BABARERS REHR BEE

BRREEMNESE-
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WEEHEGHKE

=

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

24 TEESGHEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a
group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective

assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the

effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans
and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been

transferred to the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IREBERGITRE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to the statement of profit
or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably
measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset and recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on these
assets are not reversed.

EMEENRE (F)
BB HH AR 2 B E (&)

WAERERRE  EREBRERLHE
E AR EBE S RIE MR
WEM Ale A EAEIRIAE NSO
DI BT RER R E R - S EL 1R
Wem - B E & R AR R RS o

BB RN EE

WEEBEEBETEAASEBERER
iﬁiﬁ?%@ﬁ1ﬁA$m#Lm
T ANEARATAETREERE
ERERE R MARNZIEIE E g
mTAMAE AFSBeBIRZEAE
FEREMERNFRESREERER™
HAEFTEN G R KB RERE
MEBAETRERZRABER - ZE
BEMRBEEBETTEE -

PR A EEREMR AR
—E-XEER



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z=2016F12A31 B ILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. WAEEREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, an amount due to the ultimate holding company,
derivative financial instruments and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IREBERGITRE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near
term. This category includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does
not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria of IAS 39 are satisfied.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z=2016F12A31 B ILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IREBERGITRE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and on
disposal.

Cost of inventories includes the transfer from equity of gains
and losses on qualifying cash flow hedges in respect of the
purchases of raw materials.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination
is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is
measured at the higher of (i) the amount that would be
recognised in accordance with the general guidance for
provisions above; and (i) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the guidance for revenue recognition.

Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government,
the companies comprising the Group operating in Mainland
China (the “PRC group companies”) have participated in
a local municipal government retirement benefit scheme
(the “Scheme”), whereby the PRC group companies are
required to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries
of their employees to the Scheme to fund their retirement
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the Scheme is to pay the ongoing contributions under the
Scheme. Contributions under the Scheme are charged to the
statement of profit of loss as incurred.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax and land
appreciation tax. Income tax relating to items recognised
outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed the
at end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report

Fre® ()

FrB AT FHRCEE B M 2 /R S R B AR IR
e BEMARBAREEREE 5
WERSELEHAEE WA REAR
FERR L A S AT FUR T B R
RARBABIER R M ABARIARE
‘e AgRRETCHEREE KT
A B SRR S :

o  HABEBAHREREEEAE
R BEER A VIR — IR
RpTHEESRE MEH
X5 (EBAGERIN) EITR A
SRR GENRERT G

HEE: R

s SABMBARRAEERRRK
B P A 2 A HOR G B 1 R
MmE EEHRBEEEENG K
1 22 R AT TR R A 2R AT B
[l - iy BB A R A A A
EHERHEZER T8 T
R o

BELEHIAEERMESESRE SR
FREE XETAAIGEBA R
A A EEA R EERIAE
R T LABIR - REERANELEHRAE
EREWRERRATFBETAEFTR
& WA R BB B S RE SR A AR UL
Bl 2 7R ek #E D IR AE TR TR B B R T IATE

27
e



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BABEREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which
it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual
instalments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when all the following criteria are met:

(@  the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
properties are transferred to the purchasers;

(b)  neither continuing managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the properties is retained;

(c)  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(d) it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

(e)  the cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BABEREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

The above criteria are met when construction of the
relevant properties has been completed and the Group has
obtained the project completion report issued by the relevant
government authorities, the properties have been delivered
to the purchasers, and the collectability of related receivables
is reasonably assured. Payments received on properties sold
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Property leasing income derived from the leasing of the
Group’s properties is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Property management fee income derived from the provision
of property maintenance and management services is
recognised upon the rendering of the relevant services.

Hotel operating income which includes room rental, food
and beverage sales and income from the provision of
other ancillary services is recognised when the services are
rendered.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 29 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfiled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement
of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end
of that period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BABEREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BAEEREHBFE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

il

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FTESHBERME (&)

policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate of
7.78% (2015: 8.00%) has been applied to the expenditure on
the individual assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. BABEREHBE
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESHBEHE (&)

policies (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately
as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated outside
Mainland China have Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and
United States dollars (‘US$”) as their functional currencies,
respectively. The functional currency of Mainland China
subsidiaries is the RMB. As the Group mainly operates
in Mainland China, the RMB is used as the presentation
currency of the Group. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also

recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of non-PRC established
subsidiaries, are currencies other than the RMB. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the

weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of

profit or loss.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of non-PRC established subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of non-
PRC established companies which arise throughout the year
are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

@)

(ii)

Operating lease commitments - Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased
out on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties,
completed properties held for sale and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately, the Group accounts for the portions
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment

property.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

(iii)

Classification of current and non-current properties
under development

The Group classifies properties under development according
to the construction progress and estimated commencement
date of presale. Properties under development are classified
as current assets after commence construction.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources

of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are described below:

@

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the appraised
market value by independent professional valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimate, the Group considers
information from current prices in an active market for similar
properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@  current prices in an active market for properties of
a different nature, condition or location or subject to
different lease or other contracts, adjusted to reflect
those differences;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i) Fair value of investment properties (continued)

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the dates of the
transactions that occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing leases and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount

and timing of the cash flows.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2016 was RMB5,367,750,000
(2015: RMB5,244,100,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement, are given in

note 13 to the financial statements.

(ii) Net realisable value of properties under development

and completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion
of properties under development, and the costs to be
incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market

conditions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale (continued)

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development
and completed properties held for sale. Such provision
requires the use of judgements and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, the carrying
value and provision for properties in the period in which the
estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.

PRC corporate income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Mainland China. As
a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgement based on currently enacted
tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required
in determining the provision of income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts originally recorded, the differences will have an
impact on the income tax and tax provisions in the period in
which the differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds from sale of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs and other property
development expenditures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z=2016F12A31 B ILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iv)

(v)

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”) (continued)

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation of these taxes varies
amongst various cities in Mainland China and the Group
has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities
based on management’s best estimates. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, the differences will impact the
statement of profit or loss and the provision for LAT in the
period in which the determination is made.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets
relating to recognised deductible temporary differences
and tax losses at 31 December 2016 was RMB34,527,000
(2015: RMB19,289,000). The amount of unrecognised
tax losses during the year ended 31 December 2016 was
RMB34,607,000 (2015: RMB134,778,000). Further details
are contained in note 18 to the financial statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(vi) Impairment of trade and other receivables

Impairment of trade and other receivables is made based
on assessment of the recoverability of trade and other
receivables. The identification of impairment of trade and
other receivables requires management’s judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation in the
future is different from the original estimates, the differences
will have an impact on the carrying value of the receivables
and doubtful debt expenses/write-back of doubtful debt in
the period in which the estimate is changed.

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on income derived from business and has four
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@  the commercial property development segment develops and
sells commercial properties in Mainland China;

(b)  the property rental segment leases investment properties in
Mainland Ching;

(c)  the hotel operations segment owns and operates a hotel; and
(d) the others segment comprises, principally, the Group’s

property management services business, which provides
management and security services to commercial properties.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z=2016F12A31 B ILFE

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operations. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax from
continuing operations except that interest income, finance costs,
dividend income, fair value gain/losses from the Group’s financial
instruments as well as head office and corporate expenses are
excluded from the measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
pledged deposits, cash and cash equivalents, and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

4. EESBEH (1])

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

Commercial
property Property Hotel
development rental operations Others Total
BRAMERR NERE BEEE Hity @it

Year ended EE2016F RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2016 12ANALEE AR®TR AR®TR ARBT R ARBT AR®TR
Segment revenue: okl ON
Sales to external customers HHNBEPHE 742,988 61,978 47,679 5,726 858,371
Intersegment sales HEREEE - 24,033 - 3,929 27,962

742,988 86,011 47,679 9,655 886,333
Reconciliation: Eol i
Elimination of intersegment sales AEREEELHE (27,962)
Revenue from operations BREEBUA 858,371
Segment results FHEE 165,829 138,547 (18,379) (19,041) 266,956
Reconciliation: E i
Interest income FIEMA 969
Finance costs HHER (2,218)
Profit before tax BREBATFE 265,707
Segment assets STBEE 3,099,595 5,982,621 1,362,261 488,609 10,933,086
Reconcilation: A7 -
Elimination of intersegment receivables DR IEE (134,793)
Corporate and other unallocated assets CEREMAIEEE 490,652
Total assets BEE 11,288,945
Segment liabilities ABEE 1,094,374 17,232 76,804 365,519 1,553,929
Reconcilation: i]ﬁﬁ :
Elimination of intersegment payables HEBRERNFTIELH (134,793)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities CEREMANEEE 4,527,750
Total liabilities BeE 5,946,886
Other segment information: HitpHER:
Share of profits and losses of: AR RER:

Joint venture BERA - 15 - - 15
Depreciation %ﬁ% 893 816 9,375 2,006 13,090
Investments in joint ventures BERRNERE - 759 - - 759
Capital expenditure ﬁmﬁi’z 28 19 117,013 268 117,328

Ei:'l%ﬁi/ﬂzm?ﬁ'%?*l:ﬁ Al



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 785 ik A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F 128310 IEFE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4. EESBEH (1])

Commercial
property Property Hotel
development rental operations Others Total
HRAMERE MERE BIEEE Hft FE
Year ended HZE20155F RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
31 December 2015 12A3BEFE AREF AREFT AREFTT ARETR ARETFT
Segment revenue: ok ON
Sales to external customers HHNBEPHE 374,922 81,901 45,372 1,791 503,986
Intersegment sales AHEEE - 27,412 - 9,569 36,981
374,922 109,313 45,372 11,360 540,967
Reconciliation: GEE
Elimination of intersegment sales AEEEELE (36,981)
Revenue from operations MEEBIA 503,986
Segment results DEEE 255,720 858,163 (11,296) (20,133) 1,082,454
Reconcilation: A -
Interest income HIVON 12,583
Finance costs HHEER (19,602)
Profit before tax PR AT I E 1,075,435
Segment assets IPHEE 3,797,736 5,829,105 478,832 419,735 10,525,408
Reconciliation: e
Elimination of intersegment 2 ER YR IE £ 8
Receivables (359,567)
Corporate and other unallocated assets TrEREMRIREE 1,127,323
Total assets BEE 11,293,164
Segment liabilities AHEE 1,183,120 14,849 12,269 293,412 1,503,650
Reconciliation: e
Elimination of intersegment payables HEBREERNFTIEL H (359,567)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities rEREBRIEEE 4,929,239
Total liabilities BEE 6,073,322
Other segment information: HitpHEH:
Share of profits and losses of: DR RER:
joint ventures BEDA 2,182 26 - - 2,208
Depreciation nE 1,765 624 8,184 1,950 12,523
Investments in joint ventures RAEEDRKEE - 774 - - 774
Capital expenditure LR 266 1,012 5,679 246 7,203
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information

All of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers based in
Mainland China and all of the non-current assets of the Group are
located in Mainland China.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under
common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS

Revenue represents income from the sale of properties, property
leasing income, property management fee income and hotel
operating income during the year, net of business tax and other
sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

4.

EESBEH(]|)

i & B
AREBHZHPNRERPEARES

RASE AR EETINHE -

ARERZEFHNER

WEHEE -—ZXPRERNERZHTHE
ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬂi%@%@ﬁmei
N2015F12 A31H IEF R WA KI10%k LA
J:o

B A - Hfbl A B i =

WABFARHEMELRA %%%HEMU\ .
MEEEBRATIBEEERA (HREE
BiREMHERBERREEFNR) -

WA R E A AT W DT

2016 2015
2016%F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT

Revenue 'ON
Sale of properties SHEME 769,893 397,637
Property leasing income LIEN=1 N 58,087 88,018
Property management fee income PIEERBUWA 14,402 2,420
Hotel operating income I 2B H U A 46,749 48,107
Less: Business tax and surcharges* W T P B (30,760) (32,196)
858,371 503,986
* Pursuant to the VAT reform in the PRC effective from 1 May 2016, all * RIE B2016F5 81 H AR A w2 A B S B FL

pre-sales of properties incurred after 1 May 2016 are subject to VAT.
Accordingly, once the related revenue from these sales of properties are
recognized, more revenue represents the net invoiced value of properties
sold with VAT exclusive. Revenue in connection with the pre-sales incurred
prior to 1 May 2016 are still subject to business tax, and the revenue
represents the net invoiced value of properties sold with business tax
exclusive.

FR2016F5 1R BEAZIIBESEME
HAGMEER - FAlt - —BREZZMEH
EZHBARAERR EZWAEBCEYME
ZEFHE (TFEZEEVR) - 12016555 A1H
RIEEZABEERAMEBEHRMNEER M
WAEBEMENBEEFE (TELER) -

PRI EEZRARA
—NEEH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F 128310 IEFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS (CONTINUED)

5 I

(&)

=

~H A A B i

2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREF T
Other income Hi A
Interest income from a joint venture KE—HEERRZHBEWA - 115,633
Bank interest income HRITH B UA 969 12,583
Others HhIEB 14,519 1,209
15,488 129,425
Gains W &
Gain on disposal of joint ventures HEAERARZ M - 125,954
gain on disposal of items of HEREME 2 Bm
investment properties - 1,409
Foreign exchange gains HNEE 5 R 1,344 111
1,344 127,474
16,832 256,899
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. FRIRATFIE
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REBMBFAFABEE MG, (GEA) THE
18 -
2016 2015
20164 2015%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M aE ARBT T ARBFT
Cost of properties sold EHEWEKAR 20 492,880 289,543
Depreciation e 12 13,090 12,523
Minimum lease payments under BEELEHENRERAS

operating leases: SRIE :

— Office premises VN ES 2,206 2,614
Auditors’ remuneration = A B & 1,200 1,747
Staff costs including directors’ and BEIXNA (BRESFR

chief executive’s remuneration FETHAEMNS)

(note 8): (KMizEs) :

— Salaries and other staff costs —TENKHETBETIKAK 57,948 45,666

— Pension scheme contributions —IRREBETEIfHER 6,494 7,464
Foreign exchange differences, net =% FE 5 (1,344) (111)
Direct operating expenses HELERY (81

(including repairs and maintenance KEMEEER

arising on investment properties) HIERIEE) 2,815 4,592
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEREMEZEER

investment properties (W) 7,221 (1,409)
Fair value gain, net: NAEERE  F5E:

Fair value gain upon transfer to EREREMEN

investment properties N EERE 13 - (796,581)

Changes in fair value of WEMEANABEENES

investment properties 13 (124,994) (29,414)

PR A EEREMR AR
—E-XEER



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F 128310 IEFE

7. BEEH

AEBNMBEERONMOT :

7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows:

2016 2015

20164 2015%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREEF T

Interest on bank and other borrowings RITER R EMERFE 253,749 320,546
Less: Interest capitalised in properties W BAMEHAEFYWENT S

under development (251,531) (300,944)

2,218 19,602

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EFRFEITHAREHS

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

RiE AR A FE A RMEDIE383(1)(@)
b QRO ARAR (KREEENEE
B RBIE2R 2 RE  FREFEREBITH

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

(Disclosure of information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is AEMEIT -
as follows:
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Fees =] 600 600
Other emoluments: b Fr B
Salaries, bonuses and allowances Fd o TEAT KoERL 2,082 3,982
Pension scheme contributions BRI 42 35
2,124 4,017
2,724 4,617

1 8 2 China New City Commercial Development Limited
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

In 2009 and 2011, certain directors were granted share options for
the shares of Zhong An Real Estate Limited, the parent company
of the Group, as disclosed in note 30. The fair value of the options
was determined as at the date of grant. In respect of their services
to the Group, the relevant accounting impact was accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements for the financial year and
included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

(@) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during
the year were as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

8.

(E?)&EEE?TH&LEQ

il

R20094F 20116 A TEFERAEE
HRBIRLZEEBRABIRMDERE B
FESOFTHE R - ZEEREN A A EEREL
AHET RESHAEENRBEmS R
MREFENGEEUBERET R FE S
M BER e REEg TR

() BAFHTES

FABENBILERTES ZERHT

R
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR¥ETT

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RETEE
Mr. Xu Chengfa AL E
Mr. Yim Chun Leung Bk e St A

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2015: Nil).

200 200
200 200
200 200
600 600

FERNLEEMENBIIIFNTESE
N (20154 - 4 ) -

HEFHM T EEERER DA
ZE-XRFER



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z=2016F12A31 B ILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8.
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive

=

")

REETHARR

&

(b) MTES FATEERE

director and the chief executive ETHBAE
Pension
Salaries and Scheme
allowances Bonuses contributions Total
Bk
FoRER AL FHEIftRR “@Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARBTIL ARETT ARETT
2016 20164
Executive directors: HITEE:
Ms. Tang Yiyan Bt 246 69 10 325
Ms. Jin Ni® S L0 864 220 16 1,100
1,110 289 26 1,425
Non-executive director: HPTEE:
Mr. Shi Kancheng BEATAK 5T & - - - -
Chief executive: FETHAR:
Mr. Dong Shuixiao? ERREED 544 139 16 699
1,654 428 42 2,124
2015 2015%F
Executive directors: HITEE:
Ms. Jin Ni® SRLLO 829 372 8 1,209
Mr. Zhou Minghai® ERRE A 648 - 3 651
Mr. Li Chu TRt 364 90 8 462
Ms. Tang Yiyan Eafat 255 182 8 445
2,096 644 27 2,767
Non-executive director: HHTEE:
Mr. Shi Kancheng BEAT K 5 A - - - -
Chief executive: FETHAE -
Mr. Shi Guoliang!” A=Al 524 - - 524
Mr. Dong Shuixiao® BERREER 494 224 8 726
1,018 224 8 1,250
3,114 868 35 4,017

1 8 4 China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report



8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive
director and the chief executive
(continued)

1) Mr. Zhou Minghai and Mr. Shi Guoliang were appointed on 29
January 2015 and resigned on 16 June 2015;

2) Mr. Dong Shuixiao was appointed on 16 June 2015;

©)) Ms. Jin Ni ceased to act as the chief executive on 29 January 2015

but remained as an executive director.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2015: Nil).

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
(2015: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining three

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

8. BEEREETHAAHNS

=

(b) MITES FATEERE
BEITHAE (&)

1) ARG A KB R % £ 1A 201551
A20H #E & T & #2015F6 A 16 H &
f£:

©) BRI L ER2015F6 416 H EZE
£:

@) £ 18 Z +R2015%F1 H208 T BT
FETHRAS HEBERTES-

FAMBEEENEXREREEME
By 2 B (2015%F - &) o

9. ABE™HFEAL

FARERSHFALTABEMS (20155
=R)ES HMSFBCEN EXMES -
FABRT =% (20165 WA ) HEFRS

(2015: two) non-director, highest paid employees for the year are as FATHBSFBOT
follows:

2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETIT
Salaries, bonuses and allowances Frd - B4 KOEBL 2,268 1,575
Pension scheme contributions RIREFHEIHEFR 26 16
2,294 1,591

PEFATEEERARAD QG
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. AivEEFAL(E)

10

(CONTINUED)
The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose TN RUTHENNIEEERESFHHES
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: N SN
Number of employees
EEAH”
2016 2015
20165 2015%F
Nil to RMB1,000,000 ZTE AR ®1,000,0007T 2 2
Over RMB1,000,000 i@ i@ A K ¥1,000,0007T 1 -
3 2
No share options were granted to the non-director, highest paid WHERAFES TaFATREERE-
employees.
=]
INCOME TAX 10. FR 518
The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are not liable REERE BT BRI RARF
for income tax as they did not have any assessable profits currently EHEREBEETMENPRERTEF -

arising in Hong Kong during the year (2015: Nil). Ut B EBUR TS (20155 1 &) ©

The provision for the PRC income tax has been provided at the AR B R 15 50 2 ik 2N 5 1B 1 AP B P b A T /2B
applicable income tax rate of 25% (2015: 25%) on the assessable A A FE R TR B25% (20154 : 25% ) H)
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China. HAMSHHEELEE-

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on AR A IR E R E B IS E RN E Y
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sale of ¥FMBHRERAINRASZ (B2ELKA
properties less deductible expenditures including land costs, BERARRE MY ERERSZ) LN H30%
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The Z60% MR R - AEBEIRIEF
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for BRABBOAEEE A EERERIERN
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax STATHMIEEREE EURESBREEL
laws and regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT HIBEHREEZ R TS ERAEAERT
liabilities, the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by BERBRER k-

the tax authorities.
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10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

10. FR 518 (#8)

2016 2015
2016F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T ARBT T

Current — PRC corporate income BVERTR1E — FEHR B ERSH
tax for the year 44,512 41,708
Current — PRC LAT for the year BUEARIE — F A B - M 3B E R 44,785 18,605
Deferred (note 18) RIER A (M3E18) 39,345 263,952
Total tax charge for the year FAMIBLRETE 128,642 324,265

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
using the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense

RIBARARERZ BB R BRERDE
R aEER R ERB AN BER TR
Bl Se BRAR I B PR B R 5T S 0 RO IR B ST BT BR

at the effective tax rate is as follows: e
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBEF T

Profit before tax IR 265,707 1,075,435
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% #%25% (20154F : 25% )

(2015: 25%) EEREFGHEMTIA 66,427 268,859
Effect of withholding tax at 10% on MAEEFREME R A ] oIk

the distributable profits of the Group's A1 0% TEM R 2

PRC subsidiaries 1,025 3,669
Expenses not deductible for tax TRIHNFL R 2 3,672 6,020
Tax losses utilised from previous periods 2R B %I HifE 2 B B A H B E 18 (5,026) (1,932)
Tax losses not recognized AR IEEE 28,956 33,695
Provision for LAT TS ET AR 44,785 18,605
Tax effect on LAT THIEERNR SR E (11,197) (4,651)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate A& B BB R MBI EHR X 128,642 324,265
Tax payable in the consolidated statement TE M BARRE AR E T IETS

of financial position represents:
PRC corporate income tax FE TSR 115,043 99,439
PRC LAT R+ 4 I 127,505 121,255

242,548 220,694

Ei:'l%ﬁi/ﬂzm?ﬁ'%?*l:ﬁ Al

[(S¥N
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F 128310 IEFE

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent of RMB147,042,000 (2015: RMB740,337,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,736,790,000
(2015: 1,738,000,000) in issue during the year, as adjusted to
reflect the rights issued during the year.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on:

HEERERA
2

>
il
g

£}
i

BREABRNERET AL BKER
A ABGFRFEAR147,042,000
gL (20154 : A R #740,337,0007T) -
UEFANERTERBROINEFHIH
1,736,790,0008% (20154 : 1,738,000,000
B E BT HHEURRE RIEITHE

23
g °

BREABRNRE T SAFTE:

2016 2015
20165 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Earnings 27
Profit attributable to ordinary NEEBRERSEE ARGFE
equity holders of the parent 147,042 740,337

Number of shares

BREE
2016 2015
20164 20154

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amount presented for the years ended 31 December 2016 and
2015 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potential dilutive
ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31 December 2016

(2015: Ni).
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FAD BT EBR 2 NEFHH

1,736,789,589 1,738,000,000

HARE E2016F12A31H LT E K%
B0 B 31T E X m AR (20155 ¢
) B A A = 20165 )R20155F
12A31B L FE 25N ERERZF ED
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12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

12. KRR R w

Hotel Office Motor  Leasehold Construction
Buildings  properties  equipment vehicles improvement in progress Total
BF EEYE BAERE RE RENENR EBIR @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETL ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT AR®TR
At 31 December 2014 and 20145124318 &
at 1 January 2015: 2015F1A1A
Cost A 54,235 174,093 20,249 16,543 - - 265,120
Accumulated depreciation 25E (12,203) (54,952) (16,764) (13,266) - - 97,275)
Net carrying amount FEFE 41,942 119,141 3,485 3,277 - - 167,845
At 1 January 2015, net of #2015F1 A1H -
accumulated depreciation KR EZFNE
41,942 119,141 3,485 3,277 - - 167,845
Additions wNE - - 585 1,052 5,566 - 7,203
Disposals & - - (948) (14) - - (962)
Depreciation provided FREHRME
during the year (2,413) (7,851) (746) (1,399 (114 - (12,523)
At 31 December 2015, net of #2015F 128318
accumulated depreciation Nk Rt & 39,529 111,290 2,376 2916 5,452 - 161,563
At 31 December 2015: #2015F12A318 :
Cost BRA 54,235 174,093 19,749 17,307 5,566 - 270,950
Accumulated depreciation 25E (14,706) (62,803) (17,373) (14,391) (114) - (109,387)
Net carrying amount BEEE 39,529 111,290 2,376 2,916 5,452 - 161,563
At 1 January 2016, net of 201651 A18
acoumulated depreciation M 25t E 39,529 111,290 2,376 2,916 5,452 - 161,563
Additions 0 - - 519 - 133 116,676 117,328
Transfer from properties under ERETENE
development - - - - - 1,074,531 1,074,531
Disposals & - - (86) (] - - (94)
Depreciation provided FANE
during the year (3,311) (6,332) (1,432) (660) (1,355) - (13,090
At 31 December 2016, net of 20165 12A318
accumulated depreciation k2 HE 36,218 104,958 1,377 2,248 4230 1,191,207 1,340,238
At 31 December 2016: R2016F12A318 :
Cost BRA 54,235 174,093 20,182 17,299 5,699 1,191,207 1,462,715
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (18,017) (69,135) (18,805) (15,051) (1,469) - (1224717
Net carrying amount REFE 36,218 104,958 1,377 2,248 4230 1,191,207 1,340,238
At 31 December 2016 certain items of the Group’s property M2016F12A31H A& B E TWHEK

and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB128,816,000 (2015: RMB139,339,000) were pledged to
secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the
Group as disclosed in note 27.

REREFEN B AR128,816,0007T
(20154 : A R #139,339,0007T) * 40 Mﬁz
QTFIHRER  EAERAR TAKEG BHRITER
K LAt f& SR HE 4 o

PRI HEZRARA
—NEEH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

13. ¥ EME

Investment
Completed properties
investment under
properties construction Total
=5 T
REWF REWE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARBF T ARBF T
At 1 January 2015 201551 51H 2,534,200 1,239,000 3,773,200
Transfers from properties under g EEZY ¥
development (note 14) (MIsE14) - 616,419 616,419
Transfers from investment B EERS
properties under construction BRTIREY
to completed investment
properties 502,000 (502,000) -
Additional NE - 30,329 30,329
Disposal HE (1,843) - (1,843)
Fair value gain upon transfer HEgE A ARBEERE - 796,581 796,581
Changes in fair value of WEMERAREEE
investment properties 54,743 (25,329) 29,414
At 31 December 2015 and R2015%F 128318 &
1 January 2016 2016F1H1H 3,089,100 2,155,000 5,244,100
Transfer from investment BEEREMEERE
properties under construction wEME
to investment properties 2,155,000 (2,155,000) -
Additional NE 60,794 - 60,794
Disposal & (62,138) - (62,138)
Changes in fair value of KEMEANAEEES
investment properties 124,994 - 124,994
At 31 December 2016 2016512 A431H 5,367,750 - 5,367,750

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report




13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

13. W™= (&)

2016 2015

20164 20154

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Byt ARET T ARBTT

Non-current asset FERBEE 5,129,937 5,244,100
Current asset MENEE (e) 237,813 -
5,367,750 5,244,100

All investment properties of the Group were revalued at the
end of the year by an independent professionally qualified
valuer, CBRE Limited, at fair value. CBRE Limited is an
industry specialist in investment property valuation. The fair
value represents the amount at which the assets could be
exchanged between a knowledgeable and willing buyer and
a seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation,
in accordance with International Valuation Standards.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as
well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable.

Investment properties held by the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position were valued by fair value
hierarchy level 3 as shown below. The valuation techniques
adopted are direct comparison approach and income
approach (term and reversion approach), and key inputs are

(1) Term yield: the higher the term yield, the lower the fair
value;

(2)  Reversionary yield: the higher the reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value;

(@ ARERHBRENENFEROHBIE
EEERMMEMERFAREFRAR
BRASRBEER - HHBRBLCERR

ANEMRREMEHENTESR

ReAABEEEENRABERE

|

FRBEBRNAERRRBEERGER
ERNFRGRBEENTH -

TREINMAEEUFHREDMENR
AEE (LER AN ERM R
BB WEMUARREAREEE
WABERBRIZES Y AR EER
ENARBERE (F-ZE2F=4) -

FAMBRARTAREMBERE
YETHE T XN AREEEFRE
ZHCETTRE RANGBERTAE
BRUEBUERWAE (AHERE) - M
TEHABER

() FSKeEE AHkEELE -
AR EEBIK:

@ ERREEERREEES
R EEBIE:

qﬂl%ﬁﬁmﬁ%gfﬁéég 1()1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. | EWE ()
(CONTINUED)
(@)  (continued) @) (%)
(3)  Market unit rent: the higher the market unit rent, the @ mWmHEEMAe - mHEBEMNAS
higher the fair value; and MeE AnEEMR &
(4)  Price per square metre: the higher the price, the higher @  BFFKRERS: BB AR
the fair value. BESR-
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTAEERGARBE

Investment properties
held by the Group
rEBFEEREWHE

Property 1 —

Property in Hangzhou
(Guomao Building)
15 E - %
(HBXE)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXRFAEHRERAHE

Term yield, taking into account of yield 4% for office portion and 5.5% for retail portion,
generated from comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received.

AT N R AR ) 3 7 A O Ui A R T Bl P 2 AR T S AR AL B Wb A B T S 1M ) SR B - R R
7 F Bl s R 4% K% T E #8195.5% ©

Reversionary yield of 5.5% for office portion and 6% for retail portion, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and unit market value of the comparable properties.
BAABUTHEEES WA RFEYEN B TE R0 EFERRER5.5%R%
TEEN6% °

Market unit rent of RMB1.7/sgm/day for office portion and RMB4.8/sgm/day for retail
portion, using direct market comparables and taking into account location and other
individual factors such as road frontage, size of property and facilities.
EREEMSLB AN LT ALE REFER DEXNDNRRGEEEMZIERE M
BLEMEERETARERARKITT (RRAED) RBFHTARERARELT (B
BE) -

Price of RMB9,300/sgm for office portion and RMB16,400/sgm for retail portion, using

market direct comparables and taking into account location and other individual factors

such as road frontage and size of property etc.

EREEMSLBAT AU ERGEBERMERESEMENREZ BEAEF
TR ANER#9,3007T (M RE D) R AR16,4007C (BHE D)

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (48)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs ERFASEERARE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties

held by the Group Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREEREYE EXTUBREGAHE

Property 2 — Term yield, taking into account of yield 5.5%, generated from comparable properties and
Property in Shanghai adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.

(La Vie) AT N TR AR ) 3 B AR O Ui A T e Bl BT HE AR J% S W R AH R U A B9 B S M A R - e R
WME—LEWE 55.5% °

(3R 4eet)

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties.

RAABUMGFERASRARRBYENELTE ERKREEH5.5% °

Market unit rent of RMB7.3/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities.

EREEMSLB AL KA ALE RMGEHER WEANRRESEMIERE
MSEMNEERE T RERARKET.3T .

Price of RMB45,900/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property etc.
EREEMSLBOEATT MU ERGEBERDERRSEHEMERNRE BERAETF
F K AR #45,9007T

Eiﬂl%ﬁf&mﬁ%?*l:ﬁ Al

Ra
—E-AFEH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 12831 H IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (48)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTASERAZRE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
rEBEERENE

Property 3 —
Property in Hangzhou
(Integrated Service Center)

S E AN E

Significant unobservable inputs

EXRTUERRAHE

Term yield, taking into account of yield 5.5%, generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
((FARIEH L) AT ARERY 5 E R U R SR AT AR Bofs M B AE B A i) e FE
ME T KR ER5.5% °

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit

market value of the comparable properties.
et ABUTISEEHSWARREMENSLTE B8R NEERE% -

Market unit rent of RMB3.9/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into

account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities.

EREEMSLB AL KA ALE RMGEHER WEADERESEMZERE
MSENEE R T HRERARKEIIT

Price of RMB13,840/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property etc.
EREEMSLBOATT MU ERGEBERDERRSEHLMERNRE BERRATF
FARKAREEA3,8407T

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (48)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTASHERARE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
AEBFEERENE

Property 4 — Property in
Hangzhou (Office portion of
Highlong Plaza)
ARE—TINE
(EEESHAL)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXRTUERRAHE

Term yield, taking into account yield 5%, generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.

BEET A RIAR W) 3 A A U aR T I PR BT R R R i M R A ER U A B T T 1 ) 3 B - BRI
0 R B5% °

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties.

RAABUMSFERASRARRBYENELTE ERKREEH5.5% °

Market unit rent of RMB1.9/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities.

EREEMSLB AL KA ALE MGEHER WEADRRESEMZERE
MSEMNEE AT T RERARKE19T -

Price of RMB11,800/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property etc.
EREEMSLBOEATT MU ERGEBERDERRSEEMERNRE BERAETF
F K AR #11,8007T ©

Eiﬂl%ﬁf&mﬁ%?*l:ﬁ ALl

Ra
—E-AFEH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 128310 IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (&)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTASHERAZRE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
rEBEERENE

Property 5 — Property in
Hangzhou (Retail portion of
Highlong Plaza)

Sk E Sk I EES
(EEESEHEED)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXRTUERRAHE

Term yield, taking into account of yield 5.5%, generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.

BEET A RUAR W) 3 B A A AR I I PR BT B R R i M R AR R U A B T T 1 ) B - A BRI
K B5.5% ©

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties.
K ABUMSFEHSWARREYENSELTE  BEHERGRER6% -

Market unit rent of RMB6.1/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities.

EREEMSLB AL KA ALE RMGEHER WEADERRESFEMZIERE
MSENEERE T REGRARKEEAT

Price of RMB22,000/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property etc.
EREEMSLBOAT T MU ERGEBERDERREHLMERNRE BERATF
7K AR 22,0007t ©

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (48)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTASEERARE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
rEBEERENE

Property 6 — Property in
Hangzhou (Serviced apartment
portion of Highlong Plaza)

65 W2 —
(EEESRBAAE)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXRTUERERAHE

Term yield, taking into account of yield 5%, generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.

BEET A RUAR W) 3 A A U aR T I PR BT B R R i M R A R U A B T T 1 ) 3 B - BRI
HERE% °

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties.

RAABUMGFERASRARRBYENELTE ERKREEH5.5% °

Market unit rent of RMB1.9/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities.

EREEMSLB AL KA ALE RMGEHER WEADRRESEMIERE
MSEMEERE T RERARKE19T -

Price of RMB12,300/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property etc.
EREEMSLBOATT MU ERGEBERDERRSEHLMERNRE BERAETF
FARKARME12,3007T

Eiﬂl%ﬁf&mﬁ%?*l:ﬁ Al

Ra
—E-AFEH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 12831 H IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (48)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTASERAZRE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group
rEBEERENE

Property 7 — Property in
Hangzhou (Landscape Garden)
TSR — N
(1L7K38)

Significant unobservable inputs

EXRTUERRAHE

Term yield, taking into account of yield 5.75%, generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.

ST N TR AR ) 3 B AR O Ui T T Bl P 2 R o AR A B M A B0 T S M ) S 2 - AR R UK
= R B5.75% ©

Reversionary yield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.

REABMGFERASWRARRBYENELTE EHEKEER6.25%

Market unit rent of RMB2.6/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities.

EREEMSLB AL KA ALE RMGEHER WEADERESEMZERE
MSENEERETHREGRARK267T .

Price of RMB11,400/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property etc.
EREEMSLBOATT MU ERGEBERDERRSEHLMERNRE BERRATF
TR AR #11,4007T

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 1 EME (48)
(CONTINUED)
The significant unobservable inputs EXRTASHERARE (&)
(continued)

Investment properties

held by the Group Significant unobservable inputs

TEBREEREYE EXTUEBEGAHE

Property 8 — Property in Term vyield, taking into account of yield 5%, generated from comparable properties and
Hangzhou (Hidden Dragon Bay) adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
85 — M BT N TR AR ) 3 B AR O WA T T Bl P 2 R K AR A R M A B0 T S 1M ) 5 2 - AR R UK
(B3EE K 35% °

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account of annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties.

BEET A RIAE W) 3 B A A U as T I PR BT 2 R T i M R A B U A A T T 1R ) 3R - BRI
R B6% °

Market unit rent of RMB4.4/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities.

FREEMSERAEN LA ALERGEBEE MEAERRBSEMENRZ
FieTBBaEe AE T HKERARKAAT

Price of RMB15,400/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property etc.
EREEMSLBUATT MU ERGEHERRDERESEMERNRE BEAEF

T K AR #15,4007T

There is only one property — International Office Center, a property E-—EYME-—MMNYEBRERAR TR
in Hangzhou — valued by fair value hierarchy level 2, the valuation NABESRFE2PETHE RANGE
technique adopted is direct comparison approach, and the key RitAEZLE L MEERASEATT
input is price per square metre, the higher the price, the higher FARER BRBR AnEEES -EX
the fair value. Significant unobservable input is the price of Ta s ASE AE K ARK17,0007T
RMB17,000/sgm to 20,000/sgm, using market direct comparables 220,000/ FAHKFERAEETHLLE AT
and taking into account location and other individual factors such HRAEREAERRYEREEE M
as road frontage and size of property, etc. PSS

qﬂl%ﬁﬁmﬁ%gfﬁéé% 1()()



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016%F 12831 H IEFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

()

The Group’s investment properties situated on the leasehold
land in Mainland China are all leased from 30 to 50 years.

Investment properties leased out under operating leases
The Group leases out investment properties under operating
lease arrangements. All leases run for a period of one to
fifteen years, with an option to renew the leases after the
expiry dates, at which time all terms will be renegotiated.
The Group’s total future minimum lease receivables under
non-cancellable operating leases generated from investment
properties are as follows:

13. B =X (])

(b)

REBNZREYE (MNAPEAUE
FE L) HEAN T HRB0E504 -

RELLHECHENREME
AEBERBLEEERYALREY
X-MEHERAM—Z=+H%E XA
EEN D B R EER 2 B
THEIEE - AEERBETATHUEKL
LHERREMEMESHRARRER
ERABINT

2016 2015

20164 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Within one year —F R 53,668 68,232
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FEZERF (BEEEMTF) 134,296 156,430
After five years HEAE 30,448 46,909
218,412 271,571

At 31 December 2016, certain of the Group’s investment
properties with a carrying amount of RMB2,355,739,000
(2015: RMB3,692,270,000) were pledged to secure interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 27.

The Group entered into certain sale and purchase
agreements to sell certain investment properties with a
carrying amount of RMB237,813,000. The Group had
received deposits of approximately RMB141,300,000 (2015:
Nil). As the transfer of the property title were still under
progress, the amount received was recognised as advances
from customers as at 31 December 2016.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2016 Annual Report

M2016412 8318 1R IE M 27
FERE AESEEREEAARKE
2,355,739,0007T (20154 : AR
3,692,270,0007T) K& TR EWHER
EASEEREEHRTERREME
AR o

AEEFTVETEEHREALERE
B A A R#237,813,000T & T
BEYE - AEECKREESHARE
141,300,0007¢ (20154 : #£) -
HEEERBDNIEEITF  K2016F12
A31A BB SHEERRARFE
ke



14. PROPERTIES UNDER

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

14. AR E

DEVELOPMENT
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET R AREEF T
Carrying amount at 1 January W1 A1HEREE 3,222,200 3,678,455
Additions NE 538,966 964,261
Transfer to investment properties EBEREAME
(note 13) (KH3E13) - (616,419)
Transfer to construction in progress BB ERE TR RE
(note 12) (FFsE12) (1,074,531) -
Transfer to completed properties R EREHED BN E
held for sale (note 20) (K3E20) (363,590) (804,097)
Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31HE®EE 2,323,045 3,222,200
Current assets REEE 990,130 312,676
Non-current assets IERBEE 1,332,915 2,909,524
2,323,045 3,222,200
PREFRTEEEEERAA
—E-REER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F12831H IEFE

14. PROPERTIES UNDER

DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

The Group’s properties under development are located in Mainland
China.

The carrying amounts of the properties under development situated
on the leasehold land in Mainland China are as follows:

14. AP E (18)
AREEFEPYE R B A -

AREBENFEDYE (AT EANEHEE
i) RREEL T :

2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AR¥ETT

Leases of over 50 years TH HA#E 8504F
Leases of between 30 and 50 years THHAZ0F £504F

At 31 December 2016, certain of the Group’s properties under
development with a carrying amount of RMB1,673,772,000 (2015:
RMB1,037,399,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 27.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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234,000 234,000
2,089,045 2,988,200
2,323,045 3,222,200

MR20165F12A31H ANEEE TEREYE
BRI E A AR ®1,673,772,0007T (2015
& AR #1,037,399,0007T) + 0BT 5E27FF
WE BERRTASEMBRITERRE
fib fE XA HE 3R o



15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

16

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o 25 e i

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

165. AT HERE

INVESTMENTS
2016 2015
20164 2015%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Unlisted equity investments, at cost I EMRERRE  RKAE 28,300 3,300

The available-for-sale investments were the unlisted equity
investments with a carrying amount of RMB28,300,000 (2015:
RMB3,300,000) stated at cost less impairment.

The investments were stated at cost because the investments do
not have a quoted market price in an active market. In the opinion
of the directors, the fair value of these investments cannot be
measured reliably and the underlying fair values of investments
were not less than the carrying values of the investments as at 31
December 2016.

LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS

A SR E AREE A AR 28,300,000
7T (20154 : A R #3,300,0007T) K 3F L
RERIRE AR AR E R E R

HARE R GRS I |5 H(E - IR
RAANE -ZEEZREZFRENEEL R
BETEIRTERZERENALER
TORZERER2016F12A31HHNER
@o

16. REATA M &

2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARET T

Prepaid land lease payments TE T F & A
Maintenance fund HEESD
Others Hh

295,744 -
11,921 11,880
3,600 3,480
311,265 15,360

HEFHM T EEERER DA
ZE-XRFER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F12831H IEFE

17. INVESTMENTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 17.¥—M&

BEOFIMKRE

2016 2015
2016%F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBF T
Share of net assets NIHEEFE 759 774
Particulars of the joint venture are as follows: SENAIMFBHOT:
Percentage attributable to the Group
Particulars rEEELEI L
of issued Place of Indirectly held Voting Profit  Principal
Name shares held registration equity interest power sharing  activities
BHEERTRG BEEE
=8 WS 1 it B RA & REE BHAME TEEH
Hangzhou Yinsheng Commercial Registered capital of Zhejiang PRC 36% 40% 40%  Property
Management Co., Ltd." RMB2,000,000 management
MMBRAEEEERRAY i R RN 36% 40% 0% MEEE
AR #2,000,0007T
ul Established on 16 September 2015 M 201569 A 168 A 32

The 40% equity interest in Hangzhou Yinsheng Commercial
Management Co., Ltd. is held through a subsidiary with 90% of

equity interest attributable to the Company.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

17. INVESTMENTS IN A JOINTVENTURE 17. ¥ —H &2 AWK S

(CONTINUED) (#8)
The movements of the investments in a joint venture during the RBEHAR—HEEREIRENEEHH
reporting period are as follows: HIER
2016 2015
2016%F 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
At 1 January M1A1H 774 46,228
Newly required interest in a joint venture ~ R —REA& & QB Z FTNEEEZS - 800
Share of losses DIEEE (15) (2,208)
Disposal of shares of a joint venture HE—BEE RN - (44,046)
At 31 December M12831H 759 774

The following table illustrates the financial information of Hangzhou TEREIMMNRZEEERERAR S
Yinsheng Commercial Management Co., Ltd. adjusted for any ERGHECRNEREL A - WHERI KR

differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying KPREBEBHEROTBER:
amount in the financial statements:

2016 2015
20164 2015%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREF T
Cash and cash equivalents RekBLFEY 697 736
Other current assets HEiREEE 1,200 1,200
Current assets MENEE 1,897 1,936
Net assets BEFE 1,897 1,936

PR ERERAT

Ra
= NEFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F12831H IEFE

17. INVESTMENTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 17. 18 —

HEeEELFIHKRE

(CONTINUED) 5
2016 2015
20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREF T
Net assets, excluding goodwil BEFE(TRERE) 1,897 1,936
Recondiliation to the Group's interest in EAEERE SN RIERFL
the joint venture
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBBEEADL 40% 40%
Group’s share of net assets of REEEEEER Tﬁﬁﬁ’rfﬁ
the joint venture 759 774
Carrying amount of the investments KEREE 759 774
Total expenses > 4B %E (39) (64)
Loss after tax BrFii&EE (39) (64)

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 18. RIEREBTERAR
LIABILITIES
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: BERBEEERBEERBAGEESHOT
Deferred tax assets EEBREBEEE
Losses
available
Unrealised  for offsetting Prepaid

Intragroup  against future corporation

profit or loss taxable profits income tax Total
AR
RER  ARERH AfhE
fEMEE  AENER % st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

At 1 January 2015 201561 A1H 3,972 45,141 469 49,582
Deferred tax charged to the FRRERERNBRNIEERIE
statement of profit or loss

during the year (281) (83,580) 3,568 (80,293)
At 31 December 2015 and 2015124310 &

1 January 2016 20161 A1H 3,691 11,561 4,037 19,289
Pre-paid income tax FERFTEH - - (4,037) (4,037)

Deferred tax charged to the FARBRERMBRAIEETRIE
statement of profit or loss

during the year - (4,163) - (4,163)
At 31 December 2016 7M2016%F12H31H 3,691 7,398 - 11,089
In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could IR BE R ROEH - IS BB Al A5 8555
be carried forward for five years to offset against its future taxable LA SHE B8 RO FER TS - BRAM AREN A
profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses are MBEENELEREEE RSESERH
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable JERBMAMEAFZESELEHIBEEEIFY
profit will be available to allow these deferred tax assets to be AR 2R
utilised.

qﬂl%ﬁﬁmﬁ%gfﬁéég 20’7



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z=2016F12A31 B ILFE

18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND

18. BENERER & #

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) (#8)
Deferred tax assets (continued) EEBBEEE (&)
The Group has no accumulated tax losses arising in Hong AEBWEREBEERFHIEEE
Kong that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future AANKESEREENATBEN
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The FERBMME - AEERFBEAMEE
Group has accumulated tax losses arising in Mainland China of AR 246,749,0007T (20154 : A R ¥
RMB246,749,000 (2015: RMB226,859,000) that will expire in one 226,859,0007T ) B 25 HIBEE - R —2
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax FEREHE - IR BEMERTAE - A
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they RZEMB AR EEEEIE—BRER BR
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some AU 48 0] 575 ] FB 1EF0 R B A s 18 A FE AR
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be BADE - SO et ez B R RIE T IEE
available against which the tax losses can be utilised. B
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEBEARE
Fair value
adjustment of
investment Withholding
properties tax Others* Total
AREERE BB Hit* @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR  AR®TR  AR®TR  AR%Tx
At 1 January 2015 m201561A18 634,804 7,379 73,879 716,062
Realised during the year RERZE (309) - - (309)
Deferred tax credited to the statement of ~ FRMMER K IRHIELEFB
profit or loss during the year 206,499 3,669 23,491 233,659
At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016 72015412318 &2016F1 A1H 840,994 11,048 97,370 949,412
Deferred tax credited to the statement of ~ FRMER K IRAIELEF B
profit or loss during the year 61,085 1,025 (26,928) 35,182
At 31 December 2016 72016512A31H 902,079 12,073 70,442 984,594
* Others mainly include temporary differences regarding capitalised finance * H i B0 S AL FE AR AN A R B B
costs. zZamo

2 O 8 China New City Commercial Development Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 18.EERRAER AR

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 1=
Deferred tax liabilities (continued) ExEREEE (FE)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT
Law”), a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

Other than the deferred tax liability in relation to the PRC
withholding income tax provided above, no deferred taxation has
been provided for the distributable retained profits of approximately
RMB64,068,000 (2015: Nil), which were derived from the PRC
subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

BIBERBECEMREEE([MEEMER
ED HANMNECEREESTIRRERF
BIRK L B SNE (B 3 2 AR B U1 0% T 07
A RR T B2008F1 B1H AW W iE A
72007F12 431 B & FTE £ 2 & F| - fn
Bl A EAINE IR E EFTE R AR 2 BT
B BERRIIREETENH R - A%
B2 EALRA10% - Bt AREBBERZ
SR B AL 2 T B A R Bi20084F1 B 1R
REEZAFMD K2 REBRZFBIR

W B _E 51 B9 B IR H P 1S A 4 BE A0
ERIBBAEIN MERREPEMME QR
B AT 25 R AR B2 O M 49 A R #64,068,0007T
(20165 « ) fEHHIRIE IR - AAAE
B RE 12 ] B B I Z R M ey RS R B B RS 1
EFRABEN A AR g RE -

FEFM MR ERGR A F]

R
ZE-AREER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F 128310 IEFE

19. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:

19.

R
A% #E = A9 PR

@E

Ly

B XIERE
=

BAEBRIFERERNAEENE QB

BEINAT

FEREEFERERD

2016 2015
2016F 2015%F
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long IR LRERERR A
Commercial Co., Ltd. ([REEE])
(“Zhong An Sheng Long”) 10% 10%
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real Estate MM I EERZE AR QA
Development Co., Ltd. ([HMET])
(“Hangzhou Zheng Jiang”) 7.5% 7.5%
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests at the reporting RiE B AIgEE R REt iR
dates:
2016 2015
201645 2015%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Zhong An Sheng Long REEE 155,947 161,853
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang N IET 17,060 17,520
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to non-controlling interests: FRDIRTIEEBRESREF (E18)
2016 2015
2016 2015%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREF T
Zhong An Sheng Long REERE (5,906) 15,787
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang N IEST (461) (3,268)

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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19. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 19.
WITH MATERIAL NON-

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(CONTINUED)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information
of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any

inter-company eliminations:

B

B
0
St

TREIIA LB A
FRENSRANMERNAREHEEN 22

=
LS
=

281

BRI E

BRIz

)

s

Zhong An Hangzhou
Sheng Long Zheng Jiang
RREE MM EST
2016 RMB’000 RMB’000
20164 AR¥F T AR®F T
Revenue WA 32,535 10,925
Changes in fair value of HEMERABEES
investment properties (5,650) (16,900)
Total expenses > 458 (85,944) (165)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive FR(EBR) JEFEREE
income for the year W Es (59,059) (6,140)
Current assets MEEE 2,569,423 719,015
Non-current assets FEMBEE 2,621,050 379,274
Current liabilities RBEE (2,317,697) (809,377)
Non-current liabilities EmBalE (1,313,301) (61,449)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from 2858 (FR) ELXB SR F4E
operating activities (586,862) 621,959
Net cash flows generated from REEHEERSMNEFE
investing activities 705,601 -
Net cash flows used in financing activities B & EEFEAIR LR E F58 (101,000) (601,000)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents R4 &8 & S5 B YIE 1% 8 17,739 20,959
FEMBmAXEERGRAE
TE-REFR



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F12831H IEFE

19. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 19.
WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information
of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any
inter-company eliminations: (continued)

]
;o]

K
7 (#)

0
¥
3

o
#

m
>t
i
2

TREINA LM BARMMBERBE -
FEENSRANMERNARESEEN 22
w: (8

Zhong An Hangzhou
Sheng Long Zheng Jiang
R E MUNIET
2015 RMB’000 RMB’000
2015%F AREBFT ARBFT
Revenue WA 41,337 86,383
Other income E e 239,379 -
Changes in fair value of WEMEAARBEZY
investment properties 48,500 4,643
Total expenses F 485 (171,341) (134,601)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FRHEA, (B8 RER
income for the year Wk 4a%E 157,875 (43,575)
Current assets mENEE 1,713,610 775,687
Non-current assets FEMBEE 2,607,547 396,664
Current liabilities mENAE (1,272,232) (873,074)
Non-current liabilities EmEatE (1,430,392 (65,674)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from  2:8E8) () ELB ST FE
operating activities (586,862) 621,959
Net cash flows generated from REEZHEER S REFRE
investing activities 705,601 -
Net cash flows used in financing activites BlE EZEBFEARESTE/F58 (101,000) (601,000)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents R4 & IR & S (& W18 h1E 58 17,739 20,959
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

20. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD 20. 5 FHECKBTYE
FOR SALE

2016 2015

20164 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARBTT

Carrying amount at 1 January M1A1BE ZEREE 1,361,490 846,936
Transfer from properties under HEGHREPYE ([HE14)

development (note 14) 363,590 804,097

Transfer to cost of properties sold (note 6) E&EZEE HE MK A (FizE6) (492,880) (289,543)

Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31H ZBREE 1,232,200 1,361,490

21

As at 31 December 2016, certain of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale of RMB893,109,000 (2015:
RMB421,466,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 27.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly lease
receivables on credit. The credit period is generally one month,
extending up to three months for major customers. All balances of
the trade receivables as at the end of the year were neither past
due nor impaired and aged within one to three months.

Trade receivables are non-interesting-bearing and unsecured.

21.

20165124310  AEEE THEHE
B AR Y A AR %893,109,0007T (2015
F: NR#421,466,0007T)  AKI 27 FF I
% EBIEABRTAKEERITERREAM
R ok

PR U 52 5% B =

AEBEREFIVNEZGRREERE
EHERKFE-EEH-—RAE—EA 3
FTEEPMERZERE=EA -EKES
ERARZBENRFENAAHIRG KRB
BE BRREA—E=(EA-

FEME 5 IR AR B S E AR

HEFHM T EEERER AR
ZE-AFER



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F 128310 IEFE

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND

OTHER RECEIVABLES

22. M RIR R & B H i fE
e IR

=

None of the above is either past due or impaired. The financial
assets included in the above balances related to receivables for
which there was no recent history of default.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AND RESTRICTED CASH

23

2016 2015

20164 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREF T

Advances to suppliers TR B 4s e 8,634 2,873
Deposits e 2,223 4,630
Prepaid other tax TEfT E iR IE 16,764 23,211
Other receivables H b fE N FE 74,733 59,629
102,354 90,343

Ht IR EE A SRIE - st A LSRR Z
& BhE A BT I A R B S RL 8 2 B IR

RIRER-

2.5aREaFRMEZR

wl 5 &

2016 2015

20164 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARBETF T

Cash and bank balances BE RIRTTHES 344,566 997,492
Time deposits EHF 118,231 91,040
462,797 1,088,532

Less: Restricted cash B ZREIR S (164,489) (140,894)
Cash and cash equivalents RehReEEY 298,308 947,638
Current assets MEEE 46,258 50,794
Non-current assets EMBEE 118,231 90,100
Restricted cash ZRRHIRE 164,489 140,894
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23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AND RESTRICTED CASH
(CONTINUED)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
and restricted cash are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place in
designated bank accounts certain amounts of pre-sale proceeds of
properties as guarantee deposits for the construction of the related
properties. The deposits can be used for purchases of construction
materials and payments of the construction fees of the relevant
property projects when approval from relevant local government
authorities is obtained. As at 31 December 2016, these guarantee
deposits amounted to approximately RMB45,115,000 (2015:
RMB16,763,000).

Besides, certain of the Group’s bank accounts of approximately
RMB1,143,000 (2015: RMB33,091,000) were guaranteed to bank
for the timely repayment of the loans.

As at 31 December 2016, certain of the Group’s non-current time
deposits of RMB1,000,000 (2015: RMB1,000,000) were pledged to
banks as guarantees to mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of
the Group’s properties.

As at 31 December 2016, no Group’s current time deposits (2015:
RMB940,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 27.

As at 31 December 2016, certain of the Group’s non-current
time deposits of RMB117,231,000 (2015: RMB89,100,000)
were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 27.

23. 5 &

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

EBeERMEZR
BE® (&)

TERERBITAERER LB X
ﬁ%°&%m%ﬁﬂ%*%§EﬁHK%W
iR (RASEMEIRRSERmE) &
B RRRE B BT SR R B  RITHE
Ko S IR 3R & 39 17 U 4T BT #5810 /R 52
MIEBRIFZIRTT

RIEH BABRE AR - AR S T YT
AR ITRENR & T I8 E AT{3 ZUETF B
RIETEIRITERP  fE R EERMER
e o B S E M E AT S0P At 1%
ZenARBERBEMERBNREMR
RS HREB A - 72016128318 » %1k
RIZS A ARMA45,115,0007T (20154F :
AR #16,763,0007T) °

Woh REBZETFRITHREBEHOARE
1,143,0007C (20154 : A R #33,091,000
T0) BRERITIREER  URBEEER -

2016128310 REE 2% FIEENH
TE #1757 F A KR #1,000,0007T (20154 = A
E#1,000,0007T) EE#W T RIT {ERMA
EEVMEERBERRBEEZER.

SAAMEE27FT IR ER - R20165612A31H - K
EEBERVEE BT RE FIAER  fEAR
EEERG BRTERREMERZER
(20154 : A R#940,0007T ) °

BN BN FE27 BT i B - 20164 12 A 31
B A"&EBE2ETHFEMBEHFERA
R #117,231,0007C (20156 : AR ¥
89,100, ooo%)a%u%%ﬁﬂvf’ﬁz%$%%
BETBRITERRAEMER 2 ER

PR A EEREMR AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F12831H IEFE

24. TRADE PAYABLES 24. BT BER

AEEENE S REAN S REHRIZNR
A BT ENRE ST

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the payment due dates, is as follows:

2016 2015

201645 2015%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETr ARBFIT

Within six months 61E A A 527,518 734,814
Over six months but within one year Bimel AE1ER 188,219 60,137
Over one year BiE1E 11,942 28,241
727,679 823,192

The trade payables are unsecured and interest-free and are

normally settled based on the progress of construction.

ENESERTEER LR E B —RivE

EEE T

25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25 . HthEFRIERENER
2016 2015

20164 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBET T

Deposits related to construction BREENIES 42,352 43,288
Payables for acquisition of subsidiaries U BB B A B FE M R FIAR 15,060 15,060

Tax surcharges SR 8,491 28,950

Other payables H b e 5RIE 49,913 71,540
115,816 158,838

26.

Other payables are unsecured and interest-free.

ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS

H i e R R B B TR

26. ER R

EPIEMNFIERAEEEH Z£2016%F Kk2015
FI2ABILFEREEMEMBEER
B S & FT1S 3R IE -

Advances from customers represent sales proceeds received from
buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties during
the year end 31 December 2016 and 2015.
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND
OTHER BORROWINGS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

27. 5t R RITEF R AMER
2016 2015

20164 20154

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TF T AREBTT

Current: BNAR
Bank loans - secured RITER—FBHER
Bank loans — unsecured RITE R — R
Other loans — secured H ‘rﬁlg R—BHEH
Non-current: FERNER -
Bank loans — secured RITER—HIER
Other loans — secured HihEHR—HBHEAR
Repayable: AR T3 EEEE
Within one year or on demand —FRNBEKE
Over one year but within two years ZR—FELAMF
Over two years but within five years ZRMEFEELRAF
Over five years AFEUE

Except for certain short term bank and other borrowings amounting
to RMB770,000,000(2015:RMB1,664,000,000) that bear interest at
fixed rates, all bank loans bear interest at floating rates.

754,000 363,472
50,000 50,000
300,000 294,000
1,104,000 707,472
2,196,609 2,051,662
- 1,000,000
2,196,609 3,051,662
3,300,609 3,759,134
1,104,000 707,472
989,609 1,438,245
757,000 1,133,417
450,000 480,000
3,300,609 3,759,134

BhETRETEFETBZEBRITERK
H fth f& 5k A R #770,000,0007T (20154 :
AR#1,664,000,0007T) © BT A RITERIL
SFENFEET B -

PR A EEREMR AR
—E-XEER
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Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F 128310 IEFE

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(CONTINUED)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings bear effective interest rates

ranging as follows:

27.

|l

-~ul

)

TRRITERE H M ER

AEEWRITERREMERLZATER

FREHE
2016
20165
RMB’000
AR®T T

2015
2015%F
RMB’000
ARETF T

Effective interest rates

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s

borrowings during the

year were denominated in RMB and United States dollars. The

2.11%-12.00%

2.02%-12.00%

AEERFAMBERNEAEIRAAR
BEETHE RIS ARG ES RN

denominated amounts at the end of reporting period are as follows: N
2016 2015
20165 2015%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T AREBTFT
RMB loans and borrowings ARBERRER 2,998,000 3,475,717
US$ loans and borrowings ETLERRER 302,609 283,417
3,300,609 3,759,134
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S 285 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F 128310 IEFE

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings were secured by the

27. ?‘I‘.E)ﬂﬁﬁ%&iﬁﬂfﬁ%

il

REPR AEBERTERLEM B RS

pledges of the following assets at the end of reporting period as T EEEBIEHEM:
follows:
2016 2015
20164 20154
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
et AR¥F T ARET T
Carrying value of the Group’s assets: AEBEENREE:
Investment properties A 13 2,355,739 3,692,270
Properties under development Y 14 1,673,772 1,037,399
Completed properties held for sale FEHE D BN E 20 893,109 421,466
Restricted cash ZREIR S 23 117,231 90,040
Property and equipment I EYN &L 12 128,816 139,339
100% equity interest in a subsidiary AEBEZT—HFRAIZ
of the Group 100%[% # - 6,000
5,168,667 5,386,514

At 31 December 2016, no Group’s borrowings (2015:
RMB300,000,000) were guaranteed by Mr. Shi Kancheng (note
31(3)(v).

R2016F12A31H  AE BB EE X
ek St AR (2016 AR
300,000,0007t) (HIFE31(3)V)) °

REME T AXEEGD

R
ZE-REER
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A 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 # £2016F12831H IEFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. R &
Shares iz 5
2016 2015
20165 20155
Authorised: EIE
5,000,000,000 (2015: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,0000% & i E &
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 0108 TR E @R
(20154 : 5,000,000,000% )
HK$500,000,0005& T  HK$500,000,0007% 7T
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE:
1,736,120,000 (2015: 1,738,000,000) 1,736,120,000/% & E &
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 0108 TR & i RMBA K # RMBA R
(20154 : 1,738,000,0004% ) 136,692,000 7T 138,183,0007C
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 25 A B

Year ended 31 December 2016 & Z2016F12831H IEFE

28. Bz & (#8)

A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital is

as follows:

RRABEETRAESHHAINT -

Number of Share
shares Share premium
in issue capital account Total
28T
iy BA  RGEER @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARET R ARBT R
At 1 January 2013 720131 A1H - - - -
Issue of shares (Note (a)) BT (MI5E() 1,000,000 79 - 79
Issue of shares (Note (b)) TR (MEED) 1,000,000 80 - 80
Issue of shares (Note (c)) B1TRR M (BI3E()) 1,000,000 80 - 80
Shares capitalised standing RERREEERZ
to the credit of capital reserve BN, (MTFEQ)
(Note (d)) 1,267,000,000 100,825 - 100,825
Issue of shares (Note (g)) TR (MizE(e) 468,000,000 37,119 445,433 482,552
1,738,000,000 138,183 445,433 583,616
Share issue expenses R BEITH L - - (12,900) (12,900)
At 31 December 2014 and 31 A2014512A318
December 2015 2015F12A31H 1,738,000,000 138,183 432,533 570,716
Repurchase of shares (Note (f) Bt (HEED) (1,880,000) (149) (6,514) (6,663)
At 31 December 2016 #2016F 124311 1,736,120,000 138,034 426,019 564,053
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

@)

The Company was incorporated on 2 July 2013 and a total of 1,000,000
shares were allotted and issued by the Company to Zhong An. On 24
February 2014, Zhong An transferred the 1,000,000 shares, amounting to
RMB79,000, then held by Zhong An to Ideal World Investments Limited
(“Ideal World”). As a result, the entire issued share capital of the Company

was wholly owned by Ideal World.

On March 2014, the Company acquired a 100% equity interest in Huijun
(International) Holdings Limited (“Huijun International”), a 75% equity
interest in Henlly Enterprise Management (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Henlly
Enterprise”) and a 100% equity interest in Qirui Commercial (Hangzhou)
Management Co., Ltd. (“Qirui Commercial”) from Ideal World, which
was settled by the Company allotting and issuing, credited as fully paid,
1,000,000 shares, amounting to RMB80,000 to Ideal World.

On 30 May 2014, the Company and its related parties signed the deed
of novation, assignment and set-off (the “Deed”). The Deed settled and
set-off the outstanding balances of the Company with related parties.
The net debts due to and owed by the Company to Ideal World after set-
off, amounting to approximately RMB963,639,000, were settled by the
Company by allotting and issuing 1,000,000 new shares amounting to
RMB80,000 credited as fully paid to Ideal World.

On 31 May 2014, the directors were authorised to capitalise
HK$126,700,000, equivalent to RMB100,825,000, by using the exchange
rate of that day, standing to the capital reserve account of the Company,
so that 1,267,000,000 shares were allotted and issued, pursuant to this

resolution.

On 10 July 2014, the Company completed the listing on the Stock
Exchange by issuing a total of 468,000,000 new shares of HK$0.10 each
at an issue price of HK$1.30 per share. The total cash proceeds were,
before expense, HK$608,400,000 equivalent to RMB482,552,000 by

using the exchange rate of that day.

In May 2016, the Company repurchased and cancelled its own shares
amounting to RMB1.88 miillion at market value, HK$4.22 per share. The
share capital was written down by RMB1.49 million at a historical convert
proportion, and the share premium was written down by the remaining

amount.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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28. Bz & (48)
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ANABR2013F7 A28 sE A - WA R L
B2 & & 3 17 & 1,000,000/ & 3 © 72014
F2H24H - R L& Mlldeal World Investments
L